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6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89118 
Telephone: 702.893.3383 
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Attorneys for Defendant Valley Health System, 
LLC dba Centennial Hills Hospital Medical 
Center  

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL, through 
BRIAN POWELL, as Special Administrator; 
DARCI CREECY, individually and as Heir; 
TARYN CREECY, individually and as an 
Heir; ISAIAH KHOSROF, individually and as 
an Heir; LLOYD CREECY, individually;, 

Plaintiffs, 

vs. 

VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC (doing 
business as “Centennial Hills Hospital Medical 
Center”), a foreign limited liability company; 
UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC., a 
foreign corporation; DR. DIONICE S. 
JULIANO, M.D., an individual; DR. 
CONRADO C.D. CONCIO, M.D., an 
individual; DR. VISHAL S. SHAH, M.D., an 
individual; DOES 1-10; and ROES A-Z;, 

Defendants. 

 Case No. A-19-788787-C 

Dept. No.: 30 

VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC AND 
UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, 
INC.’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY 
JUDGMENT BASED UPON THE 
EXPIRATION OF THE STATUTE OF 
LIMITATIONS 

HEARING REQUESTED 

COMES NOW, Defendants VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC (doing business as 

“Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center”), a foreign limited liability company; UNIVERSAL 

HEALTH SERVICES, INC., a foreign corporation (collectively “CHH”) by and through their 

Case Number: A-19-788787-C

Electronically Filed
9/2/2020 10:04 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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counsel of record S. Brent Vogel, Esq., and Adam Garth, Esq., of the Law Firm LEWIS 

BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH, LLP, and hereby move the court for an order granting  

summary judgment due to the expiration of the statute of limitations as contained in NRS 

41A.097, necessitating dismissal of the instant case. 

CHH makes and bases this motion upon the papers and pleadings on file in this case, the 

Memorandum of Points and Authorities submitted herewith, and any arguments adducted at the 

hearing of this Motion. 

DATED this 2nd day of September, 2020

LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP

By /s/ Adam Garth
S. BRENT VOGEL 
Nevada Bar No. 6858
ADAM GARTH 
Nevada Bar No. 15045
6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89118 
Tel. 702.893.3383 
Attorneys for Attorneys for Defendant Valley 
Health System, LLC dba Centennial Hills Hospital 
Medical Center
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. INTRODUCTION 

On February 4, 2019, the Estate of Rebecca Powell and individual heirs (collectively 

“Plaintiffs”) filed an untimely Complaint against CHH as well as other co-defendants (collectively 

“Defendants”), for alleged professional negligence/wrongful death arising out of the care and 

treatment Ms. Powell received at CHH.1 Plaintiffs contend that Defendants breached standard of 

care by purportedly failing to recognize and consider drug-induced respiratory distress, allowing the 

administration of Ativan, and failing to otherwise treat or monitor Ms. Powell.2 Plaintiffs allege that 

these deviations caused her death on May 11, 2017 and that they personally observed the alleged 

negligence.3 Plaintiffs do not allege any negligent care, treatment, actions or inactions by 

Defendants after Ms. Powell’s death on May 11, 2017. Consequently, under the facts pled, the 

statute of limitations began to run on May 11, 2017. Although the statute of limitations began to run 

on May 11, 2017 and expired on May 11, 2018, Plaintiffs failed to file their Complaint until February 

4, 2019, more than one year and eight months after the statute of limitations expired.  Since Plaintiffs 

failed to file their Complaint within NRS 41A.097(2)’s one-year statute of limitations, CHH’s 

motion for summary judgment should be granted in its entirety and the Complaint dismissed.  

II. STATEMENT OF UNDISPUTED FACTS 

A. Procedural History

1. Plaintiffs commenced this action on February 4, 2019 by the filing of the Complaint.4

2. Co-defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint on June 12, 2019, 

seeking dismissal on multiple grounds including the untimely filing of the Complaint and expiration 

1 See Complaint annexed hereto as Exhibit “A” 

2 Exhibit “A”, ¶ 28 

3 Exhibit “A” ¶ 29;  Exhibit “A”, ¶¶ 41-56 (asserting shock as a result of the observance or 
contemporaneous witnessing of the alleged negligence) 

4 Exhibit “A” 

(footnote continued) 
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of the statute of limitations.5

3. Defendant Shah, MD joined Defendants’ Concio’s and Juliano MDs’ Motion to 

Dismiss on June 13, 2019.6

4. In lieu of an answer, CHH filed a motion to dismiss the Complaint on June 19, 2019, 

alleging that the statute of limitations elapsed long before Plaintiffs’ Complaint was filed.7

5. CHH joined Defendants Concio and Juliano’s Motion to Dismiss on June 26, 2019.8

6. Plaintiffs’ opposed Concio and Juliano’s Motion to Dismiss on August 13, 2019. 9

7. Defendants filed their respective replies to Plaintiffs’ opposition to the motion to 

dismiss.10

8. Defendant Universal Health Services Inc. filed its own motion to dismiss on 

September 23, 2019.11

9. On September 25, 2019, this Court denied Defendants’ respective motions to 

dismiss,12 but Universal Health Systems, Inc.’s motion was rendered moot by stipulation of the 

parties to dismiss the action as against that defendant only without prejudice.13

5 See Defendants Concio’s and Juliano, MD’s Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint annexed 
hereto as Exhibit “B” 

6 See, Defendant Shah MD’s Joinder annexed hereto as Exhibit “C” 

7 See Defendant Centennial Hills Hospital’s Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint annexed 
hereto as Exhibit “D” 

8 See CHH’s Joinder to Concio’s and Juliano’s Motion to Dismiss annexed hereto as Exhibit “E” 

9 See Plaintiffs’ Opposition to Concio and Juliano’s Motion to Dismiss annexed hereto as Exhibit 
“F” 

10 See Concio and Juliano’s Reply annexed hereto as Exhibit “G” and CHH’s Reply annexed 
hereto as Exhibit “H” 

11 See Universal Health Services, Inc.’s Motion to Dismiss annexed hereto as Exhibit “I” 

12 See Minute Order dated September 25, 2019 annexed hereto as Exhibit “J” 

13 See Stipulation of Dismissal Without Prejudice annexed hereto as Exhibit “K” 

(footnote continued) 
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4818-7403-4121.1 5 

10. On April 15, 2020, CHH filed its Answer to Plaintiffs’ Complaint.14

B. Undisputed Facts Demonstrating Untimely Filing

11. Based upon the Complaint and the accompanying affidavit, Rebecca Powell 

overdosed on Benadryl, Cymbalta, and Ambien on May 3, 2017.15

12. Plaintiffs’ further allege that EMS was called and came to Ms. Powell’s aid, 

discovering her with labored breathing and vomit on her face.16  Plaintiffs further allege that Ms. 

Powell was transported to CHH where she was admitted.17

13.  Plaintiffs claim that one week into her admission, on May 10, 2017, Ms. Powell 

complained of shortness of breath, weakness, and a drowning feeling, and Defendant Vishal Shah, 

MD, ordered Ativan to be administered via IV push.18

14. Plaintiffs assert that on May 11, 2017, Defendant Conrado Concio, MD, ordered two 

doses of Ativan via IV push.19

15. To assess her complaints, Plaintiffs alleged that a chest CT was ordered, but the 

providers were unable to obtain the chest CT due to Ms. Powell’s anxiety, and she was returned to 

her room.20

16. Plaintiffs further alleged that Ms. Powell was placed in a room with a camera 

monitor.21

14 See CHH’s Answer annexed hereto as Exhibit “L” 

15 Exhibit “A”, ¶ 18 

16 Exhibit “A”, ¶ 18 

17 Exhibit “A”, ¶ 18 

18 Exhibit “A”, ¶ 21 

19 Exhibit “A”, ¶ 22 

20 Exhibit “A”, ¶ 22;  see also Exhibit A (Affidavit of Dr. Sami Hashim, M.D.) to the Complaint 
(Exhibit “A” hereto) at p. 3 

21 Exhibit “A”, ¶ 22 

(footnote continued) 
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17. Plaintiffs’ expert stated in his affidavit used to support the Complaint that pursuant 

to the doctor’s orders, a dose of Ativan was administered at 03:27.22

18. Thereafter, Ms. Powell allegedly suffered acute respiratory failure, which resulted in 

her death on May 11, 2017, according to Plaintiffs.23

19. Plaintiffs alleged that they personally observed the alleged negligence, Ms. Powell’s 

rapid deterioration, and the results of the alleged negligence.24

20. On May 25, 2017, MRO, a medical records retrieval service responsible for 

supplying medical records to those requesting same on behalf of CHH, received a request for 

medical records from Taryn Creecy, one of the plaintiffs in this matter, along with a copy of a court 

order requiring that Centennial Hills Hospital provide a complete copy of Rebecca Powell’s medical 

chart.25 Exhibit “A” to Ms. Arroyo’s declaration shows this request and court order. 

21. On June 2, 2017, the request for the medical records for Mrs. Powell was processed 

by MRO personnel.26

22. On June 5, 2017, MRO determined that the records for Mrs. Powell were requested 

by Taryn Creecy, her daughter, that the records were requested to be sent to a post office box, and 

verified the court order for same.27

23. On June 7, 2017, MRO invoiced Ms. Creecy which included all fees associated with 

the provision of 1165 pages of Mrs. Powell’s medical records from CHH.  The 1165 pages invoiced 

22 Exhibit A (Affidavit of Dr. Sami Hashim, M.D.) to the Complaint (Exhibit “A” hereto) at p. 3 

23 Exhibit “A”, ¶ 22 

24 Exhibit “A”, ¶¶ 44-45, 52-53 

25 See Declaration of Gina Arroyo and associated exhibits annexed thereto which are collectively 
annexed hereto as Exhibit “M”, specifically ¶ 6 

26 Exhibit “M”, ¶ 7 

27 Exhibit “M”, ¶ 8 as well as Exhibit “A” thereto  

(footnote continued) 
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4818-7403-4121.1 7 

represented the entirety of medical records for Mrs. Powell with no exclusions.28 29

24. On June 12, 2017, MRO received payment for the 1165 pages of records and the next 

day, June 13, 2017, MRO sent out the complete 1165 pages to Ms. Creecy to the address provided 

on the request.30

25. MRO received the package back from the United States Postal Service due to 

undeliverability to the addressee on June 23, 2017.31

26. MRO contacted Ms. Creecy on June 28, 2017 regarding the returned records, and 

she advised MRO that the post office box to which she requested the records be sent was in the 

name of her father, Brian Powell, and that the Post Office likely returned them since she was an 

unknown recipient at the post office box.   She thereafter requested that MRO resend the records to 

him at that post office box address.32

27. On June 29, 2017, MRO re-sent the records addressed to Mr. Powell at the post office 

box previously provided, and MRO never received the records back thereafter.33

28. MRO provided copies of all medical records for Mrs. Powell as part of this medical 

records request, and no records for this patient were excluded from that packet.34 35

29. CHH’s custodian of records stated that she compared the 1165 pages of records 

suppled in June, 2017 to Ms. Creecy to CHH’s electronic medical records system and she verified 

28 Exhibit “M”, ¶ 9 as well as Exhibit “B” thereto 

29 Declaration of Melanie Thompson, CHH’s custodian of records, annexed hereto as Exhibit “N”, 
¶ 4 

30 Exhibit “M”, ¶ 10 as well as Exhibit “C” thereto 

31 Exhibit “M”, ¶ 11 as well as Exhibit “D” thereto 

32 Exhibit “M”, ¶ 12 

33 Exhibit “M”, ¶ 13 

34 Exhibit “M”, ¶ 14 

35 Declaration of Melanie Thompson, CHH’s custodian of records, annexed hereto as Exhibit “N”, 
¶ 4 

(footnote continued) 
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that the totality of the medical records for Ms. Powell was provided to Ms. Creecy without excluding 

any records.36

30. On February 4, 2019, which was one year, eight months, and twenty-four days after 

Ms. Powell’s death, Plaintiffs filed the subject Complaint seeking relief under the following causes 

of action: 1) negligence/medical malpractice; 2) wrongful death pursuant to NRS 41.085; 3) 

negligent infliction of emotional distress on behalf of Darci, Taryn, and Isaiah; and 4) negligent 

infliction of emotional distress on behalf of Lloyd Creecy.37 Plaintiffs included the Affidavit of Sami 

Hashim, MD, which sets forth alleged breaches of the standard of care.38

31. NRS 41A.097 (2)(a) and (c) requires that an action based upon professional 

negligence of a provider of health be commenced the earlier of one year from discovery of the 

alleged negligence, but no more than three years after alleged negligence. 

32. An action which is dismissed and not refiled within the time required by NRS 

41A.097 (2)(a) and (c) is time barred as a matter of law. 

33. Plaintiffs’ claims sound in professional negligence, which subjects the claims to NRS 

41A.097(2)’s one-year statute of limitations requirement.  

34. Since Plaintiffs failed to file their Complaint within one-year after they discovered 

or through the use of reasonable diligence should have discovered the injury, Plaintiffs failed to 

timely file their Complaint, which necessitated the instant motion. See NRS 41A.097(2). 

35. Moreover, Plaintiffs neither pled nor provided any explanation, valid or otherwise, 

to justify the late filing of their Complaint. 

III. LEGAL ARGUMENT 

A. Summary Judgment Standard 

Summary judgment is appropriate “if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, 

36 Declaration of Melanie Thompson, CHH’s custodian of records, annexed hereto as Exhibit “N”, 
¶ 4 

37 Exhibit “A” 

38 Exhibit A to the Complaint (Exhibit “A” hereto) 
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 other similarly trained and experienced providers, in rendering services to the patient, the 

se, and a licensed hospital. See NRS 41A.017. Consequently, if a plaintiff’s claim arises out of 

dinarily used under similar circumstances by similarly trained and experienced providers of 

1972)); see also Brown v. Mt. Grant Gen. Hosp., No. 3:12-CV-00461-LRH, 2013 WL 4523488, 

 S. Ct. 2634, 201 L. Ed. 2d 1037 (2018); see generally Egan v. Chambers, 299 P.3d 364, 366 

d to look to the gravamen of each claim rather than its form to determine whether the claim 

gligence.”) (quoting Estate of French, 333 S.W.3d at 557 (citing Black’s Law Dictionary 770 

“Therefore, we must look to the gravamen or ‘substantial point or essence’ of each claim rather 

ital, its nurses, and the physicians Plaintiffs allege were the ostensible agents of CHH, CHH 

hat employs any such person and its employees.”  (Emphasis supplied).   CHH, as a licensed 

alls within the protections of NRS Chapter 41A, with the one year discovery rule applicable thereto. 

ould look to the gravamen of the claim to determine the character of the action, not the form of 

he pleadings. See Szymborski v. Spring Mountain Treatment Ctr., 403 P.3d 1280, 1285 (Nev. 2017) 

han its form to see whether each individual claim is for medical malpractice or ordinary 

9th ed. 2009))); see also Lewis v. Renown, 432 P.3d 201 (Nev. 2018) (recognizing that the Court 

unded in professional negligence); Andrew v. Coster, 408 P.3d 559 (Nev. 2017), cert. denied, 

2 (Nev.2013) (citing State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Wharton, 88 Nev. 183, 495 P.2d 359, 361 

t *8 (D. Nev. Aug. 26, 2013). 

ovider of health care, in rendering services, to use the reasonable care, skill or knowledge 

alth care.” NRS 41A.015.  A “provider of health care” includes, in pertinent part, a physician, a 

he alleged failure of a physician, nurse, and/or hospital to use reasonable care, skill, or knowledge, 

aintiff’s claim sounds in professional negligence. 

reatment indicate that a claim is for medical malpractice.” Szymborski., 403 P.3d at 1284 (citing 

pa v. Brunswick Gen. Hosp., 132 A.D.2d 601, 517 N.Y.S.2d 762, 763 (1987) (“When the duty 

ing to the plaintiff by the defendant arises from the physician-patient relationship or is 
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In Szymborski we considered th
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e distinction between claims for 

.097(2).  
ofessional negligence and is time barred pursuant to NRS 
enown because his claim for abuse and neglect sounds in 

y in the administration of medical treatment or judgment. Thus, 
er a monitoring order necessarily involve a claim for a breach of 

llegations that Renown failed to check on Sheila while she was 
nvolving medical judgment, diagnosis, or treatment.” Id. Lewis’  

dministration of substandard care;  both claims amount to a claim 
tient presents  a claim distinct from a healthcare provider’s 

rguments that a healthcare provider’s failure to provide care to a 
onitoring order in place. We are not convinced by Lewis’  

ailing to monitor her. Put differently, Renown breached its duty to 
nd neglect is that Renown failed to adequately care for Sheila by 

gligence].” Id. at 1284. The gravamen of Lewis’ claim for abuse 
agnosis, or treatment indicate that a claim is for [professional 

althcare provider’s negligent performance of nonmedical services, 
ice or warning. Id. at 1283-1284. In contrast to allegations of a 

axi of a disturbed patient to his estranged father’s house, without 
althcare provider in the context of the discharge and delivery by 

as follows: 

ravamen of Plaintiff’s claim was professional negligence, the Court affirmed the District Court’s 

ailure to properly check or monitor a patient or otherwise provide adequate care sounded in 

nvolved alleged failures to check on the patient while under monitoring).  For example, in Lewis v. 

alpractice.”)); see also Lewis v. Renown Reg'l Med. Ctr., 432 P.3d 201 (Nev. 2018) (holding that 

.W.3d 546, 555 (Tenn. 2011) (“If the alleged breach of duty of care set forth in the complaint is one 

bstantially related to medical treatment, the breach thereof gives rise to an action sounding in 

edical malpractice as opposed to simple negligence.”); Estate of French v. Stratford House, 333 

hat was based upon medical art or science, training, or expertise, then it is a claim for medical 

laintiffs’ elder abuse claim under NRS 41.1495 sounded in professional negligence where it 

nown, the Nevada Supreme Court recognized that a claim for elder abuse arising out of alleged 

ofessional negligence. See generally Lewis v. Renown , 432 P.3d 201 (Nev. 2018). Since the 

smissal of the elder abuse claim on statute of limitations grounds. Id. In reaching this holding, the 

d. (emphasis a

w

f

pr

“

medical negligence and claims for ordinary negligence against a 

[a]llegations of [a] breach of duty involving medical judgment, 

ovide care to Sheila by failing to check on her every hour per the 

or professional negligence where it involves a “breach of duty 

e affirm the district court’s dismissal of Lewis’ claims against 

dded).
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CHH’s Motion for Summary Ju

13 

dgment Should Be Granted Since Plaintiffs’ 
omplaint Was Filed After the One-Year Statute of Limitations Expired

s not mean that the accrual period begins when the plaintiff discovers the precise 

ns. 

ound in professional negligence or that the gravamen of their claims is professional negligence. 

f emotional distress are also based upon the same alleged deviations in the standard of care and 

lleged failures to provide medical services below the applicable standard of care and the same 

s explicitly one for professional negligence subject to NRS 41A’s requirements and is based upon 

RS 41A, wrongful death pursuant to NRS 41.05, and negligent infliction of emotional distress, all 

und in professional negligence.  Plaintiffs’ first cause of action for negligence/medical malpractice 

he report from Sami Hashim, MD.39 Plaintiffs’ second cause of action is based upon the same 

ffidavit from Dr. Hashim.40. Plaintiffs’ third and fourth causes of action for negligent infliction 

he same affidavit as the professional negligence claim.41 As a result, it is clear Plaintiffs’ claims 

onsequently, Plaintiffs’ claims are necessarily subject to NRS 41A.097(2)’s statute of 

0 Exhibi

A

C.

s expressed in Massey v. Litton, 99 Nev. 723, 669 P.2d 248 (1983), the one year discovery 

t “A” hereto, ¶¶ 34-40 

gligence.’” Eamon at 4 (quoting Winn v. Sunrise Hosp. & Med. Ctr., 128 Nev 246, 252, 277 P.3d 

discovers" the injury when ‘he had facts before him that would have led an ordinarily prudent 

rson on inquiry notice of his cause of action.”  Id. at 728, 669 P.2d at 252;  See, also Eamon v. 

riod within which a plaintiff has to commence an action commences when the plaintiff “. . . knows 

, through the use of reasonable diligence, should have known of facts that would put a reasonable 

artin, 2016 Nev. App. Unpub. LEXIS 137 at 3-4 (Nev. App. Mar. 4, 2016). 

acts pertaining to his legal theory, but only to the general belief that someone's negligence may 

ve caused the injury.”  (citing Massey, 99 Nev. at 728, 669 P.2d at 252). Thus, the plaintiff 

rson to investigate further into whether [the] injury may have been caused by someone's 

9 Exhibit “A” hereto, ¶¶ 26-33 and Dr. Hashim’s Aff. annexed thereto as Exhibit A 

1 Exhibit “A”, ¶¶ 41-48; 49-56 
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While this is a motion for summary j

14 

udgment (unlike a motion to dismiss when the 

f the Court finds that the plaintiff failed to commence an action against a provider of health 

e date on which the one-year statute of limitation begins to run may be decided as a matter 

ore his complaint was filed and that the statute of limitations had expired pursuant to NRS 

.097); Domnitz v. Reese, 126 Nev. 706, 367 P.3d 764 (2010) (affirming district court’s decision 

RS 41A.087); Rodrigues v. Washinsky, 127 Nev. 1171, 373 P.3d 956 (2011) (affirming district 

npub. LEXIS 634, at *2 (Nev. App. Dec. 16, 2015) (affirming district court’s dismissal of action 

udicial Dist. Court of State, ex rel. Cty. of Clark, No. 66084, 2014 WL 4804275, at *2 (Nev. Sept. 

P.3d 458, 462 (2012) (recognizing that the district court may determine the accrual date as a 

stion of fact for the jury, and may be decided as a matter of law only where the uncontroverted 

ve caused his or her injury.’ Id.” Golden v. Forage, 2017 Nev. App. Unpub. LEXIS 745 at 3 (Nev. 

sue. Winn, 128 Nev. at 252-53, 277 P.3d at 462. Rather, the statute begins to run once the plaintiff 

462).  “The plaintiff need not be aware of the precise causes of action he or she may ultimately 

s or should have known facts giving rise to a ‘general belief that someone's negligence may 

pp. October 13, 2017). 

 law where uncontroverted facts establish the accrual date. See Golden, supra. at *2 (Nev. App. 

ct. 13, 2017) (“The date on which the one-year statute of limitation began to run is ordinarily a 

acts establish the accrual date.”) (citing Winn v. Sunrise Hosp. & Med. Ctr., 128 Nev. 246, 251, 

atter of law where the accrual date is properly demonstrated)); see also Dignity Health v. Eighth 

. 

are before the expiration of the statute of limitations under NRS 41A.097, the Court may properly 

smiss the Complaint pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5). See, e.g., Egan v. Adashek, 2015 Nev. App. 

r NRCP 12(b)(5) where the plaintiff failed to file within the statute of limitations set forth in 

ourt’s decision granting motion to dismiss the plaintiffs’ claims for failure to comply with NRS 

smissing plaintiff’s claim after finding that plaintiff had been placed on inquiry notice prior to one 

.97(2)). 

verments in the Complaint need to be taken as true), the standard is more favorable to the moving 

rty since once a prima facie case that no genuine issue of material fact exist, the non-moving party 
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Since Plaintiffs allege that they contem

15 

poraneously observed the alleged negligence and 

n fact, such contemporary observance of the alleged negligence is an element of Plaintiffs’ 

n this case, NRS 41A.097(2)’s one-year statute of limitations began to run on the date of 

53 (allegedly contemporaneously observing Ms. Powell rapidly deteriorate and die). 

stress’ causing physical injury or illness must be presented.” Olivero v. Lowe, 116 Nev. 395, 399-

injury] of the related accident victim.’” Eaton, at 714, 710 P.2d at 1376. In fact, in cases where 

aintiff’s baby daughter was killed); see also Grotts v. Zahner, 989 P.2d 912, 920 (Nev. 1999). 

nsory of the accident.” State v. Eaton, 101 Nev. 705, 714, 710 P.2d 1370, 1376 (1985) (allowing 

ho is closely related to the victim of an accident, be located near the scene of such accident and 

arci Creecy, Taryn Creecy, Isaiah Creecy, and Lloyd Creecy, contemporaneously observed the 

t impossible to demonstrate with any credibility or admissible evidence sufficient to overcome the 

s obligated to come forth with sufficient and admissible evidence demonstrating the presence of a 

aterial issue of fact.  CHH has more than presented their prima facie case, and Plaintiffs will find 

den now shifted to them for their failure to timely file their Complaint. 

. Powell’s death (May 11, 2017).  Per the Complaint, the individually named Plaintiffs, including 

lleged negligence and Ms. Powell’s rapid deterioration leading up to her death on May 11, 2017.42

laims for negligent infliction of emotional distress.43 In order to establish negligent infliction of 

motional distress under Nevada law, a plaintiff must generally show that he or she was a bystander, 

ffer “shock” that caused emotional distress resulting from the “observance or contemporaneous 

ecovery for negligent infliction of emotional distress to witness of car accident in which the 

[R]ecovery may not be had under this cause of action, for the ‘grief that may follow from the 

motional distress damages are not secondary to physical injuries, “proof of ‘serious emotional 

Nev. 2000). 

terioration of Ms. Powell leading up to her death, the Plaintiffs knew, or should have known, of 

2 See Exhibit “A” hereto at ¶ 20 (died on May 11, 2017); see also Exhibit “A” hereto at ¶¶ 45-46 

stress has not yet decided as of the filing of this Motion. 

3 An earlier filed Motion for Summary Judgment on the issue of negligent infliction of emotional 

footnote continued) 
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Furthermore, Dr. Hashim, Plaintiffs’ ex

16 

pert, was able to provide a medical affidavit to 

nder Nevada law, Plaintiffs did not have to know precise facts or legal theories for their 

reto as Exhibit “M” 

 There is nothing more than the CHH medical records which were necessary either to frame 

ll they needed to investigate the claims immediately after Ms. Powell’s death, but they failed to 

rson to investigate the matter further.  Not only were they placed on inquiry notice, but they 

omplaint and based upon the conclusive and incontrovertible evidence annexed hereto, Plaintiffs 

lanie Thompson46 conclusively establish that Plaintiffs received a complete copy of Ms. Powell’s 

nd actually obtained that very order.45  It is abundantly clear that Plaintiffs sought and obtained all 

 mere two weeks after Ms. Powell’s death.44   Ms. Creecy even went to the trouble of going 

n fact, the evidence submitted herewith demonstrates that Taryn Creecy, one of the plaintiffs herein, 

acts that would put a reasonably person on inquiry notice by May 11, 2017. Plaintiffs were aware 

 facts that would lead an ordinarily prudent person to investigate the matter further at that time.  

ecifically requested copies of Ms. Powell’s complete medical records from CHH on May 25, 

o Probate Court to obtain a court order directing the production of Ms. Powell’s records from CHH, 

 Ms. Powell’s medical records as late as June, 2017.  The declarations of both Gina Arroyo and 

edical records from CHH in June, 2017 and Plaintiffs sought them in May, 2017.   

laims; rather, they only needed to be placed on inquiry notice.  Here, under the facts alleged in the 

ere placed on inquiry notice because they were aware of facts that would lead an ordinarily prudent 

ctually pursued the medical records upon which the Complaint is based.  They sought and obtained 

imely file their lawsuit. 

pport Plaintiffs’ Complaint in January, 2019, based upon the complete medical record they 

equested a mere two weeks after Ms. Powell’s death, and which they obtained from CHH in June, 

 complaint, or to have had Plaintiffs be placed upon inquiry notice of alleged professional 

4 See Declaration of Gina Arroyo and associated exhibits annexed thereto which are collectively 

5 Exhibit A to Exhibit “M” hereto. 

6 Exhibits “M” and “N” respectively hereto 
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6385 S
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Tel. 702.893.3383 
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/s

Center

/ Adam Garth

as, Nevada 89118 
. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600 

DAM GARTH 

. BRENT VOGEL 

edical 
ealth System, LLC dba Centennial Hi

LLP

lls Hospital 
orneys for Attorneys for Defendant Valley 

evada Bar No. 15045

evada Bar No. 6858

S BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH

evidence that Plaintiffs’ Complaint was untimely filed.  

ONCLUSION 

iven this, the one-year statute of limitations under NRS 41A.097(2) began to run on May 

 dismissed with prejudice.   

HH’s motion for summary judgment should be granted in its entirety and the complaint against 

hich placed them on reasonable notice of their causes of action, Plaintiffs are time barred and 

e fact that the action itself accrued more than one year after Plaintiffs’ discovery of the injury 

eading and justification for the late filing. 

nor can there be) to excuse such a late filing, and (3) nothing in Plaintiffs’ Complaint affirmatively 

 granted as there are no genuine issues of fact as to (1) the lateness of the filing,  (2) no evidence 

RS 41A.097(2), Plaintiffs’ Complaint was untimely. Therefore, the CHH’s instant motion should 

ince Plaintiffs failed to file their Complaint within the one-year statute of limitations provided by 

heir expert affidavit on January 23, 2019, and failed to file their Complaint until February 4, 2019.  

2017. Thus, Plaintiffs were required to file their Complaint by May 11, 2018. Plaintiffs obtained 

ither Plaintiffs or their counsel for their failure to file their Complaint by May 11, 2018. 

gligence (which itself is completely denied by CHH).  The fault lies not with anyone other than 

// 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on this 2nd day of September, 2020, a true and correct copy of VALLEY 

HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC AND UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC.’S MOTION FOR 

SUMMARY JUDGMENT BASED UPON THE EXPIRATION OF THE STATUTE OF 

LIMITATIONS was served by electronically filing with the Clerk of the Court using the Odyssey 

E-File & Serve system and serving all parties with an email-address on record, who have agreed to 

receive electronic service in this action. 

Paul S. Padda, Esq. 
PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC 
4560 S. Decatur Blvd., Suite 300 
Las Vegas, NV 89103 
Tel: 702.366.1888 
Fax: 702.366.1940 
psp@paulpaddalaw.com
Attorneys for Plaintiffs  

John H. Cotton, Esq. 
Brad Shipley, Esq. 
JOHN. H. COTTON & ASSOCIATES 
7900 W. Sahara Ave., Suite 200 
Las Vegas, NV 89117 
Tel: 702.832.5909 
Fax: 702.832.5910 
jhcotton@jhcottonlaw.com
bshipleyr@jhcottonlaw.com
Attorneys for Defendants Dionice S. Juliano, 
M.D., Conrado Concio, M.D And Vishal S. 
Shah, M.D. 

By /s/ Roya Rokni
An Employee of 
LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP
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Case Number: A-19-788787-C

Electronically Filed
2/4/2019 9:19 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT

A-19-788787-C

Department 14

Electronically Filed

2/4/2019 9:19 PM

Steven D. Grierson

CLERK OF THE COURT

COMP
1

PAUL S. PADDA, ESQ. (NVBar #10417)

2 Email: psp@paulpaddalaw.com
JOSHUA Y. ANG, ESQ. (NVBar #14026)

3 Email: ja@paulpaddalaw.com
4 PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC

4560 South Decatur Blvd., Suite 300

5 Las Vegas, Nevada 89103

Tele: (702) 366-1888

6 Fax:(702)366-1940

7
Attorneysfor Plaintiffs

8
CLARK COUNTY DISTRICT COURT

9
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADAU ®

J o S
J
Sr <i>
HH ."tS

> ^ s s
» r oo r-

ii-s aP « 5 £
•< .Zoo

10

ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL,

through BRIAN POWELL, as Special

Administrator; DARCI CREECY,

11 A-19-788787-C

12
individually and as an Heir; TARYN

CREECY, individually and as an Heir;

Case No.
13

Department 14

s iO Q SlT
ISAIAH KHOSROF, individually and as an

Heir; LLOYD CREECY, individually;
14

Dept No.

* I S £
P ® -

15

16 Plaintiffs,

2* « COMPLAINTH 17
JURY TRIAL DEMANDEDvs.

18

VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC (doing

business as "Centennial Hills Hospital Medical SUBJECT TO AUTOMATIC

Center"), a foreign limited liability company; ARBITRA TIONEXEMPTION-

UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC.,

a foreign corporation; DR. DIONICE S.

JULIANO, M.D., an individual; DR.

CONRADO C.D. CONCIO, M.D., an

individual; DR. VISHAL S. SHAH, M.D., an

individual; DOES 1-10; and ROES A-Z;

19

20
1. Pursuant To N.A.R. 3(A)-

21 Medical Malpractice

2. Amount In Controversy Exceeds
22

$50,000.00

23

24

Defendants.
25

26

1
27

28

Case Number: A-19-788787-C
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This is a civil action seeking monetary damages for the death of Rebecca Powell. In
1

2 support of this Complaint, Plaintiffs rely upon the Affidavit of Dr. Sami Hashim, M.D.

3 (incorporated by reference herein and attached to this Complaint as Exhibit A) and allege as

4
follows:

5
I.

6

ARBITRATION EXEMPTION
7

1 . Nevada Revised Statute ("N.R.S.") 38.250 requires that "[a]ll civil actions filed in

9 district court for damages, if the cause of action arises in the State ofNevada and the amount in

8

U ®
J § S
5r « v©
PM .ti ^

-j °°

10
issue does not exceed $50,000 per plaintiff, exclusive of attorney's fees, interest and court costs,

11

must be submitted to nonbinding arbitration . . ."O

12< £

^ •

"5 3 z, oo

-a

This case is automatically exempt from the arbitration program because "the2.13

9 i sfS
^ 5 > s
pM 3 <»

© « M

amount in issue" (i.e. damages) for Plaintiffs significantly exceeds $50,000.00, and because it is14

15
a medical malpractice matter.

& S 16
< 3 «
Pu «

II.
H 17

JURISDICTION. VENUE AND LEGAL BASIS FOR THIS ACTION
18

3 , This civil action is brought by Plaintiffs pursuant to the statutory and common law19

20 of the State of Nevada. Venue is appropriate in this Court because all events giving rise to the

21
present cause of action occurred in Clark County, Nevada. The amount in controversy in this

22
case is well in excess of the statutorily required amount of $15,000.00.

23

24 *"

25 ...

26

2
27

28
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III.
1

THE PARTIES2

3 4. Plaintiff, "Estate of Rebecca Powell" administers the affairs of Rebecca Powell

4 ,

("Rebecca") who died in Clark County, Nevada on May 11, 2017. At the time of her death,

5

Rebecca, an adult female, was approximately 42-years old. Rebecca was born on May 30, 1975.
6

Plaintiff Brian Powell ("Brian") is an adult male and the ex-husband of Rebecca5.
7

8 as well as the Special Administrator of Rebecca's Estate. At all time periods relevant to this

9 lawsuit, Brian was a resident of Clark County, Nevada.
V ®
P o S
SP SO

* '12 2
> foe

il*
-j £3 o •
^ Z 00

10
6. Plaintiff Darci Creecy ("Darci") is an adult female and the daughter of Rebecca.

11

At all time periods relevant to this lawsuit, Darci was a resident of Ohio.
12

13 Plaintiff Taryn Creecy ("Taryn") is an adult female and the daughter of Rebecca.7.

g i i
W G wT H « SD

^ € > S8
* § 8 §>
PS -

At all time periods relevant to this lawsuit, Taryn was a resident of Ohio.14

15 8. Plaintiff Isaiah Khosrof ("Khosrof') is an adult male and the son of Rebecca. At

16
2

Plh 0
all time periods relevant to this lawsuit, Khosrof was a resident of Massachusetts.

H 17

Plaintiff Lloyd Creecy ("Lloyd") is an adult male and the father of Rebecca. At9.
18

all time periods relevant to this lawsuit, Lloyd was a resident of Ohio.19

20 Defendant Valley Health System, LLC (doing business as "Centennial Hills10.

21
Hospital Medical Center") ("VHS") is a for-profit healthcare company, upon information and

22
belief, headquartered in Nevada, that operates approximately 6 hospitals in Nevada. Upon

23

information and belief, VHS owns and operates "Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center"
24

25

26

3
27

28
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located in Las Vegas, Nevada. VHS is a Delaware limited liability company registered to transact
1

2 business in Nevada.

3 Defendant Universal Health Services, Inc. ("UHS") is, upon information and11.

4

belief, a for-profit healthcare company headquartered in King of Prussia, Pennsylvania. Upon

5
further information and belief, UHS, through subsidiarie(s)/intermediarie(s) owns and operates

7 "Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center" located in Las Vegas, Nevada, through

8 ownership/control of Valley Health System, LLC. UHS is a foreign corporation registered in

^ Delaware.

6

§ * 10
12. Defendant Dr. Dionice S. Juliano, M.D. ("Dr. Juliano") is an adult male individual
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11

that, upon information and belief, was a resident of Clark County, Nevada for all time periods
12

relevant to this lawsuit. Dr. Juliano is licensed to practice medicine in the State ofNevada.13
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Defendant Dr. Conrado C.D. Concio, M.D. ("Dr. Concio") is an adult male14 13.

15 individual that, upon information and belief, was a resident of Clark County, Nevada for all time

16
periods relevant to this lawsuit. Dr. Concio is licensed to practice medicine in the State ofNevada.

H 17

Defendant Dr. Vishal S. Shah, M.D. ("Dr. Shah") is an adult male individual that,14.
18

upon information and belief, was a resident ofClark County, Nevada for all time periods relevant

to this lawsuit. Dr. Shah is licensed to practice medicine in the State ofNevada.

19

20

21
Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and thereupon allege, that each of tire15.

22
Defendants designated as Does 1 through 10, inclusive, are responsible in some manner for the

23

events and happenings herein referred to and negligently and/or intentionally caused injuries and
24

damages to Plaintiffs. Plaintiffs further allege that they cannot currently ascertain the identity of25

26
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each of the Doe Defendants and Plaintiffs will therefore seek leave of Court to amend this
1

2 Complaint to insert the true names and capacities of Doe Defendants when they have been

3 ascertained, together with appropriate charging allegations and to join such Defendants in this

4 .
action.

5

Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and thereupon allege, that each of the16.
6

7 Defendants designated as Roes A through Z, inclusive, is responsible in some manner for the

8 events and happenings herein referred to and negligently and/or intentionally caused injuries and

damages to Plaintiffs. Plaintiffs are further informed and believe that each of the Roes is either a9
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10
corporation, related subsidiary, parent entity, group, partnership, holding company, owner,

11
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predecessor entity, successor entity, joint venture, related association, insurer or business entity,

the true names ofwhich are currently unknown to Plaintiffs at this time. Additionally, Plaintiffs

12

13
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allege that they cannot currently ascertain the identity ofeach ofthe Roe Defendants and Plaintiffs14

15 will therefore seek leave ofCourt to amend this Complaint to insert the true names and capacities

16
< % H of Roe Defendants when they have been ascertained, together with appropriate charging

H 17

allegations and to join such Defendants in this action.
18

IV.19

20 FACTUAL BACKGROUND

21
17. Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center ("CHHMC") (operated by VHS and

22
UHS) advertises itselfon its website as a hospital that offers various healthcare services, including

23

emergency care, heart care, stroke services, imaging services, gastroenterology and oncology,
24

among other things. UHS, the parent corporation of VHS, and through VHS, the owner and25

26
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operator of CHHMC, in or around April 2018, was reported to have set aside approximately $35
1

2 million for the potential settlement of alleged False Claims Act violations.

3 18. On May 3, 2017, Rebecca was found by emergency medical services ('EMS") at

4 .

home, unconscious with labored breathing, and with vomitus on her face. It was believed she had

ingested an over-amount of Benadryl, Cymbalta and Ambien. See Exhibit A, (Affidavit of Dr.
6

7 Sami Hashim, M.D. 6A). EMS intubated Rebecca and transported her to the Emergency

8 Department ("ED") of CHHMC. Id. At the ED, Rebecca was evaluated and diagnosed with: (a)

5

9 Respiratory Failure and low blood pressure; (b) "Overdose on unknown amount of Benadryl,

Cymbalta and ethyl alcohol"; (c) Sinus Tachycardia - no ectopy; and (d) Acidosis, among other
j ° 2
H o ^
J

•- 22
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.
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£ things. Id.O
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19. Notwithstanding the Death Certificate stating that the only cause of death was13
00

"Complications of Cymbalta Intoxication," Rebecca did not, and with high probability could not14

15
have died from this. See Exhibit A, (Affidavit ofDr. Sami Hashim, M.D. ]f 6B). Instead, Rebecca

16

2' * died as a direct consequence ofrespiratory failure directly due to below standard ofcare violations
H 17

as indicated by her medical records and reinforced by the Department of Health and Human
18

Services—Division of Health Quality and Compliance's ("DHHS") Investigative Report. Id.19

20 After being admitted to Centennial Hills Hospital on March 3, 2017, Rebecca's health status

21
steadily improved over the course ofalmost a week to a point where a pulmonologist consultation

22
stated that Rebecca felt well and wanted to go home, while making no note to delay discharge.

23

Id. Plaintiffs were also told by healthcare providers that Rebecca was doing much better and
24

"would be discharged soon." Id. Metabolically, Cymbalta has a half-shelf life of approximately25

26
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12-24 hours and up to 48 hours if an excessive amount is ingested. Rebecca's health status did
1

2 not deteriorate, and was in fact improving, until 1 50 hours plus had transpired. Id. Therefore, the

3 possibility that Rebecca died of Cymbalta intoxication or of complications arising therefrom, is

4

not realistic. Id. A bronchoscopy and bronchoalveolar lavage on May 4, 2017 excluded any

5

aspiration of vomitus, and toxicology reports did not find evidence of the ingestion of Ambien,
6

1 Benadryl or ethyl alcohol. Id.

By May 9, 2017, it was noted that Rebecca "had significantly improved and was

9 expected to be discharged." Id. However, Rebecca's health status began to deteriorate the next

20.8
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10
day, on May 11, 2017. See Exhibit A, (Affidavit of Dr. Sami Hashim, M.D. ]f 6C). The initial

li
C4

changes were not critical, nor overly concerning. Id. However, Defendants' conduct in providing
12

healthcare services to Rebecca fell below the appropriate standard of care; this included
13« J5 •

© 8
Q o m7

P s -

14 inadequate and absent monitoring, a lack of diagnostic testing and improper treatment, all of

15
which were directly related to Rebecca's acutely failing health status and ultimately her death

16

0. °
early in the morning of May 11, 2017. Id.

H 17

2 1 . The day before, on May 1 0, 2 0 1 7 in the wee hours of the morning, Rebecca started
18

coughing and complained of shortness ofbreath, weakness and a "drowning" feeling. Id. Pursuant19

20 to this, the drug Ativan was ordered to be administered to Rebecca by Dr. Shah via IV push. Id.

21
Various tests including x-rays were administered, which showed possible infiltrates or edema. Id.

22

22. On May 1 1, 2017, Dr. Concio ordered two consecutive doses of the drug Ativan
23

to be administered to Rebecca via IV push. See Exhibit A, (Affidavit of Dr. Sami Hashim, M.D.
24

Tf 6D). A CT Scan of Rebecca's chest was also ordered, but said scan was aborted due to25

26
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Rebecca's shortness of breath and "anxiety." Id. At the very least, a portable x-ray should have
1

2 been ordered when the patient was returned to her room, but it was not. Id. Later, an RT-Tech

3 noted that Rebecca needed to be monitored by a "sitter" due to her attempting to remove her

4

oxygen mask. Id. However, no sitter was assigned, nor was Rebecca moved to another room with

5

adequate monitoring capabilities. Id. Indeed, the camera monitor of the room Rebecca was in

7 noted that the resolution of the camera/monitor did not allow him to see the patient enough to

8 discern when she attempted to remove the mask. Id. Rebecca was mis-diagnosed with 'anxiety

^ disorder' by an unqualified healthcare provider and there was no differential diagnosis presented

6

T ® 2
M ® T* 10

by any physician at any time on May 1 1, 2017 when the patient was suffering from respiratory
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insufficiency. Id. Given that Rebecca had been receiving daily doses of Midazalom,O

12

Acetylcysteine and at least four other drugs known to cause adverse respiratory side effects, and
13

14 that Rebecca went into Code Blue status within 90 minutes after Ativan dosing, it is highly

15
probable that the administration of back-to-back doses of Ativan via IV Push to her (while she

16
< 3 £
PLh «

was already in respiratory distress), alongside the inadequate and absent monitoring, and other
H 17

act or omissions falling below standard of care, as notes by the DHHS Investigative Report, all
18

directly led to Rebecca's acute respiratory failure resulting in the final cardiorespiratory event19

20 and her death. Id.

21
Dr. Juliano, Dr. Concio and Dr. Shah all breached their duty as professionals23.

22
providing medical services to Rebecca. See Exhibit A, (Affidavit of Dr. Sami Hashim, M.D. ^

23

7). All three of them were aware of the patient's acutely declining health status and were
24

responsible (and should have) ordered alternative diagnostic imaging such as a portable x-ray to25

26
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detect any significant pulmonary changes when an attempt to conduct a CT scan failed due to
1

2 "anxiety." See Exhibit A, (Affidavit of Dr. Sami Hashim, M.D. | 7A). In addition, based on

3 Rebecca's stable condition until late May 10, 2017 and her acute decline in health status on May

4 .....
11, 2017, these three physicians should have made a differential diagnosis that included the

5

possibility of side effect(s) and adverse reaction(s) from the numerous medications being
6

7 administered to Rebecca known to have side effects directly related to her symptoms manifesting

8 during the deterioration ofher heath status on May 10 and 1 1, 2017. Id. The nature of the sudden

9 onset of Rebecca's symptoms should have triggered the three doctors to review drug side effects

and interactions as a likely cause ofher symptoms and declining health status, but this possibility
j o 2Mo <?
J vo

* •- 22
s
c\

10

11

was ignored by them. Id. All three physicians were aware of the decision to administer moreO
r oo

12il-s a
Ativan via IV-Push to Rebecca multiple times in rapid succession to treat the her symptom of13
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anxiety, and allowed this administration in dereliction of their responsibility to have been aware14

15 that administering Ativan to a respiratory-compromised patient poses significant risks related to

16

i* i serious pulmonary/respiratory function. Id. Indeed, the FDA provides warnings of such risks. Id.
H 17

24. Had the three physicians reviewed Rebecca's drug regimen, they would have
18

realized a large number of these drugs caused shortness of breath, associated anxiety, cough,19

20 labored breathing, weakness and other related symptoms exhibited by Rebecca. Id. They would

21
have further recognized that Ativan is known to potentially cause and/or increase respiratory

22
depression and would not have administered it, especially not by IV-Push, which is fast-acting.

23

Id.
24

25 ...

26
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25. In concert with, and in addition to the above-articulated failures, a DHHS report
1

2 dated February 5, 2018 (received by Special Administrator Brian Powell on February 9, 2018)

3 found a plethora ofviolations falling below the standard of care. See Exhibit A, (Affidavit ofDr.

4

Sami Hashim, M.D. f 8). Among other things, the report criticized the fact that no specific

5

differential diagnosis was shown in the records related to Rebecca's complaints and abnormal
6

j findings between May 1 0 and 1 1 , 201 7. Id. It also notes that the records state numerous times that

physician notification, elevation to a higher level of care and/or closer monitoring was required8

9 but did not occur. Id. For example, at one point in time the respiratory therapist concluded the
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10
physician should have been notified, the Rapid Response Team ("RRT") activated, and the level

11

of care upgraded, but the physician was not notified, the RRT was not activated and the level of
12

care was not elevated. Id. Further, Rebecca was never moved to a different room for closer13^ fa J* •
00

I OslQ a m i
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monitoring as earlier advised. Id. Instead, for at least one hour while she was in severe respiratory14

15 distress, no RN or CNA checked on her, which was grossly inadequate. Id. Also falling far below

16
M

Oh *
the standard of care was the fact that Rebecca did not receive any cardiac monitoring until she

H 17

entered Code Blue status. Id. Any patient in respiratory distress needing a re-breather mask and
18

receiving the same medications as Rebecca, must be on telemetry to monitor cardiac status. Id.19

20 In Rebecca's case, this was critically important given the fact she had been administered multiple

21
IV Push doses of Ativan, a drug known to depress the respiratory system. Id.

22

23

24

25 ...
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V.
1

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION2
[On BehalfOfThe Estate OfRebecca Powell (Through Special Administrator Brian), Darci,

Taryn and Isaiah Against All Defendants]

Negligence / Medical Malpractice

3

4

26. Plaintiffs The Estate Of Rebecca Powell (through Special Administrator Brian),5

6 Dacri, Taryn, and Isaiah reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations set forth in

7
paragraphs 1 through 25 above.

8

27. Under Nevada law, specifically the provisions ofNevada Revised Statute ("NRS")
9
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sections 41 A, a plaintiff may recover for medical malpractice by showing the following: (i)
10

defendant(s) (i.e. hospital, physician or employee ofhospital) failed in rendering services to use11

12 reasonable care, skill or knowledge ordinarily used in similar circumstances; (ii) defendant's

13
conduct was the actual and proximate cause of plaintiffs injuries; and (iii) plaintiff suffered

14

damages. Under NRS 41A.071, a suit alleging medical malpractice requires an affidavit from a
15

"medical expert."16

i* i
17 In this case, Defendants (physicians, medical personnel and medical services28.

18
corporations in the business of operating/providing services at Centennial Hills Hospital Medical

19
Center) owed Rebecca a duty of care to provide her with medical services in a reasonable and

20

safe manner. Defendants breached their duty of care towards Rebecca by providing her with
21

medical services that fell below the acceptable standards of practice and care. See Exhibit A22

23 (attached in compliance with NRS 41A.071 and fully incorporated by reference herein).

24
Specifically, Defendants acted below the standard of care when, among other things detailed in

25

Exhibit A, they failed to recognize and consider the differential diagnosis of drug-induced
26

11
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28
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respiratory distress, inappropriately administering and/or allowing the administration of
1

2 additional Ativan via IV Push which further depressed Rebecca's respiration, contributing to her

3 death. This was compounded by numerous instances of failure to notify a physician, failure to

4 .

elevate to a higher level of care, failure to conduct necessary tests and failure to conduct closer

5
monitoring, all falling below the standard ofcare. Defendants also failed to recognize the fact that

6

7 Cymbalta could not be the cause ofRebecca' s acute health deterioration due to its short half-shelf

life. Any other failures by Defendants to adhere to the standard of care while treating Rebecca8

9 not described herein are realleged and incorporated by reference herein, as set forth in Exhibit A
{J ®
J § ~
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10
and paragraphs 1 to 27 above.
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29. Based upon the foregoing, it was entirely foreseeable that administering several
12

doses of Ativan via IV Push in quick succession to Rebecca, who was already experiencing13

respiratory distress, and who was already on a cocktail ofother drugs also known to have negative14

15 respiratory effects, in conjunction with the various failures ofcare describes above and in Exhibit

16
< 3 £
Cm *

A, could have caused (and in all probability did cause) severe respiratory symptoms, ultimately
H 17

putting Rebecca into Code Blue status and killing her. Exhibit A, 7 and 8. Thus, Defendants'
18

breach of their duty was both the actual and proximate cause of Rebecca's death.19

20 30. Plaintiffs Dacri, Taryn and Isaiah, the heirs ofRebecca, as well as her Estate, have

21
suffered damages, including but not limited to significant pain and suffering, as a result of

22
Defendants' negligence in excess of $15,000.00.

23

24

25

26
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31. As a result ofDefendants' negligence, these Plaintiffs have been required to obtain
1

2 the services of an attorney to prosecute this action. These Plaintiffs are entitled to an award of

3 attorney's fees and costs of suit incurred herein.

4
32. That the conduct of Defendants rose to the level of oppression, fraud or malice,

5

express or implied. That Defendants consciously disregarded the welfare and safety of Rebecca

7 and these Plaintiffs in providing substandard care to Rebecca, leading to her death. Further,

8 Defendants committed fraud where notes and records by RN(s) and/or CNAs were contradicted

6

9 by a note indicating that Rebecca was not checked on for an hour on May 1 1, 2017 while she was
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10
in critical condition. See Exhibit A, (Affidavit of Dr. Sami Hashim, M.D. Tf 8). These Plaintiffs

11

further reallege and incorporate any further applicable acts or omissions of Defendants while
12

treating Rebecca not described herein, as set forth in Exhibit A and paragraphs 1 to 3 1 above.
13
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14 That these Plaintiffs are entitled to punitive/exemplary damages due to said acts or omissions.

15
33. The Estate of Rebecca Powell is also entitled to, and does hereby maintain this

16

g* 'i action, pursuant to NRS 41 .100 and seeks all damages permitted under that statute.
H 17

VI.
18

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION19
[On BehalfOf The Estate OfRebecca Powell (Through Special Administrator Brian), Darci,

Taryn and Isaiah Against All Defendants)20

Wrongful Death Pursuant To NRS 41.085
21

34. These Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations set forth in22

23 paragraphs 1 through 33 above.

24

25

26
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35. Under NRS 41.085, the heirs and personal representative of a decedent's estate
1

2 may respectively maintain independent causes of action against another where that person/party

3 has caused the decedent's death by wrongful act or neglect.

4
36. In this case, Rebecca's Estate (through Brian its Special Administrator) and her

5

heirs (her children Dacri, Taryn, and Isaiah) may each seek appropriate damages permitted by
6

1 Nevada law (NRS 41.085) based upon the death of Rebecca. This includes, but is not limited to,

8 damages for grief, sorrow, loss of probable support, companionship, society, comfort and

9 consortium, medical/funeral expenses and damages for pain/suffering/emotional distress of

Rebecca. Additionally, these Plaintiffs may also seek any special damages pennitted by law.

37. Defendants acted wrongfully and neglectfully when they breached their duty of
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care towards Rebecca by providing her with medical service that fell below the acceptable
13
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14 standards of practice and care. See Exhibit A (fully incorporated by reference herein).

15
Specifically, Defendants acted below the standard of care when, among other things detailed in

16

2* * Exhibit A, they failed to recognize and consider the differential diagnosis of drug-induced
H 17

respiratory distress, inappropriately administering and/or allowing the administration of
18

additional Ativan via IV Push which further depressed Rebecca's respiration, contributing to her19

20 death. This was compounded by numerous instances of failure to notify a physician, failure to

21
elevate to a higher level of care, failure to conduct necessary tests and failure to conduct closer

22
monitoring, all falling below the standard ofcare. Defendants also failed to recognize the fact that

23

Cymbalta could not be the cause ofRebecca's acute health deterioration due to its short half-shelf
24

life. Any other failures by Defendants to adhere to the standard of care while treating Rebecca25

26
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not described herein are realleged and incorporated by reference herein, as set forth in Exhibit A
1

2 and paragraphs 1 to 36 above.

3 These Plaintiffs, the heirs of Rebecca, as well as her Estate, have suffered38.

4 .

respective damages as a result ofDefendants' negligence in excess of $15,000.00.

5

39. That the conduct of Defendants rose to the level of oppression, fraud or malice,
6

7 express or implied. That Defendants consciously disregarded the welfare and safety of Rebecca

8 and these Plaintiffs in providing substandard care to Rebecca, leading to her death. Further,

9 Defendants committed fraud where notes and records by RN(s) and/or CNAs were contradicted
U ®
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by a note indicating that Rebecca was not checked on for an hour on May 1 1, 2017 while she wasS? « $
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in critical condition. See Exhibit A, (Affidavit of Dr. Sami Hashim, M.D. K 8). These PlaintiffsO
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further reallege and incorporate any further applicable acts or omissions of Defendants while
13

14 treating Rebecca not described herein, as set forth in Exhibit A and paragraphs 1 to 38 above.

15
That these Plaintiffs are entitled to punitive/exemplary damages due to said acts or omissions.

16

Cm *
40. As a result ofDefendants' negligence, these Plaintiffs have been required to obtain

H 17

the services of an attorney to prosecute this action. These Plaintiffs are entitled to an award of
18

attorney's fees and costs of suit incurred herein.19

20 VII.

21
THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION

[On BehalfOfDarci, Taryn and Isaiah AgainstAll Defendants]

Negligent Infliction Of Emotional Distress
22

23

41. These Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations set forth in
24

paragraphs 1 through 40 above.25

26
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42. A plaintiff may recover for negligent infliction of emotional distress (bystander
1

2 theory) under Nevada law by showing the following: (i) defendant negligently committed an

3 injury upon another; (ii) plaintiff is closely related to the victim of the accident; (iii) plaintiffwas

4
located near the scene ofthe accident; and (iv) plaintiff suffered a shock resulting from the sensory

5

and contemporaneous observance of the accident.
6

43. In this case, Defendants (physicians and medical services corporations operating

8 a for-profit hospital) owed Rebecca a duty of care to provide reasonable and safe services. They

^ breached this duty of care towards Rebecca by providing her with medical service that fell below

7
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the acceptable standards of practice and care. See Exhibit A (fully incorporated by reference
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herein). Specifically, Defendants acted below the standard of care when, among other things^ OS ©
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detailed in Exhibit A, they failed to recognize and consider the differential diagnosis of drug-13
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14 induced respiratory distress, inappropriately administering and/or allowing the administration of

15
additional Ativan via IV Push which further depressed Rebecca's respiration, contributing to her

16

2' * death. This was compounded by numerous instances of failure to notify a physician, failure to
H 17

elevate to a higher level of care, failure to conduct necessary tests and failure to conduct closer
18

monitoring, all falling below the standard ofcare. Defendants also failed to recognize the fact that19

20 Cymbalta could not be the cause ofRebecca's acute health deterioration due to its short half-shelf

21
life. Any other failures by Defendants to adhere to the standard of care while treating Rebecca

22
not described herein are realleged and incorporated by reference herein, as set forth in Exhibit A

23

and paragraphs 1 to 42 above.
24
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44. As a direct and proximate result of the negligence of Defendants, these Plaintiffs
1

2 suffered shock and serious emotional distress when they observed the condition of their mother

3 Rebecca precipitously deteriorate (ultimately leading to her rapid death) at CHHMC on May 10

4 and 11 of 2017.
5

45. These Plaintiffs contemporaneously observed the direct and proximate results of
6

y Defendants' negligence when their mother Rebecca, who previously appeared to be recovering,

8 rapidly deteriorated before their eyes and died. These Plaintiffs suffered a shock and serious

9 emotional distress from sensory, contemporaneous observance of this tragic and unfortunate

event, all directly and proximately caused by Defendants' negligence. That said, this severe
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10

11

emotional distress had an adverse impact on their physical health and well-being.
12

These Plaintiffs, and each of them, have suffered damages as a result of46.13^ b * •^ ^ 06
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14 Defendants' actions in excess of $15,000.00.

15
47. That the conduct of Defendants rose to the level of oppression, fraud or malice,

16
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express or implied. That Defendants consciously disregarded the welfare and safety of Rebecca
H 17

and these Plaintiffs in providing substandard care to Rebecca, leading to her death. Further,
18

Defendants committed fraud where notes and records by RN(s) and/or CNAs were contradicted19

20 by a note indicating that Rebecca was not checked on for an hour on May 1 1 , 201 7 while she was

21
in critical condition. See Exhibit A, (Affidavit of Dr. Sami Hashim, M.D. TJ 8). These Plaintiffs

22
further reallege and incorporate any further applicable acts or omissions of Defendants while

23

treating Rebecca not described herein, as set forth in Exhibit A and paragraphs 1 to 46 above.
24

That these Plaintiffs are entitled to punitive/exemplary damages due to said acts or omissions.25

26
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48. As a result of Defendants' actions, these Plaintiffs have been required to obtain
1

2 the services of an attorney to prosecute this action. These Plaintiff is entitled to an award of

3 attorney's fees and costs of suit incurred herein.

4
VIII.

5
FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION

6 [On BehalfOfLloyd Creecy AgainstAll Defendants]

Negligent Infliction Of Emotional Distress
7

49. This Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations set forth in8

^ paragraphs 1 through 48 above.
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10
50. A plaintiff may recover for negligent infliction of emotional distress (bystander

11

theory) under Nevada law by showing the following: (i) defendant negligently committed an
12

injury upon another; (ii) plaintiff is closely related to the victim of the accident; (iii) plaintiffwas13

located near the scene ofthe accident; and (iv) plaintiffsuffered a shock resulting from the sensory14

15
and contemporaneous observance of the accident.

P ® - 16
< 3 ii 51. In this case, Defendants (physicians and medical services corporations operating

E- 17

a for-profit hospital) owed Rebecca a duty of care to provide reasonable and safe services. They
18

breached this duty of care towards Rebecca by providing her with medical service that fell below19

20 the acceptable standards of practice and care. See Exhibit A (fully incorporated by reference

21
herein). Specifically, Defendants acted below the standard of care when, among other things

22
detailed in Exhibit A, they failed to recognize and consider the differential diagnosis of drug-

23

induced respiratory distress, inappropriately administering and/or allowing the administration of
24

additional Ativan via IV Push which further depressed Rebecca's respiration, contributing to her25

26

18
27

28

38



death. This was compounded by numerous instances of failure to notify a physician, failure to
1

2 elevate to a higher level of care, failure to conduct necessary tests and failure to conduct closer

3 monitoring, all falling below the standard ofcare. Defendants also failed to recognize the fact that

4

Cymbalta could not be the cause ofRebecca's acute health deterioration due to its short half-shelf

5

life. Any other failures by Defendants to adhere to the standard of care while treating Rebecca
6

7 not described herein are realleged and incorporated by reference herein, as set forth in Exhibit A

and paragraphs 1 to 50 above.8

9 52. As a direct and proximate result of the negligence of Defendants, this Plaintiff
V ®
J § 2 10

suffered shock and serious emotional distress when he observed the condition of his daughterJ sC

PM 25 £
_ s © *

> » £ 2
5 « « ~

s

^ 3 « •
< 3 z

11

Rebecca precipitously deteriorate (ultimately leading to her rapid death) at CHHMC on May 1 0
12

and 11 of 201 7.13

0 i £8
^ I—I v©

^ £ > a
^ 1 8 ~

- J S

14 53. This Plaintiff contemporaneously observed the direct and proximate results of

15
Defendants' negligence when his daughter Rebecca, who previously appeared to be recovering,

g* 16
< 3 2 rapidly deteriorated before his eyes and died. This Plaintiff suffered a shock and serious

H 17

emotional distress from sensory, contemporaneous observance of this tragic and unfortunate
18

event, all directly and proximately caused by Defendants' negligence. That said, this severe19

20 emotional distress had an adverse impact on his physical health and well-being.

21
54. This Plaintiff has suffered damages as a result of Defendants' actions in excess of

22
$15,000.00.

23

That the conduct of Defendants rose to the level of oppression, fraud or malice,55.
24

express or implied. That Defendants consciously disregarded the welfare and safety of Rebecca25

26

19
27

28
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and these Plaintiffs in providing substandard care to Rebecca, leading to her death. Further,
1

2 Defendants committed fraud where notes and records by RN(s) and/or CNAs were contradicted

3 by a note indicating that Rebecca was not checked on for an hour on May 1 1 , 201 7 while she was

in critical condition. See Exhibit A, (Affidavit of Dr. Sami Hashim, M.D. ^ 8). These Plaintiffs
4

5
further reallege and incorporate any further applicable acts or omissions of Defendants while

6

j treating Rebecca not described herein, as set forth in Exhibit A and paragraphs 1 to 54 above.

That these Plaintiffs are entitled to punitive/exemplary damages due to said acts or omissions.8

9 56. As a result of Defendants' actions, this Plaintiff has been required to obtain the

j o £
® T 10

services of an attorney to prosecute this action. This Plaintiff is entitled to an award of attorney's
P* .-a 22 m
-5 s

11
:

> "I
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fees and costs of suit incurred herein.. 0\ o

12
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14 RELIEF REQUESTED

15
57. Wherefore, in light of the foregoing, Plaintiffs request that the Court enter the

16

a* * following relief in this matter:
H 17

Set this matter for trial bv iurv on a date certain;a.
18

Award Plaintiffs compensatory and special damages in amounts exceeding

$15,000.00 for each cause of action set forth herein;

b.19

20

Award Plaintiffs interest (pre-judgment and post-judgment) on all sums

permitted by law;

c.
21

22
Award Plaintiff reasonable attorney's fees and costs for having to

prosecute this matter;

d.
23

24 •"

25 ...

26

20
27

28
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1
Punitive/Exemplary Damages for each cause of action; ande.

2
f. Award all other just and proper relief.

3

DATED this 4th day of February 2019.4

5
Respectfully submitted by:

6

PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC
7

8
By:

9 Paul S. Padda, Esq.

Joshua Y. Ang, Esq.

4560 South Decatur Blvd., Suite 300

Las Vegas, Nevada 89103

t ® 2
M ® T1 10

g
Pm .'tt 2 o

> w.s; s
5 ^ ~
h-3 « 5 (2
^ Iz *

11

12 Attorneys for Plaintiffs

13
00

0 I
S 5 > £
Ph s g ^2
hl^o

PS -

14

15

16

2* <H 17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

21
27

28

41



EXHIBIT A 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 

42



AFFIDAVIT OF DR. SAMI HASHIM, M.D.

}STATE OF NEW YORK

COUNTY OF WESTCHESTER }

The undersigned affiant, Dr. Sami Hashim, M.D., being first duly sworn, hereby deposes and says:

1 . I have reviewed the medical records pertaining to Rebecca Powell (Date of Birth: May 30, 1 975 /

Date ofDeath: May 1 1, 2017).

2. This affidavit is offered based upon my personal and professional knowledge. I am over the age of

eighteen and competent to testify to the matters set forth herein if called upon to do so.

3 . I am a medical doctor and senior attending physician in the Division of Endocrinology and

Metabolism at St. Luke's Hospital/Medical Center at Mount Sinai in New York, New York. I have

been a Professor ofEndocrinology, Internal Medicine, Metabolism & Nutritional Medicine at

Columbia University College of Physicians & Surgeons since the early 1070's and was Chief of

Metabolic Research from 1971 to 1997. 1 have published over 200 papers in peer-reviewed journals

and am a recognized expert in the fields of internal medicine (including general medicine, which

includes cardiology, neurology, pulmonology and other specialties), endocrinology, metabolism

and nutrition. I have served on research review committees of the National Institute ofHealth. I

earned my MD degree from the State University ofNew York, with post graduate training at

Harvard University.

4. I have worked as a senior attending physician and professor at St. Luke's Hospital and Medical

Center, a Mount Sinai Medical Center affiliate hospital (previously affiliated with Columbia

University) for over 20 years. As a professor, I teach medical students, interns, residents all aspects

of internal and general medicine, in-patient and out-patient medical care. I complete medical

rounds each day seeing patients with and without medical students, interns, residents and I train

Fellows in many different specialties including Emergency Medicine, Cardiology, and Pulmonary

Medicine. I also attend to private patients at St. Luke's.

5 . As a senior attending physician and Professor with decades ofteaching and training medical students,

Interns, Residents and Fellows as well as attending to my own private patients, I can attest that

following Standard ofCare ("SOC") protocols is crucial and essential for proper diagnosis, treatment

and care management. Obviously, there are numerous SOC protocols, which begin from the time the

patient is first seen and examined at a hospital/medical center, post-admission, at time of discharge

and following discharge. Many of the protocols are basic, yet of critical importance to the patient's

overall health welfare and ultimate recovery during the recuperation period following discharge. That

is why all hospitals/medical centers respect and adhere to strict guidelines and protocols described &

defined by each healthcare facility and even by federal law(s). Certainly, real-time information stated
1
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and revealed in a patient's medical records such as all chart notes, must be carefully evaluated and

considered as primary SOC as part of patient care management. Disregard of even basic protocols

can lead to catastrophic events and outcomes.

6. I have reviewed the available medical records, summary reports and the HHS-Investigative Report

pertaining to Rebecca Powell. Evaluation of her medical records and reconstruction of an accurate

timeline was available in part (all records were requested, not all records were provided by Centennial

Hills Hospital & Medical Center). In my opinion, stated to a reasonable degree of medical

probability, the conduct of Centennial Hills Hospital & Medical Center (including its

hospitalists/nurses and other healthcare providers including Dr. Juliano Dionice, M.D., Dr. C.

Concio, M.D., Dr. Vishal Shah - presumed employees)—fell below the appropriate standards of care

that were owed to Rebecca Powell. The medical records and additional medical related information

I have reviewed reveal the following:

A. On May 3 , 20 1 7 at 3 :27PDT, Rebecca Powell, a 4 1 -year old adult female, was found by EMS

at home, unconscious with labored breathing and vomitus on her face. It was believed she

ingested an over-amount ofBenadryl, Cymbalta and Ambien. EMS intubated Ms. Powell and

transported her to Centennial Hills Hospital—Emergency Department (ED). At ED, patient

was evaluated and diagnosed with:

• Respiratory Failure and low BP

• "Overdose on unknown amount of Benadryl, Cymbalta and ETOH"

• Review of Systems: "Within Normal Limits" (WNL)

• Sinus Tachycardia - no ectopy

• Lab results consistent with respiratory failure and over-dosage of suspected medications

• Acidosis

B. Notwithstanding clear evidence of intentional over-dosing of the substances mentioned, the

Death Certificate noted the only cause of death was due to: "Complications of Cymbalta

Intoxication." Based on medical records, the patient did not and with high probability could

not have died from the cause of death stated in the Death Certificate. The patient died as a

direct consequence of respiratory failure directly due to below standard of care violations as

indicated by her medical records and reinforced by the Department of Health and Human

Services—Division ofHealth Quality and Compliance Investigative Report. Furthermore:

• After being admitted to Centennial Hills Hospital on 05/03/17, the patient's health status

steadily improved over the course of almost a week.

• Patient was extubated in the ICU and moved to a medical floor.

• Patient's lab results improved daily.

• Pulmonologist consultation stated that the patient felt well enough and wanted to go

home. The specialist made no note to delay discharge.

• Healthcare providers told family members from out-of-town that the patient was doing

much better and "would be discharged soon." Family returned to their homes out-of-state

based on the information they received.

2
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• Metabolically, Cymbalta has a half-shelf life of approximately 12-24 hours, up to 48

hours if an over-amount is ingested. The patient didn't have a downward health status

until 150 hours+ had transpired. Therefore, the possibility that she diedfrom Cymbalta

intoxication or complication of is not realistic.

• There was no medical evidence of the patient ingesting Ambien, Benadryl or ETOH, nor

did toxicology reports reveal any of those substances.

• On 05/04/17, the patient underwent a bronchoscopy and bronchoalveolar lavage. The

report stated, "There was no foreign material or deciduous matter evidenced. " Had the

patient aspirated vomitus, there would have been some endotracheal or bronchial

evidence of foreign or deciduous matter.

• From 05/07/17 - 05/1 1/17 - Over a period of nearly five days, medical records state the

patient steadily improved.

• 05/07/17- PROGRESS NOTES state "Patient alert and stable " and "Can upgrade diet

to GI soft. "

• 05/08/17 - "Patient vitals remain stable " and "No significant event during shifts. "

• 05/09/17 - PROGRESS NOTES (stating the patient had significantly improved and was
expected to be discharged)

• "Patient eager to go home. Denies any shortness ofbreath. No cough, shortness of
breath or sputum production. "

• Review of Systems - Normal

• Vitals - Normal

C. Late on 05/10/17 and early hours of 05/1 1/17, the patient's health status changed. Initially,
the changes were not even approaching critical by any stretch of consideration or concern.
However, the below standard ofcare related to inadequate and absent monitoring, lack of
diagnostic testing and improper treatment were directly related to the patient's acutely

failing health status and ultimately herpronounced death at 6:57 AM on 05/1 1/17.

• On 05/10/17 at 2AM, patient started coughing and complained of SOB. Patient was
receiving 02-2L/NC

• At 10:51AM - Patient's S02 dropped to 92%

• At 3 : 1 1 PM - Patient complained ofcontinued SOB and weakness

• At 4: 1 1 PM - Patient complaining of increased labor for breathing, states she feels like

she's "drowning"

• Order for breathing treatment and Ativan TVPush ordered by Dr. Shah & administered

for anxiety with no improvement.

• Dr. Shah contacted who ordered STAT ABG and 2 view x-ray - Results showed

possible infiltrates or edema.

D. On 05/11/17, the patient's health status markedly declined.

• At 2AM - A STAT CT scan of chest was ordered.

• At 2:20AM -Ativan IVPush (.5mg) was ordered by Dr. Concio & administered.

• At 2:40AM - CTLab called to state patient was being returned to her room (701) and
CT could not be completed due to patient 's complaint ofSOB and anxiety.

• (Note: At the very least, a portable x-ray should have been ordered when the

patient was returned to her room. It wasn't.)

• At 3 :27AM -Ativan IVPush was again ordered by Dr. Concio & administered.

3
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• At 3 :45AM - RT-Tech (Venessa) was called to assess the patient. Indicated that the

patient was not cooperative and kept removing the 02 mask. Also stated the patient

needed to be monitored with a "sitter." Karen contacted House Supervisor David to

explain that a sitter was needed. He suggested placing the patient in wrist restraints.

When asked to closely monitor the patient, the camera monitor (John) noted that the

resolution of the camera/monitor did not allow him to see the patient enough to discern

when she attempted to remove the mask. He advised moving the patient to a room with

better video capability. The patient did not receive a "sitter" nor was she moved to

another room with adequate monitoring capability.

• The patient was mis-diagnosed with 'anxiety disorder' by an unqualified healthcare

provider and there was no differential diagnosis presented by any physician at any time

on 05/1 1/17 when the patient was suffering from respiratory insufficiency.

• Based on the administration ofmultiple doses ofAtivan IVPush, the fact that the

patient had been receiving daily doses ofMidazolam ( another Benzodiazepine causing

respiratory depression). Acetylcysteine (can also cause respiratory symptoms ). (at least

four other drugs with side effects of SOB, labored breathing and cough) and the period

of time from Ativan dosing to Code Blue was within less than 90 minutes. Given the

medication regimen the patient was on, it's highly probable that administering the back

to back doses ofAtivan IVPush to this patient (already in respiratory distress), the

inadequate and absent monitoring of the patient and other below standards of care as

verified in the Investigative Report, were all directly related to the patient's acute

respiratory failure leading to the final cardiorespiratory event and death.

7. Dr. Dionice, Dr. Concio and Dr. Shah, in my expert opinion, each one breached their duty.

A. Based on radiological reports as late as 05/10/17, stating there were no significant changes from

05/08/17, noting "possible infiltrates or edema. " This is extremely relevant in diagnosing and

treating the patient's sudden respiratory change in health status late 05/10/17 and 05/1 1/17.

• Since the patient was unable to undergo a CT scan due to "anxiety", at the very least a

portable x-ray should have been ordered to determine if and what significant pulmonary

changes were present based on the presence of acute signs & symptoms. Each ot the three

physicians aforementioned were aware of the patient's acutely declining health status

and were responsible for not only ordering an alternative diagnostic imagine such as a

portable x-rav, but also obtaining & reporting the results to determine pulmonary

involvement based on her symptoms. Medical records do not reveal a portable x-ray

ordered when the CT scan was unable to be completed, nor any results of any x-ray

ordered after the attempted CT scan when the patient was returned to her room.

• Based on the patient's stable condition until late 05/10/17 and her acute decline in health

status on 05/11/17, an immediate differential diagnosis should have been made, which

absolutely should have included the possibility ot side eftect(s) and adverse reactionist

from medications being administered. Given the nature of the sudden onset of the

patient's symptoms, drug side effects and interactions should have been reviewed by each

ot the three physicians aforementioned. The patient had been receiving six drugs,

including Ativan administered on 05/09/17 and 05/10/17, all having side effects directly

4
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related to the symptoms and findings displayed by the patient at the time her health

acutely worsened on 05/10/17 & 05/1 1/17.

• Without consideration of the probable drug side effects, adverse reactions and

interactions, which were most probably directly related to the patient's acute symptoms,

the three physicians aforementioned, ignored even the possibility that her medications

misht be the cause of her symptoms & declining health status. Consequently, not one of

the three physicians aforementioned even placed drwr(s) side effects/adverse reactions

on anv differential diagnosis.

• Instead of performing their professional duty related to prescribed and administered

medications, all three of the physicians aforementioned were aware of the decision to

administer even more Ativan IV-Push multiple times in a short period of time to treat

the patient's symptom of'anxiety. It was the responsibility of each ofthe three physicians

to have been aware and knowledgeable that administering Ativan to a respiratory

compromised patient has significant risks related to serious pulmonarv/respiratoiv

function. The FDA provides warnings with the use of benzodiazepines of such risk.

Interactions with other drugs (not only when used concomitantly with opiates) can

compound the seriousness of the risk(s).

• Had any of the three physicians aforementioned, reviewed the patient 's drug regimen,

they would have realized that several ofthe drugs caused, shortness ofbreath (SOB) and

associated anxiety, cough, labored breathing, weakness and other related symptoms

exhibited by the patient. Had any of the three aforementioned physicians, reviewed the

side effects, Ativan (known to potentially cause and/or increase respiratory depression)

would not have been administered, especially not by IV-Push (the effects are muchfaster

and more dramatically pronounced).

8. Department of Health and Human Services—NV Bureau of Health Quality and Compliance
Investigative Report, not only reinforced my findings, but revealed many other below standard of

care violations, all related directly to the wrongful death of the patient. The information below,
provides examples of other below standard of care violations found in the medical records and as

part of the HHS—NV Bureau's Investigation:

• There was no specific differential diagnosis shown in the records related to her

complaints and abnormal findings between 05/10/17 to 05/1 1/17.

• The records stated numerous times that the patient needed to be elevated to a higher

level of care and required close monitoring. Neither were provided.

• Respiratory Therapist - (" ...the RT concluded the physician should have been

notified, the RRT activated and the level ofcare upgraded. ") The physician was not

notified, the RRT was not activated and the level ofcare was not elevated.

• Registered Nurse - (" ...RN explained normal vital signs were: B/P: 100/60, HR: no

more than 100 bpm, RR: 16-20 br/m and SP02 no less than 92%. Ifa patient with a HR

of130 bpm and RR of30 br/m, the physician must be notified immediately and the RRT

activated. ") The patient had a HR of 130, SP02 below 92% while receiving 3+

liters of oxygen and a respiratory rate of 30 bpm.. ") Thephysician was not notified.

• The Legal 2000 Patient Frequency Observation Record - (". . .they could not see the

incident on monitor and again advised to change the patient to room 832 (with working

camera). The record revealed at 6:10 AM, Code Blue was announced. The record

indicated the patient "last appeared to be sitting in close to uprightposition with fingers

5
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possible in mouthfor approximately one hour. ") IMPORTANT NOTE - The patient

was not changed to a different room as earlier advised. Hence, she was not being

adequately monitored, which was of critical importance. The last sentence in this

record reveals thatfor at least one hour the patient was in severe respiratory distress

and during that hour, no RN or CNA checked on the patient This contradicts other

records and statements made by the RN and the CNA.

• Chief of Nursing Operations - (". . .the ChiefofNursing Operations (CNO) indicated

that the patient should have been monitored closely based on the vital signs and

condition. The CNO acknowledged the Rapid Response Team (RRT) should have been

activated and the patient upgraded to a higher level ofcare. ") The RRT was not

activated nor was thepatient elevated to a higher level ofcare.

• Process Improvement Manager - (". . .the facility Process Improvement Manager

indicated the patient was not monitored by telemetry and the cardiac monitoring

documentation availablefor 05/1 1/1 7 was the EKG performed during the Code Blue. ")

The patient was already known to be in respiratory distress before she coded.

According to this record-note, the patient was not receiving any cardiac

monitoring and was only monitored during the code. (This is a shameful and gross

example of below standard of care. Any patient in respiratory distress needing a

re-breather mask and receiving the same medications for the present acute health

status, must be on telemetry to monitor cardiac status. In this patient's case, it was

critically important given the fact she had been administered multiple IVPUSH

doses of ATIVAN, a drug known to depress the respiratory system.

• Respiratory Therapy Supervisor - (" ...RT Supervisor confirmed according to the

vital signs documented in the record on 05/11/1 7 at 4:08 AM and 4:47 AM, the patient

was in respiratory distress and required an upgrade ofthe level ofcare. ") On more

than one occasion during the same hour, the patient required being upgraded to a

higher level of care, but wasn't upgraded. This note also indicates that during that

hour between 4:00 AM - 5 AM, no RN or CNA checked on the patient. This

contradicts other records and statements made by the RN and the CNA.

9. In my expert opinion, stated to a reasonable degree of medical probability, the failure to properly

diagnose the patient before she became acutely critical on 05/11/17, the failure of the healthcare

provider staff to adequately monitor the patient (also stated in the HHS-Investigative Report), the

failure to properly diagnose the patient, the failure to provide proper treatment (lacking review ofthe

patient's medications) and administering the drug (Ativan) several times IV-Push in a respiratory

compromised patient, inclusively & directly led to the patient's wrongful death. Additionally, there

were many other below Standard of Care violations as revealed and reported by the Department of

Health and Human Services. Nevada—Bureau of Health Care Quality and Compliance -

Investigation Report (Complaint Number - NV00049271) also related directly to Rebecca's Powell's

wrongful death.

6
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I declare, under penalty of petjury, that the foregoing is true and correct to die best of my knowledge

and belief. I reserve the right to change my opinions pending production and reviewofadditional medical

records.

Saroi Hashim, MD.Dr.

Dated:

Af
Sworn to me before this 7. "5 day

, 2019Iof

m.s\r ,

Notary Public

*Ti ii"*rMMTl^irf*Bi rfiti i*1!" Ai Am&xAeVS* *
BONNIE LEUNG

Notary Public • State of New York

NO. 01LS52S4261
Qualified in New York County .

\ My Comiwission Expires

7

49



EXHIBIT ‘B’

50



Case Number: A-19-788787-C

Electronically Filed
6/12/2019 11:19 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT

Electronically Filed

6/12/2019 11:19 AM

Steven D. Grierson

CLERK OF THE COURTi MTD
JOHN H. COTTON, ESQ.

Nevada Bar Number 52682

JHCotton@ihcottonlaw.com
3 BRAD SHIPLEY, ESQ.

Nevada Bar Number 12639

4 BShipleyr@,ihcottonlaw.com

JOHN H. COTTON & ASSOCIATES, LTD.

7900 West Sahara Avenue, Suite 200
r Las Vegas, Nevada 891 17
b Telephone: (702) 832-5909

Facsimile: (702) 832-5910
Attorneysfor Defendants Conrado Concio, M.D.,
and Dionice Juliano, M.D.
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9
DISTRICT COURT

10
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL, through HEARING REQUESTED
BRIAN POWELL, as Special Administrator;
DARCI CREECY, individually and as an Heir; CASE NO. : A-19-788787-C
TARYN CREECY, individually and as an DEPT. NO.: XIV
Heir; ISAIAH KHOSROF, individually and as
an Heir; LLOYD CREECY, individually,

Plaintiffs,

11
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14

15

DEFENDANT CONRADO CONCIO.
MP, AND DIONICE JULIANO. MP'S

MOTION TO DISMISS

vs.
16

VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC (doing
17

business as "Centennial Hills Hospital Medical
Center"), a foreign limited liability company;"on J

S r- 18
UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC., a

foreign corporation; DR. DIONICE S.
JULIANO, M.D., an individual; Dr.
CONRADO C.D. CONCIO, M.D., an
individual; DR. VISHAL S. SHAH, M.D., an

individual; DOES 1-10; and ROES A-Z;

HEARING REQUESTED43

19

20

21

Defendants.
22

Defendants Conrado Concio, MD, and Dionice Juliano, MD by and through their counsel
23

of record, John H. Cotton, Esq., and Brad J. Shipley, Esq., of the law firm of JOHN H. COTTON24

25 & ASSOCIATES, LTD, pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5), NRS 41A.097, and NRS 41 A.071 hereby

26 move to dismiss Plaintiffs' Complaint with respect to Defendants Conrado Concio, MD, and

27
Dionice Juliano, MD, as the action is barred by the applicable statute of limitations, and no

28

Case Number: A-19-788787-C
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1 allegations of negligence are made in the affidavit in support of the Complaint against Defendant

2 Dionice Juliano, MD.

3
Memorandum ofPoints andAuthorities

4
I. Introduction

5

This matter concerns the death of Rebecca Powell on May 1 1, 2017. No party takes the
6

death of a 42-year old woman lightly. Plaintiffs, the estate and heirs of Ms. Powell, allege
7

negligent infliction of emotional distress in addition to professional negligence. While8

9 Defendants contend that all of the care and treatment rendered was within the standard of care,

10 they need not argue the underlying merits of this case because Plaintiffs fail to overcome

11
important threshold procedural requirements that are necessary to protect Defendants'

12
s§
*3 cm t-
® i
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fundamental rights to due process.

13

Specifically, with respect to both Defendants, the statute of limitations has clearly long

§Jrf
14

passed, and the pleadings, even taken as true, necessitate such a finding as a matter of law. With

u^>
fflo 8

15

respect to Defendant Juliano, Plaintiffs have also failed to give him adequate notice of the16
a® J

17 allegations against him by failing to properly allege with any specificity in the required expert

18 affidavit what it actually is that he did that fell below the standard of care.

19
II. Facts as Alleged in Plaintiffs Complaint

20

1. On February 4, 2019, a Complaint was filed in the Eighth Judicial District Court, by the
21

Estate and heirs of Rebecca Powell, naming, inter alia, Defendants Conrado Concio, MD and
22

Dionice Juliano, MD. The Complaint alleges four causes of action: 1) Negligence/Medical23

Malpractice, 2) Wrongful Death, 3) Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress on behalf of24

25 Rebecca Powell's three adult children, and 4) Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress on

26
behalf of Rebecca Powell's surviving father. The action or actions alleged to form the basis of

27
III

28
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1 the negligent infliction of emotional distress claims are the same as those giving rise to the

2 professional negligence claim.

3
2. The Complaint alleges that Rebecca Powell died on May 1 1, 2017. The Complaint is

4
silent as to the date that Plaintiffs obtained the decedent's medical records. There is no allegation

5

^ that either Defendant Concio or Defendant Juliano concealed or delayed the receipt of decedent's

medical records.
7

3. An affidavit in support of the Complaint was attached, and executed by Dr. Sami8

9 Hashim, M.D. Dr. Hashim levels specific criticisms of the fact that the decedent received Ativan

10 on May 10 and 11, which he alleges contributed to her death. Dr. Hashim mentions specifically

11
that Dr. Shah and Dr. Concio administered Ativan to the decedent. Dr. Hashim states that "in my

(/}
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opinion, stated to a reasonable degree of medical probability, the conduct of Centennial Hills

13

Hospital & Medical Center (including its hospitalists/nurses and other healthcare providers
14

2 is a
©^ 8

including Dr. Juliano Dionice, (sic) M.D., Dr. C. Concio, MD, Dr. Vishal Shah - presumed
15

Wo a employees)—fell below the appropriate standards of care that were owed to Rebecca Powell."16

jq £
o^ 17 Dr. Hasim further states that "Dr. Dionice, Dr. Concio and Dr. Shah, in my expert opinion, each•"5

18
one breached their duty." While the affidavit does state, in conclusory fashion, that Defendant

19
Juliano breached his duty, it does not describe any specific acts that he did which support that

20

conclusion.
21

III. Legal Argument
22

NRCP 12(b)(5) provides for dismissal of actions for failure to state a claim upon which23

relief can be granted. In ruling on a Motion to Dismiss pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5), the Court24

25 must regard all factual allegations in the complaint as true and must draw all inferences in favor

26
of the non-moving party. See Schneider v. County ofElko, 1 19 Nev. 381, 75 P.3d 368 (2003).

27
Dismissal for failure to state a claim is appropriate when it appears beyond a doubt that the

28

53



plaintiff could prove no set of facts which, if true, would entitle him to relief. Buzz Stew, LLC v.1

2 City ofLas Vegas, 124 Nev. Adv. Op. 21, 181 P. 3d. 670, 672 (2008). To survive a motion to

3 .

dismiss for failure to state a claim, the complaint must set forth factual allegations sufficient to

4
establish each element necessary to recover under some actionable legal theory. See NRCP

5

12(b); See also Hampe v. Foote, 118 Nev. 405, 408, 47 P. 3d 438, 439 (2002) (although factual
6

^ allegations in the complaint are regarded as true for the purposes of a motion to dismiss, a

[dismissal is proper where the allegations are insufficient to establish the elements of a claim for8

9 relief).

10 Here, although Plaintiffs are entitled to have all allegations regarded as true for purposes

11
of this motion, each of Plaintiffs claims for relief as a matter of law, as will be explained in more

12

"8 <n t-

w "S On

* *7

detail below.
13

A. Pursuant to NRS 41A.071 any allegations of professional negligence against
14

Defendant Dionice Juliano fail as a matter of law.
I 15

W O e§ NRS 41A.071 imposes a threshold pleading requirement on Plaintiffs in actions for16
a ® J

o ^ 17 professional negligence. The statute reads:

18 If an action for professional negligence is filed in the district court,

the district court shall dismiss the action, without prejudice, if the

action is filed without an affidavit that: 1 . Supports the allegations

contained in the action; 2. Is submitted by a medical expert who

practices or has practiced in an area that is substantially similar to

the type of practice engaged in at the time of the alleged

professional negligence; 3. Identifies by name, or describes by

conduct, each provider of health care who is alleged to be

negligent; and 4. Sets forth factually a specific act or acts of

alleged negligence separately as to each defendant in simple,

concise and direct terms.

19

20

21

22

23

24

25 The Supreme Court of Nevada has discussed these four requirements, and specifically addressed

26
NRS 41A.071(3) and (4) in Zohar v. Zbiegien, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 74 (2014), noting that "the

27
district court in each instance should evaluate the factual allegations contained in both the

28
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1 affidavit and the medical malpractice complaint to determine whether the affidavit adequately

2 supports or corroborates the plaintiffs allegations." While Zohar, and NRS 41A.071(3) allow a

Plaintiff to submit an affidavit that describes a defendant's conduct without including his name,

NRS 41A.071(4) is explicit that merely naming an actor without describing his actions is

insufficient. A Plaintiff cannot meet this requirement merely by alleging in an affidavit in

4

5

6

^ conclusory fashion that a given Defendant breached the standard of care. The affidavit must

g specify "a specific act or acts of alleged negligence." NRS 41A.071(4).

Here, Plaintiff has failed to meet this burden with respect to Defendant Juliano. While it9

10 is true that the affidavit does mention twice, in paragraphs 6 and 7, that Defendant Juliano

11
(erroneously referred to as Juliano Dionice and Dr. Dionice), fell below the appropriate standard

t/5
Qj 12*2 o
W o

*3 <N i>
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a

of care, there is absolutely no reference whatsoever to what acts Defendant Juliano actually
13

undertook that justify this conclusion. As explained above, the affidavit must, at minimum,
14

© 4H of
C a &

©

allege some "specific act," and it simply does not, with respect to Defendant Juliano.
15

Wo t§ Accordingly, all allegations of professional negligence against Defendant Juliano must be16

o^ 17 dismissed, as they are void ab initio for failure to meet the requirements of NRS 41A.071.^5

18 B. Pursuant to NRS 41A.097, any allegations of professional negligence fail as a matter

19
of law.

20

In addition to the affidavit requirement set forth in NRS 41A.071, NRS 41A.097 imposes
21

a strict statute of limitations on actions for professional negligence. After October 1, 2002, "an
22

action for injury or death against a provider of health care may not be commenced more than 323

years after the date of injury or 1 year after the plaintiff discovers or through the use of24

25 reasonable diligence should have discovered the injury, whichever occurs first." NRS

26
41A.097(2).

27
III

28
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The Supreme Court of Nevada has clarified the "discovery rule" and what constitutes

2 discovery of an injury in professional negligence cases. Notably, while the Supreme Court held

3

unambiguously in Massey v. Litton, 99 Nev. 723 (1983) that a Plaintiff does not discover the

injury merely by virtue of the injury having happened, the Court further held in Pope v. Gray,

1

4

5

104 Nev. 358 (1988) that in cases of wrongful death, a Plaintiff has, as a matter of law,
6

^ "discovered" the injury just over four months after the death when Plaintiff had retained an

attorney and received medical records and the death certificate. Thus the Court was clear that8

9 while the death of a decedent alone does not automatically trigger the start of the discovery rule,

10 the unambiguous requirement that Plaintiff exercise reasonable diligence set forth in NRS

11
41A.097 cannot be rendered meaningless by a Plaintiff failure to seek or analyze relevant

Vi
QJ 12
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a &

records.

13

Here, the record is clear that Plaintiff cannot meet both burdens of exercising reasonable
14

1 13 3

H O c§

diligence in discovering the existence of the claim, and filing the complaint within a year of that
15

discovery. Even taking all of the allegations set forth in the Complaint as true, one of those16
a® ^
o ^ 17 requirements must be false. The decedent died on May 11, 2017. The Complaint was not filed

18 until February 4, 2019. Based on the date of the Complaint, in order for Plaintiffs' claims to

19
survive the statute of limitations, Plaintiffs must not have discovered their claim until after

20
February 4, 2018. Based on the almost eight months between the death of the decedent and the

21

last possible date of date of discovery, it is impossible that Plaintiffs could have exercised
22

reasonable diligence and yet not have discovered the claim until almost eight months later.23

Plaintiffs have not alleged that they exercised reasonable diligence in discovering the claim, and24

25 they have clearly not done so because it is absolutely implausible for Plaintiffs to allege that they

26
have, given the amount of time that has passed.

27
III

28
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Furthermore, while Plaintiffs will no doubt argue in opposition that the nature of the

2 decedent's death caused an exceptionally long delay in discovering the claim, Plaintiffs' own

3 . . .
allegations undermine this argument. While Plaintiff is entitled to factual deference on a motion

to dismiss, they also must be bound by the facts that they themselves alleged. The gravamen of

1

4

5

the Complaint is that the decedent was slowly improving before she suddenly and unexpectedly
6

turned for the worst and died. Accepting this allegation as true, Plaintiffs must be held to the
7

strictest timeframes possible under the discovery rule. Plaintiffs cannot simultaneously argue that8

9 the negligence here was so egregious as to warrant punitive damages but at the same time claim

10 that they had no indication whatsoever of the possible existence of a claim against any healthcare

11
providers until eight months after the sudden death of the decedent.

4> 12"Sg

"S'sa

*
a U.

Finally, to the extent that Plaintiff argues that the statute of limitations should somehow

13

be tolled, Plaintiffs fail to allege any concealment on the part of these moving Defendants. The
14

I -a a statute of limitations is therefore not subject to any tolling provision with respect to Defendant
15

Wort Juliano and Defendant Concio.16

JS 2^
17 C. The Wrongful Death Claim is subsumed within the Professional Negligence Claim,

18
therefore the NRS 41A.097 period of limitations applies to that claim as well.

19
Plaintiff will argue that NRS 11.1 90(4)(e) explicitly grant a two-year period of

20

limitations for actions for wrongful death. While it is true that NRS 11.190 does provide such a
21

two-year period, this does not change the fact that NRS 41A.097 explicitly imposes a one-year
22

period for all actions for "injury or death" caused by alleged professional negligence.23

It is clear from the complaint that the second claim is premised entirely on the same24

25 negligence alleged in the first claim. The one-year from discovery statute of limitations imposed

26
by NRS 41 A.097 therefore applies.

27
III

28
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This interpretation does not render any statutory language meaningless. The legislature

2 clearly intended to have two different limitations periods for wrongful death—one for those

1

3

claims premised upon a death occurring due to professional negligence, and another for those

4
based upon any other type of negligence. As the wrongful death alleged here clearly sounds in

5

professional negligence, the one-year discovery rule applies.
6

D. The Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress Claims fail as a matter of law.
7

Negligent infliction of emotional distress has four required elements: 1) The defendant8

9 negligently caused an accident or injury, 2) the plaintiff had a close familial relationship to the

10 injured person, 3) the plaintiff witnessed the injury, and 4) As a result of witnessing the injury,

11
the plaintiff suffered distress. Boorman v. Nevada Memorial Cremation Society, 126 Nev 301

Xfi
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(2010).

13

Plaintiffs have attempted to artfully plead their untimely professional negligence as any

a S3 ^
14

| la £
ft™. S3

W o c3

other tort in order to avoid the unfortunate reality that the statute of limitations bars all of their
15

claims. Because these claims are premised on exactly the same negligence that they will be16
flOJ

Ja 2}
o^ 17 unable to prove, as a matter of law, in the professional negligence claims, the negligent infliction>-s

18 of emotional distress claims are barred along with the professional negligence claims.

19
However, to the extent that this Court finds that such a claim can stand on its own

20

without Plaintiffs being able to prove the professional negligence they allege forms the basis for
21

the claim, this claim still fails as a matter of law because Plaintiff fails to plead any facts that
22

would satisfy the required elements.23

The facts, as plead by Plaintiffs, simply do not support any such claim. Plaintiffs must do24

25 more than allege conclusory statements reciting the required elements of the claim. Here, they

26
have failed to do even that, and in fact some allegations in the Complaint directly undermine

27
their claims.

28

58



Specifically, while the Complaint does not allege that the Plaintiffs were physically

2 present when the death of the decedent occurred, the affidavit in support does mention that when

1

3

the decedent appeared to be improving, "family returned to their homes out-of-state based on the

4
information they received." It is unclear which family exactly returned home, but each of the

5

Plaintiffs asserting Negligent Infliction of Emotional distress reside out of state, and none allege
6

^ that they actually witnessed the death of the decedent or any specific acts of negligence which

caused them distress. In the absence of the proper allegation, and in light of the clear evidence in8

9 the pleadings suggesting that these plaintiffs were in fact present at the time of the decedent's

10 death, the claims for negligent infliction of emotional distress fail, as a matter of law.

11
IV. Conclusion

t/5
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Despite the great deference given to Plaintiffs allegations of fact under Nevada law at this
13

early stage, Plaintiffs have failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. The
14

Oj3

S a S,
$

Complaint must be dismissed with respect to Dr. Concio and Dr. Juliano.
15

Wort Dated this 12th day of June, 2019.16
flgi-i
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Las Vegas, Nevada 891 17
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Case Number: A-19-788787-C

Electronically Filed
6/13/2019 11:51 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT

Electronically Filed

6/13/2019 11:51 AM

Steven D. Grierson

CLERK OF THE COU

JOIN
JOHN H. COTTON, ESQ.

1
i* fin. '

Nevada Bar Number 52682

JHCotton@ihcottonlaw.com

BRAD SHIPLEY, ESQ.

Nevada Bar Number 12639
3

4 BShiplev@ihcottonlaw.com

JOHN H. COTTON & ASSOCIATES, LTD.

7900 West Sahara Avenue, Suite 200

Las Vegas, Nevada 891 17
Telephone: (702) 832-5909
Facsimile: (702) 832-5910

5

6

7
Attorneys for Defendants Dionice S. Juliano, M.D.,

Conrado Concio, M.D. and Vishal S. Shah, M.D.
8

9 DISTRICT COURT

10 CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

11
ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL, through

BRIAN POWELL, as Special Administrator;

DARCI CREECY, individually and as an Heir; CASE NO.: A-19-788787-C

TARYN CREECY, individually and as an DEPT. NO.: XIV

Heir; ISAIAH KHOSROF, individually and as

an Heir; LLOYD CREECY, individually,

Plaintiffs,

12
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15

DEFENDANT VISHAL SHAH, MP'S

JOINDER TO DEFENDANTS

CONCIO AND JULIANO'S MOTION

vs.

ill
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16

VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC (doing
17 TO DISMISSbusiness as "Centennial Hills Hospital Medical

Center"), a foreign limited liability company;33 ° *7Ob hJ
c r- 18 UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC., a

foreign corporation; DR. DIONICE S.

JULIANO, M.D., an individual; Dr.

CONRADO C.D. CONCIO, M.D., an

individual; DR. VISHAL S. SHAH, M.D., an

individual; DOES 1-10; and ROES A-Z;

JS

19

20

21

Defendants.
22

Defendant Vishal Shah, MD, by and through his counsel of record, John H. Cotton, Esq.,

and Brad J. Shipley, Esq., of the law firm of John H. Cotton & Associates, LTD., hereby joins

Defendants Conrado Concio, MD and Dionice Juliano, MD's Motion to Dismiss, pursuant to

23

24

25

26 EDCR 2.20(d).

27
III

28

Case Number: A-19-788787-C
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Memorandum ofPoints andAuthorities

All of the arguments made on behalf of Defendants Concio and Juliano apply equally to

3

Defendant Shah. The statute of limitations has, as a matter of law, expired with respect to these

claims against Defendant Shah and therefore dismissal is appropriate pursuant to NRS 41A.097.

1

2

4

5

The wrongful death and negligent infliction of emotional distress claims similarly fail as a matter
6

^ of law, and Defendant Shah incorporates by reference and fully adopts the points and authorities

set forth therein, as if they had been fully articulated here.8

Defendant Shah does not join Defendant Juliano's arguments based upon NRS 41A.071,9

10 as those arguments are personal to Defendant Juliano, but nonetheless submits that all other

11
arguments are meritorious and the Court should therefore dismiss the Complaint on behalf of all
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three Defendants.

13

Dated this 13 th day of June.
14

JOHN H. COTTON & ASSOCIATES, LTD.

7900 West Sahara Avenue, Suite 200

Las Vegas, Nevada 891 17

15
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18

JOHN H. COTTON, ESQ.

BRAD SHIPLEY, ESQ.19

Attorneysfor Defendants Dionice S. Juliano, M.D.,
Conrado Concio, M.D. and Vishal S. Shah, M.D20
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I hereby certify that on the 13th day of June 2019, 1 served a true and correct copy of the2

3 foregoing DEFENDANT VISHAL SHAH, MD'S JOINDER TO DEFENDANTS CONCIO

4 .
AND JULIANO'S MOTION TO DISMISS by electronic means was submitted electronically

5
for filing and/or service with the Eighth Judicial District Court, made in accordance with the E-

6

Service List, to the following individuals:
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Paul S. Padda, Esq.
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MICHAEL E. PRANGLE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 8619 
ZACHARY J. THOMPSON, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 11001 
HALL PRANGLE & SCHOONVELD, LLC 
1160 North Town Center Drive, Ste. 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89144 
Phone: 702-889-6400 
Facsimile: 702-384-6025 
efile@hpslaw.com
Attorneys for Defendant 
Valley Health System, LLC, dba  
Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center 

DISTRICT COURT  

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL, through 
BRIAN POWELL, as Special Administrator; 
DARCI CREECY, individually and as an Heir; 
TARYN CREECY, individually and as an Heir; 
ISAIAH KHOSROF, individually and as an Heir; 
LLOYD CRRECY, individually; 

Plaintiffs, 
vs. 

VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC (doing 
business as “Centennial Hills Hospital Medical 
Center”), a foreign limited liability company; 
UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC., a 
foreign corporation; DR. DIONICE S. JULIANO, 
M.D., an individual; DR. CONRADO C.D. 
CONCIO, M.D., an individual; DR. VISHAL S. 
SHAH, M.D., an individual; DOES 1-10; and 
ROES A-Z; 

Defendants. 

CASE NO. A-19-788787-C

DEPT NO.   XIV 

DEFENDANT CENTENNIAL HILLS 
HOSPITAL’S MOTION TO DISMISS 
PLAINTIFFS’ COMPLAINT

HEARING REQUESTED 

COMES NOW, Defendant VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC dba Centennial Hills 

Hospital Medical Center (hereinafter referred to as “Centennial Hills Hospital”) by and through 

its attorneys HALL PRANGLE & SCHOONVELD, LLC and files this MOTION TO DISMISS 

PLAINTIFFS’ COMPLAINT. This Motion is made and based on the papers and pleadings on 

file herein, the points and authorities attached hereto and such argument of counsel which may  

. . . 

Case Number: A-19-788787-C

Electronically Filed
6/19/2019 1:17 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT

66



Page 2 of 12 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

H
A

L
L

 P
R

A
N

G
L

E
 &

S
C

H
O

O
N

V
E

L
D

,L
L

C
1

16
0

N
O

R
T

H
 T

O
W

N
 C

E
N

T
E

R
 D

R
IV

E
,S

T
E

.2
00

L
A

S
 V

E
G

A
S
,N

E
V

A
D

A
  8

91
4

4
T

E
L

E
P

H
O

N
E

:
70

2
-8

89
-6

40
0

F
A

C
S

IM
IL

E
:

7
02

-3
84

-6
02

5

be adduced at the time of the hearing on said Motion. 

DATED this 19th day of June, 2019. 
HALL PRANGLE & SCHOONVELD, LLC 

    By: /s/: Zachary Thompson, Esq
MICHAEL E. PRANGLE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 8619 
ZACHARY J. THOMPSON, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 11001 
1160 North Town Center Drive, Ste. 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89144 
Attorneys for Defendant 
Valley Health System, LLC, dba  
Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center 

NOTICE OF MOTION

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the undersigned will bring the foregoing DEFENDANT 

CENTENNIAL HILLS HOSPITAL’S MOTION TO DISMISS PLAINTIFFS’ 

COMPLAINT for hearing before the above entitled court on the ____ day of 

_________________, 2019 at the hour of  _____ a.m. in Department No. XIV, or as soon 

thereafter as counsel be heard. 

DATED this 19th day of June, 2019. 
HALL PRANGLE & SCHOONVELD, LLC 

    By: /s/: Zachary Thompson, Esq
MICHAEL E. PRANGLE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 8619 
ZACHARY J. THOMPSON, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 11001 
1160 North Town Center Drive, Ste. 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89144 
Attorneys for Defendant 
Valley Health System, LLC, dba  
Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center 
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. 

INTRODUCTION 

On February 4, 2019, the Estate of Rebecca Powell and individual heirs (collectively 

“Plaintiffs”) filed an untimely Complaint against Centennial Hills Hospital, Dionice Juliano, 

MD, Conrado Concio, MD, and Vishal Shah, MD (collectively “Defendants”), for alleged 

professional negligence/wrongful death arising out of the care and treatment Ms. Powell 

received at Centennial Hills Hospital. 1 See Complaint filed February 4, 2019.  Plaintiffs 

contend that Defendants breached standard of care by purportedly failing to recognize and 

consider drug-induced respiratory distress, allowing the administration of Ativan, and failing to 

otherwise treat or monitor Ms. Powell.  See Complaint at ¶ 28.   Plaintiffs allege that these 

deviations caused her death on May 11, 2017 and that they observed the alleged negligence.  See

Complaint at ¶ 29; see also Complaint at ¶¶ 41-56 (asserting shock as a result of the observance 

or contemporaneous witnessing of the alleged negligence).  Plaintiffs do not allege any negligent 

care, treatment, actions or inactions by Defendants after Ms. Powell’s death on May 11, 2017.   

Consequently, under the facts pled, the statute of limitations began to run on May 11, 2017. 

Although the statute of limitations began to run on May 11, 2017, Plaintiffs failed to file their 

Complaint until February 4, 2019, which is more than one year and eight months later.  Since 

Plaintiffs failed to file their Complaint within NRS 41A.097(2)’s one-year statute of limitations, 

Centennial Hills Hospital respectfully requests that Plaintiffs’ Complaint should be dismissed. 

II. 

STATEMENT OF ALLEGED FACTS 

Based upon the Complaint and the accompanying affidavit, Rebecca Powell overdosed 

on Benadryl, Cymbalta, and Ambien on May 3, 2017.2 See Complaint at ¶ 18.   Emergency 

1  The estate’s claims were purportedly brought through its Special Administrator, Plaintiff’s ex-husband Brian 
Powell.  However, the Complaint was filed before Mr. Powell, the patient’s ex-husband, submitted his Petition for 
Appointment of Special Administrator on February 21, 2019.   
2 For purposes this NRCP 12(b)(5) motion only, the Court must accept the allegations of Plaintiffs’ Complaint as 
true to determine whether Plaintiffs’ Complaint is legally sufficient. 
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medical services were called, and Ms. Powell was found unconscious with labored breathing and 

vomit on her face.  See Complaint at ¶ 18.   She was transported to Centennial Hills Hospital 

where she was admitted.  See Complaint at ¶ 18.  One week into her admission, on May 10, 

2017, Ms. Powell complained of shortness of breath, weakness, and a drowning feeling, and 

Vishal Shah, MD, ordered Ativan to be administered via IV push.  See Complaint at ¶ 21.  On 

May 11, 2017, Conrado Concio, MD, ordered two doses of Ativan via IV push.  See Complaint 

at ¶ 22.   To assess her complaints, a chest CT was ordered, but the providers were unable to 

obtain the chest CT due to Ms. Powell’s anxiety, and she was returned to her room.  See

Complaint at ¶ 22; see also Complaint, Ex. A at p. 3.  Ms. Powell was placed in a room with a 

camera monitor.  See Complaint at ¶ 22.  Pursuant to the doctor’s orders, a dose of Ativan was 

administered at 03:27.  See Complaint, Ex. A at p. 3.  Subsequently, Ms. Powell suffered acute 

respiratory failure, which resulted in her death on May 11, 2017.  See Complaint at ¶ 22.  

Plaintiffs observed the alleged negligence, her rapid deterioration, and the results of the alleged 

negligence.  See Complaint at ¶¶ 44-45, 52-53.  

On February 4, 2019, which was one year, eight months, and twenty-four days after Ms. 

Powell’s death, Plaintiffs filed the subject Complaint seeking relief under the following causes 

of action: 1) negligence/medical malpractice; 2) wrongful death pursuant to NRS 41.085; 3) 

negligent infliction of emotional distress on behalf of Darci, Taryn, and Isaiah; and 4) negligent 

infliction of emotional distress on behalf of Lloyd Creecy.  Plaintiffs included the Affidavit of 

Sami Hashim, MD, which sets forth alleged breaches of the standard of care.   Plaintiffs’ claims 

sound in professional negligence, which subjects the claims to NRS 41A.097(2)’s one-year 

statute of limitations requirement.  Since Plaintiffs failed to file their Complaint within one-year 

after they discovered or through the use of reasonable diligence should have discovered the 

injury, Plaintiffs failed to timely file their Complaint, which necessitated the instant motion.  See

NRS 41A.097(2).   

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

69



Page 5 of 12 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

H
A

L
L

 P
R

A
N

G
L

E
 &

S
C

H
O

O
N

V
E

L
D

,L
L

C
1

16
0

N
O

R
T

H
 T

O
W

N
 C

E
N

T
E

R
 D

R
IV

E
,S

T
E

.2
00

L
A

S
 V

E
G

A
S
,N

E
V

A
D

A
  8

91
4

4
T

E
L

E
P

H
O

N
E

:
70

2
-8

89
-6

40
0

F
A

C
S

IM
IL

E
:

7
02

-3
84

-6
02

5

III. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b) provides for dismissal of a cause of action for the 

“failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.”  See NRCP 12(b)(5).  A motion to 

dismiss tests the legal sufficiency of the claim set out against the moving party.  See Zalk-

Josephs Co. v. Wells-Cargo, Inc., 81 Nev. 163, 400 P.2d 621 (1965).  Dismissal is appropriate 

where a plaintiff’s allegations “are insufficient to establish the elements of a claim for relief.”  

Hampe v. Foote, 118 Nev. 405, 408, 47 P.3d 438, 439 (2002), overruled in part on other 

grounds by Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of N. Las Vegas, 124 Nev. 224, 228, 181 P.3d 670, 672 

(2008).  To survive dismissal under NRCP 12, a complaint must contain “facts, which if true, 

would entitle the plaintiff to relief.”  Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of N. Las Vegas, 124 Nev. 224, 228, 

181 P.3d 670, 672 (2008).  Hence, in analyzing the validity of a claim the court is to accept 

plaintiff’s factual allegations “as true and draw all inferences in the Plaintiff’s favor.”  Id.

Nevertheless, the court is not bound to accept as true a plaintiff’s legal conclusions, and 

“[t]hreadbare recitals of the elements of a cause of action, supported by mere conclusory 

statements, do not suffice.” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678, 129 S. Ct. 1937 (2009) 

(analyzing the federal counterpart to NRCP 12).  Moreover, the court may not take into 

consideration matters outside of the pleading being attacked.  Breliant v. Preferred Equities 

Corp., 109 Nev. 842, 847, 858 P.2d 1258, 1261 (1993).  

IV. 

ARGUMENT 

A. Plaintiffs’ Claims Sounds in Professional Negligence/Wrongful Death and Are 
Subject to NRS 41A.097(2)’s One-Year Statute of Limitations. 

NRS 41A.097(2) provides the statute of limitations for injuries or the wrongful death of a 

person based upon an alleged error or omission in practice by a provider of health care or based 

upon the alleged “professional negligence” of the provider of health care. See NRS 

41A.097(2)(a)-(c) (applying to actions for injury or death against a provider of health care 

70



Page 6 of 12 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

H
A

L
L

 P
R

A
N

G
L

E
 &

S
C

H
O

O
N

V
E

L
D

,L
L

C
1

16
0

N
O

R
T

H
 T

O
W

N
 C

E
N

T
E

R
 D

R
IV

E
,S

T
E

.2
00

L
A

S
 V

E
G

A
S
,N

E
V

A
D

A
  8

91
4

4
T

E
L

E
P

H
O

N
E

:
70

2
-8

89
-6

40
0

F
A

C
S

IM
IL

E
:

7
02

-3
84

-6
02

5

“based upon alleged professional negligence of the provider of health care” or “from error or 

omission in practice by the provider of health care).   

To determine whether a plaintiff’s claim sounds in “professional negligence,” the Court 

should look to the gravamen of the claim to determine the character of the action, not the form 

of the pleadings.   See Szymborski v. Spring Mountain Treatment Ctr., 403 P.3d 1280, 1285 

(Nev. 2017) (“Therefore, we must look to the gravamen or ‘substantial point or essence’ of each 

claim rather than its form to see whether each individual claim is for medical malpractice or 

ordinary negligence.”) (quoting Estate of French, 333 S.W.3d at 557 (citing Black’s Law 

Dictionary 770 (9th ed. 2009))); see also Lewis v. Renown, 432 P.3d 201 (Nev. 2018) 

(recognizing that the Court had to look to the gravamen of each claim rather than its form to 

determine whether the claim sounded in professional negligence);  Andrew v. Coster, 408 P.3d 

559 (Nev. 2017), cert. denied, 138 S. Ct. 2634, 201 L. Ed. 2d 1037 (2018); see generally Egan v. 

Chambers, 299 P.3d 364, 366 n. 2 (Nev.2013) (citing State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. 

Wharton, 88 Nev. 183, 495 P.2d 359, 361 (1972)); see also Brown v. Mt. Grant Gen. Hosp., No. 

3:12-CV-00461-LRH, 2013 WL 4523488, at *8 (D. Nev. Aug. 26, 2013).   

A claim sounds in “professional negligence” if the claim arises out of “the failure of a 

provider of health care, in rendering services, to use the reasonable care, skill or knowledge 

ordinarily used under similar circumstances by similarly trained and experienced providers of 

health care.”  NRS 41A.015.   A “provider of health care” includes, in pertinent part, a 

physician, a nurse, and a licensed hospital.  See NRS 41A.017.  Consequently, if a plaintiff’s 

claim arises out of the alleged failure of a physician, nurse, and/or hospital to use reasonable 

care, skill, or knowledge, used by other similarly trained and experienced providers, in rendering 

services to the patient, the plaintiff’s claim sounds in professional negligence.   

Generally, “[a]llegations of breach of duty involving medical judgment, diagnosis, or 

treatment indicate that a claim is for medical malpractice.”  Szymborski., 403 P.3d at 1284 

(citing Papa v. Brunswick Gen. Hosp., 132 A.D.2d 601, 517 N.Y.S.2d 762, 763 (1987) (“When 

the duty owing to the plaintiff by the defendant arises from the physician-patient relationship or 

is substantially related to medical treatment, the breach thereof gives rise to an action sounding 
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5

in medical malpractice as opposed to simple negligence.”); Estate of French v. Stratford House, 

333 S.W.3d 546, 555 (Tenn. 2011) (“If the alleged breach of duty of care set forth in the 

complaint is one that was based upon medical art or science, training, or expertise, then it is a 

claim for medical malpractice.”)); see also Lewis v. Renown Reg'l Med. Ctr., 432 P.3d 201 (Nev. 

2018) (holding that Plaintiffs’ elder abuse claim under NRS 41.1495 sounded in professional 

negligence where it involved alleged failures to check on the patient while under monitoring).   

For example, in Lewis v. Renown, the Nevada Supreme Court recognized that a claim for 

elder abuse arising out of alleged failure to properly check or monitor a patient or otherwise 

provide adequate care sounded in professional negligence.   See generally Lewis v. Renown , 432 

P.3d 201 (Nev. 2018).   Since the gravamen of Plaintiff’s claim was professional negligence, the 

Court affirmed the District Court’s dismissal of the elder abuse claim on statute of limitations 

grounds.  Id.  In reaching this holding, the Court reasoned as follows: 

In Szymborski we considered the distinction between claims for medical 
negligence and claims for ordinary negligence against a healthcare provider in the 
context of the discharge and delivery by taxi of a disturbed patient to his 
estranged father’s house, without notice or warning. Id. at 1283-1284. In contrast 
to allegations of a healthcare provider’s negligent performance of nonmedical 
services, “[a]llegations of [a] breach of duty involving medical judgment, 
diagnosis, or treatment indicate that a claim is for [professional negligence].” Id. 
at 1284. The gravamen of Lewis’ claim for abuse and neglect is that Renown 
failed to adequately care for Sheila by failing to monitor her. Put differently, 
Renown breached its duty to provide care to Sheila by failing to check on her 
every hour per the monitoring order in place. We are not convinced by Lewis’ 
arguments that a healthcare provider’s failure to provide care to a patient presents 
a claim distinct from a healthcare provider’s administration of substandard care; 
both claims amount to a claim for professional negligence where it involves a 
“breach of duty involving medical judgment, diagnosis, or treatment.” Id. Lewis’ 
allegations that Renown failed to check on Sheila while she was under a 
monitoring order necessarily involve a claim for a breach of duty in the 
administration of medical treatment or judgment. Thus, we affirm the district 
court’s dismissal of Lewis’ claims against Renown because his claim for abuse 
and neglect sounds in professional negligence and is time barred pursuant to NRS 
41A.097(2). 

Id. (emphasis added).   

Similarly, in this case, Plaintiffs’ claims for negligence/medical malpractice pursuant to 

NRS 41A, wrongful death pursuant to NRS 41.05, and negligent infliction of emotion distress, 

all sound in professional negligence.  Plaintiffs’ first cause of action for negligence/medical 

72



Page 8 of 12 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

H
A

L
L

 P
R

A
N

G
L

E
 &

S
C

H
O

O
N

V
E

L
D

,L
L

C
1

16
0

N
O

R
T

H
 T

O
W

N
 C

E
N

T
E

R
 D

R
IV

E
,S

T
E

.2
00

L
A

S
 V

E
G

A
S
,N

E
V

A
D

A
  8

91
4

4
T

E
L

E
P

H
O

N
E

:
70

2
-8

89
-6

40
0

F
A

C
S

IM
IL

E
:

7
02

-3
84

-6
02

5

malpractice is explicitly one for professional negligence subject to NRS 41A and is based upon 

the report from Sami Hashim, MD.  See Complaint at ¶¶ 26-33 and Dr. Hashim’s Aff.  

Plaintiffs’ second cause of action is based upon the same alleged failures to provide medical 

services below the applicable standard of care and the same affidavit from Dr. Hashim.  See

Complaint at ¶¶ 34-40.  Plaintiffs’ third and fourth causes of action for negligent infliction of 

emotional distress are also based upon the same alleged deviations in the standard of care and 

the same affidavit as the professional negligence claim.  See Complaint at ¶¶ 41-48; 49-56.  As a 

result, it is clear Plaintiffs’ claims sound in professional negligence or that the gravamen of their 

claims is professional negligence.  Consequently, Plaintiffs’ claims are necessarily subject to 

NRS 41A.097(2)’s statute of limitations.   

B. Plaintiffs’ Complaint Should be Dismissed Because it was Filed After the One-Year 
Statute of Limitations Expired. 

Pursuant to NRS 41A.097(2), an action for injury or death against a provider of health 

care may not be commenced more than one year after the plaintiff discovers or through the use 

of reasonable diligence should have discovered the injury of a person based upon alleged 

professional negligence and/or from an error or omission by a provider of health care.  See NRS 

41A.097(2).  “A plaintiff ‘discovers’ his injury when ‘he knows or, through the use of 

reasonable diligence, should have known of facts that would put a reasonable person on inquiry 

notice of his cause of action.’” Eamon v. Martin, No. 67815, 2016 WL 917795, at *1 (Nev. App. 

Mar. 4, 2016) (quoting Massey v. Litton, 99 Nev. 723, 728, 669 P.2d 248, 252 (1983)). “A 

person is placed on ‘inquiry notice’ when he or she ‘should have known of facts that would lead 

an ordinarily prudent person to investigate the matter further.’” Id. (quoting Winn v. Sunrise 

Hosp. & Med. Ctr., 128 Nev. 246, 252, 277 P.3d 458, 462 (2012) (internal quotations marks 

omitted)).  “This does not mean that the accrual period begins when the plaintiff discovers the 

precise facts pertaining to his legal theory, but only to the general belief that someone's  

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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negligence may have cause[d] the injury.” Id.3  “Thus, the plaintiff ‘discovers’ the injury when 

‘he had facts before him that would have led an ordinarily prudent person to investigate further 

into whether [the] injury may have been caused by someone's negligence.’” Id. (quoting Winn, 

128 Nev. at 252, 277 P.3d at 462).   

The date on which the one-year statute of limitation begins to run may be decided as a 

matter of law where uncontroverted facts establish the accrual date.  See Golden v. Forage, No. 

72163, 2017 WL 4711619, at *1 (Nev. App. Oct. 13, 2017) (“The date on which the one-year 

statute of limitation began to run is ordinarily a question of fact for the jury, and may be decided 

as a matter of law only where the uncontroverted facts establish the accrual date.”) (citing Winn 

v. Sunrise Hosp. & Med. Ctr., 128 Nev. 246, 251, 277 P.3d 458, 462 (2012) (recognizing that 

the district court may determine the accrual date as a matter of law where the accrual date is 

properly demonstrated)); see also Dignity Health v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court of State, ex rel. 

Cty. of Clark, No. 66084, 2014 WL 4804275, at *2 (Nev. Sept. 24, 2014). 

If the Court finds that the plaintiff failed to commence an action against a provider of 

health care before the expiration of the statute of limitations under NRS 41A.097, the Court may 

properly dismiss the Complaint pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5).  See, e.g., Egan ex rel. Egan v. 

Adashek, No. 66798, 2015 WL 9485171, at *2 (Nev. App. Dec. 16, 2015) (affirming district 

court’s dismissal of action under NRCP 12(b)(5) where the plaintiff failed to file within the 

statute of limitations set forth in NRS 41A.087); Rodrigues v. Washinsky, 127 Nev. 1171, 373 

P.3d 956 (2011) (affirming district court’s decision granting motion to dismiss the plaintiffs’ 

claims for failure to comply with NRS 41A.097); Domnitz v. Reese, 126 Nev. 706, 367 P.3d 764 

(2010) (affirming district court’s decision dismissing plaintiff’s claim after finding that plaintiff 

had been placed on inquiry notice prior to one year before his complaint was filed and that the 

statute of limitations had expired pursuant to NRS 41A.97(2)).   

/ / / 

3  Similarly, this does not mean that the accrual period begins when the Plaintiff becomes aware of the precise 
causes of action he or she may pursue.  Golden v. Forage, No. 72163, 2017 WL 4711619, at *1 (Nev. App. Oct. 13, 
2017) (“The plaintiff need not be aware of the precise causes of action he or she may ultimately pursue.”). 
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In this case, NRS 41A.097(2)’s one-year statute of limitations began to run on the date of 

Ms. Powell’s death (May 11, 2017).   Per the Complaint, the individually named Plaintiffs, 

including Darci Creecy, Taryn Creecy, Isaiah Creecy, and Lloyd Creecy, contemporaneously 

observed the alleged negligence and Ms. Powell’s rapid deterioration leading up to her death on 

May 11, 2017.  See Complaint at ¶ 20 (died on May 11, 2017); see also Complaint at ¶¶ 45-46 

and 52-53 (allegedly contemporaneously observing Ms. Powell rapidly deteriorate and die).  

In fact, such contemporary observance of the alleged negligence is an element of 

Plaintiffs’ claims for negligent infliction of emotional distress.  In order to establish negligent 

infliction of emotional distress under Nevada law, a plaintiff must generally show that he or she 

was a bystander, who is closely related to the victim of an accident, be located near the scene of 

such accident and suffer “shock” that caused emotional distress resulting from the “observance 

or contemporaneous sensory of the accident.”  State v. Eaton, 101 Nev. 705, 714, 710 P.2d 

1370, 1376 (1985) (allowing recovery for negligent infliction of emotional distress to witness of 

car accident in which the plaintiff’s baby daughter was killed); see also Grotts v. Zahner, 989 

P.2d 912, 920 (Nev. 1999).  “[R]ecovery may not be had under this cause of action, for the ‘grief 

that may follow from the [injury] of the related accident victim.’”  Eaton, at 714, 710 P.2d at 

1376.  In fact, in cases where emotional distress damages are not secondary to physical injuries, 

“proof of ‘serious emotional distress’ causing physical injury or illness must be presented.”

Olivero v. Lowe, 116 Nev. 395, 399-405 (Nev. 2000).   

Since Plaintiffs allege that they contemporaneously observed the alleged negligence and 

deterioration of Ms. Powell leading up to her death, the Plaintiffs knew, or should have known, 

of facts that would put a reasonably person on inquiry notice by May 11, 2017.   Plaintiffs were 

aware of facts that would lead an ordinarily prudent person to investigate the matter further at 

that time.  Under Nevada law, Plaintiffs did not have to know precise facts or legal theories for 

their claims; rather, they only needed to be placed on inquiry notice.   Here, under the facts 

alleged in the Complaint, Plaintiffs were placed on inquiry notice because they were aware of 

facts that would lead an ordinarily prudent person to investigate the matter further.    

/ / / 
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Given this, the one-year statute of limitations under NRS 41A.097(2) began to run on 

May 11, 2017.  Thus, Plaintiffs were required to file their Complaint by May 11, 2018.  

Plaintiffs failed to file their Complaint until February 4, 2019.  Since Plaintiffs failed to file their 

Complaint within the one-year statute of limitations provided by NRS 41A.097(2), Plaintiffs’ 

Complaint was untimely.  Therefore, the Centennial Hills Hospital respectfully requests that this 

Court dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint in its entirety with prejudice.   

V.

CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing, Centennial Hills Hospital respectfully requests that this Court 

dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint with prejudice. 

DATED this 19th day of June, 2019. 
HALL PRANGLE & SCHOONVELD, LLC  

    By: /s/: Zachary Thompson, Esq
MICHAEL E. PRANGLE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 8619 
ZACHARY J. THOMPSON, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 11001 
1160 N. Town Center Dr., Ste. 100 
Las Vegas, NV  89144 
Attorneys for Defendant 
Valley Health System, LLC, dba  
Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center 

AFFIRMATION 
Pursuant to NRS 239B.030 

The undersigned does affirm that the preceding document does not contain the Social 

Security Number of any person.  

DATED this 19th day of June, 2019. 
HALL PRANGLE & SCHOONVELD, LLC  

    By: /s/: Zachary Thompson, Esq._______ 
MICHAEL E. PRANGLE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 8619 
ZACHARY J. THOMPSON, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 11001 
1160 N. Town Center Dr., Ste. 100 
Las Vegas, NV  89144 
Attorneys for Defendant 
Valley Health System, LLC, dba  
Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that I am an employee of HALL PRANGLE & SCHOONVELD, 

LLC; that on the 19th day of June, 2019, I served a true and correct copy of the foregoing 

DEFENDANT CENTENNIAL HILLS HOSPITAL’S MOTION TO DISMISS 

PLAINTIFFS’ COMPLAINT as follows:

   X    the E-Service Master List for the above referenced matter in the Eighth Judicial District 

Court e-filing System in accordance with the electronic service requirements of Administrative 

Order 14-2 and the Nevada Electronic Filing and Conversion Rules;

_____ U.S. Mail, first class postage pre-paid to the following parties at their last known address; 

_____ Receipt of Copy at their last known address: 

Paul Padda, Esq. 
Joshua Y, Ang, Esq. 
PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC 
4560 South Decatur Blvd., Suite 300 
Las Vegas, NV 89103 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

John H. Cotton, Esq. 
Brad Shipley, Esq. 
JOHN H. COTTON & ASSOCIATES, LTD. 
7900 West Sahara Avenue, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, NV 89117 
Attorneys for Defendants Dionice S. Juliano, 
M.D., Conrado Concio, M.D. and Vishal S. 
Shah, M.D.

/s/ Reina Claus 
An employee of HALL PRANGLE & SCHOONVELD, LLC 
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JOIN 
MICHAEL E. PRANGLE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 8619 
ZACHARY J. THOMPSON, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 11001 
HALL PRANGLE & SCHOONVELD, LLC 
1160 North Town Center Drive, Ste. 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89144 
Phone: 702-889-6400 
Facsimile: 702-384-6025 
efile@hpslaw.com
Attorneys for Defendant 
Valley Health System, LLC, dba  
Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center 

DISTRICT COURT  

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL, through 
BRIAN POWELL, as Special Administrator; 
DARCI CREECY, individually and as an Heir; 
TARYN CREECY, individually and as an Heir; 
ISAIAH KHOSROF, individually and as an Heir; 
LLOYD CRRECY, individually; 

Plaintiffs, 
vs. 

VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC (doing 
business as “Centennial Hills Hospital Medical 
Center”), a foreign limited liability company; 
UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC., a 
foreign corporation; DR. DIONICE S. JULIANO, 
M.D., an individual; DR. CONRADO C.D. 
CONCIO, M.D., an individual; DR. VISHAL S. 
SHAH, M.D., an individual; DOES 1-10; and 
ROES A-Z; 

Defendants. 

CASE NO. A-19-788787-C

DEPT NO.   XIV 

DEFENDANT CENTENNIAL HILLS 
HOSPITAL’S JOINDER TO 
DEFENDANTS CONRADO 
CONCIO, MD, AND DIONICE 
JULIANO, MD’S MOTION TO 
DISMISS  

Hearing Date: July 30, 2019 
Hearing Time: 9:30 am 

COMES NOW, Defendant VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC dba Centennial Hills 

Hospital Medical Center (hereinafter referred to as “Centennial Hills Hospital”) by and through 

its attorneys HALL PRANGLE & SCHOONVELD, LLC, and hereby submits its Joinder to 

Defendants Conrado Concio, MD, and Dionice Juliano, MD’s Motion to Dismiss.  

Centennial Hills Hospital hereby adopts, as though fully set forth herein, the points and 

authorities, arguments and papers contained in Defendants Conrado Concio, MD, and Dionice 

Case Number: A-19-788787-C

Electronically Filed
6/26/2019 9:02 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT

79Docket 82250   Document 2020-46242
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Juliano, MD’s Motion to Dismiss (“Motion to Dismiss”) to the extent that the arguments apply 

equally to Centennial Hills Hospital. 

This joinder is made and based upon the attached Memorandum of Points and 

Authorities, the pleadings and papers on file herein, and any oral argument of counsel at the time 

of hearing in this matter. 

DATED this 26th day of June, 2019. 
HALL PRANGLE & SCHOONVELD, LLC 

    By: /s/: Zachary Thompson, Esq
MICHAEL E. PRANGLE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 8619 
ZACHARY J. THOMPSON, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 11001 
1160 North Town Center Drive, Ste. 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89144 
Attorneys for Defendant 
Valley Health System, LLC, dba  
Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that I am an employee of HALL PRANGLE & SCHOONVELD, 

LLC; that on the 26th day of June, 2019, I served a true and correct copy of the foregoing 

DEFENDANT CENTENNIAL HILLS HOSPITAL’S JOINDER TO DEFENDANTS 

CONRADO CONCIO, MD, AND DIONICE JULIANO, MD’S MOTION TO DISMISS as 

follows:

   X    the E-Service Master List for the above referenced matter in the Eighth Judicial District 

Court e-filing System in accordance with the electronic service requirements of Administrative 

Order 14-2 and the Nevada Electronic Filing and Conversion Rules;

_____ U.S. Mail, first class postage pre-paid to the following parties at their last known address; 

_____ Receipt of Copy at their last known address: 

Paul Padda, Esq. 
Joshua Y, Ang, Esq. 
PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC 
4560 South Decatur Blvd., Suite 300 
Las Vegas, NV 89103 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

John H. Cotton, Esq. 
Brad Shipley, Esq. 
JOHN H. COTTON & ASSOCIATES, LTD. 
7900 West Sahara Avenue, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, NV 89117 
Attorneys for Defendants Dionice S. Juliano, 
M.D., Conrado Concio, M.D. and Vishal S. 
Shah, M.D.

/s/ Reina Claus 
An employee of HALL PRANGLE & SCHOONVELD, LLC 
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OPPS 

PAUL S. PADDA, ESQ. (NV Bar #10417)  

Email: psp@paulpaddalaw.com 

SUNEEL J. NELSON, ESQ. (NV 

JOSHUA Y. ANG, ESQ. (NV Bar #14026) 

Email: ja@paulpaddalaw.com 

PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC 

4560 South Decatur Boulevard, Suite 300 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89103 

Tele: (702) 366-1888 

Fax: (702) 366-1940 

 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
 

IN THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 

ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL, through  

BRIAN POWELL, as Special Administrator; 

DARCI CREECY, individually and as an Heir;  

TARYN CREECY, individually and as an Heir; 

ISAIAH KHOSROF, individually and as an 

Heir; LLOYD CREECY, individually, 

 

                               Plaintiffs, 

 

 vs.  

 

VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC (doing 

business as "Centennial Hills Hospital Medical 

Center"), a foreign limited liability company; 

UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC., a 

foreign corporation; DR. DIONICE S. 

JULIANO, M.D., an individual; Dr. 

CONRADO C.D. CONCIO, M.D., an 

individual; DR. VISHAL S. SHAH, M.D., an 

individual; DOES 1-10; and ROES A-Z; 

                                                                                       

                                          Defendants. 

CASE NO.:     A-19-788787-C 

DEPT. NO.:    XIV 

 

 

 

 

 

PLAINTIFFS’ OPPOSITION TO 

MOTION TO DISMISS FILED BY 

DEFENDANTS DR. CONRADO C.D. 

CONCIO, M.D. AND DR. DIONICE S. 

JULIANO, M.D. 

 

 

 

Case Number: A-19-788787-C

Electronically Filed
8/13/2019 11:58 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT

83



 

 2 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

P
A

U
L

 P
A

D
D

A
 L

A
W

, 
P

L
L

C
 

4
5

6
0

 S
o

u
th

 D
ec

a
tu

r 
B

o
u

le
v

a
rd

, 
S

u
it

e 
3

0
0

 

L
a

s 
V

eg
a

s,
 N

ev
a

d
a

 8
9

1
0

3
 

T
el

e:
 (

7
0

2
) 

3
6

6
-1

8
8

8
 •

 F
a
x

 (
7
0

2
) 

3
6

6
-1

9
4
0
 

I.  INTRODUCTION 

Pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5), Defendants Dr. Conrado C.D. Concio, M.D. (“Dr. Concio”), 

and Dr. Dionice S. Juliano, M.D. (“Dr. Juliano”), and Defendant Centennial Hills Hospital have 

filed motions advocating dismissal of Plaintiffs’ lawsuit in which Plaintiffs assert claims for 

wrongful death, professional negligence, and negligent infliction of emotional distress arising 

from the tragic death of 42-year-old Rebecca Powell while she was in the Defendants’ care at 

Centennial Hills Hospital on May 11, 2017.    

Specifically, Defendants argue that dismissal of Plaintiffs’ claims is necessary because: 

(a) as to Dr. Juliano, the Plaintiffs’ affidavit of merit does not satisfy the “threshold pleading 

requirements” of NRS 41A.071 because, in violation of subsection (4) of the statute, the affidavit 

contains “absolutely no reference whatsoever to what Defendant Juliano actually undertook that 

[fell below the appropriate standard of care]” (Dr. Juliano’s Mot. 5:12-14); (b) as to each and all 

of the Defendants, Plaintiffs’ claims based upon professional negligence are time-barred under 

the one-year limitations period provided by NRS 41A.097;  and, (c) Plaintiffs’ wrongful death 

claims are also time-barred because they should be “subsumed within their professional 

negligence claims” and therefore also subject to NRS 41A.097’s one-year limitations period 

rather than NRS 11.190(4)(e)’s two-year limitations period for actions for wrongful death.  

As Plaintiffs demonstrate below, none of Defendants’ foregoing arguments provides 

grounds for dismissal under NRCP 12(b)(5), either in whole or in any part,  because: (1) as to Dr. 

Juliano, Plaintiff’s “affidavit of merit” specifically identifies acts deviating from the standard of 

care as required under NRS 41A.071(4); (2) Plaintiffs allege sufficient facts concerning when 

they had “inquiry notice” of their professional negligence claims, and Defendants’ concealment 

of relevant facts, such that the Court cannot find as a matter of law, based upon “uncontroverted 
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facts,”  that Plaintiffs’ claims are untimely under NRS 41A.097; and (3) Defendants fail to present 

any legal authority for their contention that the Court should consider Plaintiffs’ wrongful death 

claims to be “subsumed within their professional negligence claims,” and therefore subject to 

NRS 41A.097’s one-year statute of limitations rather than NRS 11.190(4)(e)’s two-year 

limitations period for actions for wrongful death.  

II.  ANALYSIS 

A. Motions to Dismiss Pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5), Generally 

Defendants’ motions to dismiss are brought pursuant to Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure 

(“NRCP”) 12(b)(5).  Under the standard applicable to that Rule, this Court’s decision will be 

“subject to a rigorous standard of review on appeal” in keeping with the Nevada Supreme Court’s 

policy favoring having cases adjudicated on the merits.  See Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of North Las 

Vegas, 124 Nev. 224, 227-28 (2008).  In reviewing and considering Dr. Concio and Dr. Juliano’s 

motion, the Court must accept all factual allegations in Plaintiffs’ complaint as true and draw all 

inferences in their favor.  Id.  Plaintiffs’ complaint can only be dismissed under NRCP 12(b)(5) 

“if it appears beyond a doubt that [Plaintiffs] could prove no set of facts, which, if true, would 

entitle [them] to relief.”  Id.1  This leniency is also applicable to any arguments invoking the NRS 

41A.071 affidavit requirement. “…[B]ecause NRS 41A.071 governs the threshold requirements 

for initial pleadings in medical malpractice cases, not the ultimate trial of such matters, we must 

liberally construe this procedural rule of pleading in a manner that is consistent with our NRCP 

12 jurisprudence.” Borger v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court ex rel. County of Clark, 120 Nev. 1021, 

1028 (2004). 

 
1 Emphasis supplied.   
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 Under the very high standard required for dismissal under NRCP 12(b)(5), Defendants 

bear the burden of persuasion.  See Blackjack Bonding v. Las Vegas Municipal Court, 116 Nev. 

1213, 1217 (2000) (the appropriate standard requires a showing by the moving party of “beyond 

a doubt”).   

B. Plaintiffs Satisfy NRS 41A.071(4)’s Requirements as to Dr. Juliano’s 

Professional Negligence.  

 

Dr. Juliano seeks dismissal of the professional negligence claims asserted against him, 

arguing that the expert affidavit of Dr. Sami Hashim, M.D. (“Dr. Hashim”), attached to Plaintiff’s 

complaint in accordance with NRS 41A.071(4), does not sufficiently “set[] forth factually a 

specific act or acts of alleged negligence separately as to each [Dr. Juliano] in simple, concise 

and direct terms.”  See NRS 41A.071(4). Examination of Dr. Hashim’s affidavit reveals, however, 

that Dr. Juliano’s specific acts of negligence, like those of Dr. Concio and Dr. Shah, are identified 

with clarity there.  Indeed, Dr. Hashim devotes the better part of two pages identifying and 

describing, in detail, the “breach[es] of duty” committed by the three physician-defendants, 

including Dr. Juliano during a two-day period from May 10th to May 11th, 2017, when they were 

responsible for Rebecca Powell’s care as her condition worsened and she ultimately died. (See 

Dr. Hashim’s Supporting Affidavit, ¶7.) As but one example of the several breaches described in 

that section, Dr. Hashim describes that:  

Without consideration of the probable drug side effects, adverse reactions and 

interactions, which were most probably directly related to the patient's acute 

symptoms, [Dr. Juliano, Dr. Concio and Dr. Shah] ignored even the possibility 

that her medications might be the cause of her symptoms & declining health status. 

Consequently, not one of the three physicians aforementioned even placed drug(s) 

side effects/adverse reactions on anv differential diagnosis. 

 

(Id., at pg. 8, ¶7A.)  Dr. Hashim’s specific attribution of malpractice to Dr. Juliano is plain, and 

Dr. Juliano’s argument that he his acts of negligence have not been identified with sufficient 
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specificity in Plaintiffs’ affidavit of merit fails.  Further, in light of the Nevada Supreme Court’s 

directive to liberally construe NRS 41A.071’s requirements in a manner consistent with our 

NRCP 12 jurisprudence, any ambiguity or uncertainty (though Plaintiffs maintain that there is 

none) must be resolved in favor of Plaintiffs. See Borger, 120 Nev. at 1028 and See Buzz Stew, 

LLC, 124 Nev. at 227-8.  To the extent that Dr. Hashim’s attribution of malpractice to Dr. Juliano 

is at all vague—though it is not—his affidavit, liberally construed, still passes muster under NRS 

41A.071(4).  Dr. Juliano is therefore not entitled to dismissal of Plaintiffs’ claims for professional 

negligence against him.   

C. Plaintiffs’ Professional Negligence Claims are Not, as a Matter of Law, 

Untimely under NRS 41A.097; and Plaintiffs’ Have Alleged Facts Sufficient to 

Raise an Inference of Concealment by Defendants so as to Warrant Tolling. 

 

Defendants argue for dismissal of Plaintiffs’ claims for professional negligence because 

they contend that, “as a matter of law,” Plaintiffs’ claims were filed after expiration of the one-

year statute of limitations provided by NRS 41A.097 for professional negligence claims. 

Specifically, Defendants argue that, because Plaintiffs did not file their complaint until February 

4, 2019, “in order for Plaintiffs’ claims to survive the statute of limitations, Plaintiffs must not 

have discovered their claim until after February 4, 2018,” approximately eight months after the 

death of Rebecca Powell on May 11, 2017.  (Dr. Juliano’s Mot. 6:18-20.)  Failing to draw all 

inferences in Plaintiffs’ favor, as required on a motion for dismissal pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5), 

Defendants’ conclude that “it is impossible that Plaintiffs could have exercised reasonable 

diligence and yet not have discovered the claim until almost eight months later.” (Id. at 6:22.)         

The statute of limitations for a medical malpractice claim begins to run when the plaintiff 

“knows or, through the use of reasonable diligence, should have known of facts that would put a 

reasonable person on inquiry notice of his cause of action.” Massey v. Litton, 99 Nev. 723, 728, 
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669 P.2d 248, 252 (1983); see also Pope v. Gray, 104 Nev. 358, 362–63, 760 P.2d 763, 764–65 

(1988) (applying the discovery rule established in Massey to wrongful death actions based on 

medical malpractice). The accrual date for a statute of limitations is a question of law when the 

facts are uncontroverted. Winn v. Sunrise Hosp. & Med. Ctr., 128 Nev. ––––, ––––, 277 P.3d 458, 

462–63 (2012); cf. Doyle v. Ripplinger, 126 Nev. 706, 367 P.3d 764 (2010) (table) (reversing 

order granting summary judgment where plaintiffs established material issue of fact concerning 

when they knew sufficient facts to be put on “inquiry notice,” commencing running of the 

limitations period).   

In Pope, the Nevada Supreme Court reversed an order dismissing Pope’s claims as 

untimely, finding that the district court had erred by resolving the relevant factual issues on a 

motion.  There, the Supreme Court rejected defendant’s argument that “Pope should have been 

alerted to possible malpractice when the doctors informed her that they were not certain of the 

cause of death, or, at the very latest…when the autopsy report listing acute gastrojejunitis as the 

cause of death was filed.” Pope, 104 Nev. at 365, 760 P.2d at 767.  To the contrary, citing the 

district court’s obligation to construe all allegations in favor of the non-movant under Rule 41(b), 

the Nevada Supreme Court reasoned as follows:  

Pope's mother died suddenly, after no apparent long-standing illness. Even though 

the doctors told Pope, on the day of her mother's death, that they did not know 

why she died, given Magill's age, surgical treatment, and serious manifestation of 

poor health two days before her death, death alone would not necessarily suggest, 

to a reasonably prudent person, that the decedent succumbed to the effects of 

medical malpractice. 

 

Although the autopsy report specifying acute gastrojejunitis as the cause of death 

was apparently placed with Magill's medical records on June 2, 1986, available 

for Pope's examination, Pope advanced at least a reasonable argument that she 

should not have been expected to suspect malpractice until September 17, 1982, 

when she received her mother's death certificate. 
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Pope, 104 Nev. at 366, 760 P.2d at 768.   

Here, Dr. Hashim’s affidavit describes why, despite Plaintiffs’ diligent efforts to learn the 

true cause of Rebecca Powell’s death, it is entirely realistic to infer—as we must—that they did 

not have sufficient facts, nor could they have obtained sufficient facts based upon the incomplete, 

and often misleading, information they received from Defendants. Indeed, as Dr. Hashim’s 

confirms, as of January 23, 2019, the date upon which he signed his affidavit, “all records were 

requested, not all records were provided by Centennial Hills Hospital & Medical Center.”  (Dr. 

Hashim’s Supporting Affidavit, pg. 2, ¶6A.)  Consequently, even at that late date, only a partial 

reconstruction of the timeline of the events preceding Rebecca Powell’s death has been possible. 

(Id.)  Moreover, in his review of such records, Dr. Hashim has found numerous, troubling 

inconsistencies supporting an inference that Defendants have engaged in concealment, which 

warrants tolling of the statute of limitations.   

Nowhere are the inconsistencies more glaring than in Dr. Hashim’s review of the death 

certificate.  As Dr. Hashim describes: “Notwithstanding clear evidence of intentional over-dosing 

of [Benadryl, Cymbalta and ETOH], [Rebecca Powell’s] Death Certificate noted the only cause 

of death was due to: “Complications of Cymbalta Intoxication.”  (Id. at pg. 2, ¶6B.)  That could 

not have been accurate, Dr. Hashim explains, because “[m]etabolically, Cymbalta has a half-shelf 

life of approximately 12-24 hours, up to 48 hours if an over-amount is ingested.  The patient 

didn’t have a downward health status until 150 hours+ had transpired. Therefore, the possibility 

that she died from Cymbalta intoxication or complication of, is not realistic.” (Id. at pg. 3, ¶6B.)  

Further, “[t]here was no medical evidence of the patient ingesting Ambien, Benadryl or ETOH, 

nor did toxicology reports reveal any of those substances.” (Id.)   
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But the troubling discrepancies in the records did not end there.  As Dr. Hashim explains, 

his opinions are also drawn from information he learned from an investigative report by the 

Department of Health and Human Services—NV Bureau of Health Quality and Compliance, 

which he says “not only reinforced my findings, but revealed many other below standard of care 

violations, all related directly to the wrongful death of the patient.”  (Dr. Hashim Supporting 

Affidavit, pg. 5, ¶8.)  There remain issues of fact concerning when Plaintiffs had inquiry notice 

regarding Defendants’ negligence as a cause of Rebecca Powell’s death.  Further, Dr. Hashim’s 

affidavit confirms that the full picture has not emerged without the production of an investigative 

report by an outside agency.  Defendants’ motions to dismiss on the grounds of that Plaintiffs’ 

claims are untimely under NRS 41A.097 must be denied because there are factual issues that 

cannot be resolved on a motion here.   

D.  Plaintiffs’ Wrongful Death and NIED Claims are Not Subsumed Under their 

Professional Negligence Claims for Purposes of the Statute of Limitations.  

 

Defendants argue that all of Plaintiffs’ claims, including those for wrongful death and NIED, 

“sound in” professional negligence and should therefore be subject to a one-year limitations 

period pursuant to NRS 41A.097(2).  Between them, however, they have not cited a controlling 

precedent that requires the Court to apply the shorter one-year limitations period rather than the 

two year period applicable under 11.190(4)(e).  Plaintiffs respectfully submit that their claims for 

wrongful death and NIED, if prevailing, would provide them with avenues of distinct relief to 

remedy distinct harms from those contemplated in their medical malpractice claims.  As such, 

Plaintiffs’ claims for wrongful death and NIED should be measured under distinct limitations 

period.   
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III.  CONCLUSION 

 For all of the reasons set forth herein, all aspects of the Defendants’ subject motions to 

dismiss and joinders must be denied.   

 DATED this 13th day of August, 2019. 
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5

6

7
Attorneysfor Defendants Conrado Concio, M.D
Vishal Shah, M.D., and Dionice Juliano, M.D.

8
6

9
DISTRICT COURT

10
ICLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

11
ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL, through

BRIAN POWELL, as Special Administrator;
DARCI CREECY, individually and as an Heir;
TARYN CREECY, individually and as an
Heir; ISAIAH KHOSROF, individually and as
an Heir; LLOYD CREECY, individually,

Plaintiffs,

f
LCASE NO. : A-19-788787-C

DEPT. NO.: XXX
12
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I
13
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I
14

3 1
^ b >
^ 2 &

15 EDEFENDANT CONRADO CONCIO,

MP, VISHAL SHAH, MP, AND

DIONICE JULIANO, MP'S REPLY

IN SUPPORT OF THEIR MOTION

I
1vs.

5 5/5 »
Sts S,
•g.®

16 I
I

VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC (doing
17

business as "Centennial Hills Hospital Medical
Center"), a foreign limited liability company;

TO DISMISS AND JOINDER
* I

f
f

THERETO
18

UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC., a
foreign corporation; DR. DIONICE S.
JULIANO, M.D., an individual; Dr.
CONRADO C.D. CONCIO, M.D., an
individual; DR. VISHAL S. SHAH, M.D., an
individual; DOES 1-10; and ROES A-Z;

.a

E1-5
F19
I

20

£21

Defendants.
22

t
Defendants Conrado Concio, MD, Vishal Shah, MD, and Dionice Juliano, MD by and I23 I

t

I
I
£.

through their counsel of record, John H. Cotton, Esq., and Brad J. Shipley, Esq., of the law firm24

25 of JOHN H. COTTON & ASSOCIATES, LTD, pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5), NRS 41A.097, and

r
26 NRS 41A.071 hereby submits the following reply to Plaintiffs Opposition, based on the

I
I

27 I

following points and authorities:

28 -

Case Number: A-19-788787-C
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Memorandum ofPoints andAuthorities1
I

2 I. Plaintiffs' Affidavit and Complaint are insufficient with respect to Dr. Juliano I
1
I3

Plaintiffs assert that the conclusory statements set forth in the affidavit with respect to Dr.

4
Juliano are sufficient to meet the burden imposed by NRS 41A.071. They are not. Dr. Juliano

concedes that the affidavit does include statements that Dr. Juliano fell below the standard of

rj care, but there are absolutely no facts alleged as far as what he specifically did to justify that

g conclusion.

I

5 i
1

6

I
t

*

9 Plaintiffs' affidavit devotes more than a full page describing the medical chronology of

10 the decedent during her time in the hospital. The affidavit also later specifically identifies the
I

11
time period during which the alleged deviations from the standard of care occurred as being May

05

12tsg
-3 <N »
O a:> 1*""l
xfi •*-> ^
05 OS

fl &

10 and 11. The affidavit describes in detail, on pages 3 and 4, the actions that the affidavit later

13

describes as deviating from the standard of care. The affidavit references specific orders made by
14

§ Dr. Concio and by Dr. Shah, and actions taken by other professionals as well, but there is not a
15

u.&>
Bo cd single reference to an order given by Dr. Juliano or any action or inaction taken by him16

o^ 17 whatsoever. In this respect, the affidavit fails to allege any duty to this patient, because Dr.

18
Juliano simply had no responsibility to this patient during the time that the affidavit alleges she

19
ebegan her decline.

20

Defendant Juliano asserts that the affidavit fails to establish all of the elements of 1

1
21

negligence with respect to him, as required by NRS 41 A.071. However, even if the affidavit is
22

found to meet the relevant heightened pleading standard, the claims still ultimately fail for the 1
23

reasons set forth below that are applicable to all three moving Defendants.24
i

25 II. Plaintiffs have not alleged any basis for tolling with respect to Defendants Shah,
1

26
Concio, or Juliano.

27 I
Plaintiffs opposition fails with respect to Defendants Concio, Shah and Juliano, and

28
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1 Plaintiffs have provided absolutely no basis as to why the statute of limitations should not bar the

2 claims. Plaintiffs' reliance on Pope v. Gray, 104 Nev. 358 (1988) is misplaced, and a thorough I

1

3

review of Winn v. Sunrise Hospital, 128 Nev. 246 (2012) reveals why Plaintiffs' Complaint lacks

4 I
Inecessary details that ultimately render it unable to state a claim as a matter of law against these

5

^ moving Defendants.

Pope indeed stands for the proposition, as Plaintiffs suggest, that Courts should not
7

dispose of cases on motion when there is a viable factual dispute. Beyond that however, Pope is8

I
9 simply inapplicable in cases where drawing all reasonable inferences in favor of Plaintiffs it is

10 clear that Plaintiffs have failed to timely bring their claim.
I
I11

Plaintiffs rely on the parenthetical statement in the expert affidavit that "all records were

12
cn r-

® <—1
1«-«0\

a

requested, not all records were provided by Centennial Hills Hospital & Medical Center," but the

13 I

relevant case law is clear that this statement is wholly insufficient to create any kind of factual
14

3-g 8 dispute in the instant case, especially with respect to Defendants Concio, Shah, and Juliano.
15 I

Wo § I
I
r

First and foremost, the relevant date is not the date that the entirety of the medical records16
a S? >—I
ja g}
0" I17 were received, but rather, pursuant to Massey v. Litton, 99 Nev. 723 (1983), it is the date that the F

E

E18
Plaintiff knew or should have known through reasonable diligence sufficient facts to be on

I

I19
inquiry notice of the claim. Massey at 252. Here, it belies belief that Plaintiffs did not have

I
I20

I
r

fc
t*

I
I

sufficient facts within eight months of the death of the decedent to put them on inquiry notice of
21

the claim. Plaintiffs are only entitled to reasonable inferences, and there is simply nothing in the
22

Complaint that merits a reasonable inference that the one-year statute of limitations has been23
I
t

met. Plaintiffs have notably not requested to amend the Complaint to add such allegations, but24 I

I
25 rrather have chosen to rely on mere argument in opposition. However, Defendants assert that the

f
26 F

reason Plaintiffs have failed to request such amendment is because the actual facts would directly
i

27 i
undermine their claims and Plaintiffs instead are attempting to sidestep these damning facts by

28 1=
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1 omitting them entirely and demanding inferences in their favor which are clearly not reasonable

2 in light of the entire context of the complaint and affidavit.
1
¥
I3

However, even if Plaintiffs are granted the inference, without making the requisite

4
Iallegations, that the statute of limitations should be tolled, the basis provided as applied to these
I

5

moving Defendants flies directly in the face of the controlling authority that even Plaintiffs
6

^ acknowledge in their opposition but do not discuss, set forth in Winn v. Sunrise Hospital.

In Winn, the Supreme Court ofNevada explicitly held that "[o]ne defendant's8
I

9 concealment cannot toll the statute of limitations as to a second defendant who played no role in

10 the concealment." Winn at 257. Here, there is simply no allegation or even argument that
I

11
Defendants Concio, Shah, or Juliano failed to provide any records, instead, the only information

xfi
O 12t3§
u cm
o (D 1 !

*
B c3C

provided is the statement in the affidavit that records were not provided by Centennial Hills.
13 I

Plaintiffs are entitled to reasonable inferences, but they are not entitled to the benefit of
14

5 -a a inferences based on allegations they have not even plead. There is absolutely no allegation that
15

H o c§

E

S
r

the moving Defendants ever concealed or failed to deliver records, nor is there any allegation16
eg J
o^ 17 they were ever in possession of the same or that any records were ever requested of them.•-5

18
Based on the allegations as plead, even giving Plaintiffs every reasonable inference in

r
r19
itheir favor, there can be no doubt that at least with respect to Defendants Concio, Shah and

20

Juliano, all of the claims for professional negligence are barred, as a matter of law, by that
21

tapplicable one-year statute of limitations set forth inNRS 41A.097. It22 !
I

III.With respect to the statute of limitations for wrongful death, the more specific I23
f
t

statute of limitations controls24 r
E

25 rThe statute of limitations for professional negligence is provided by NRS 41 A.097.

f
26

Plaintiffs assert in their opposition that Defendants "have not cited a controlling precedent that

e27 6

requires the Court to apply the shorter one-year limitations period rather than the two year period

28
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applicable under 11.1 90(4)(e).1

I2 The moving Defendants are confused as to how this argument applies to the wrongful

t3 .
death claims. The allegations of wrongful death set forth in the Complaint are based entirely on

4

1the allegations of professional negligence. NRS 41 A.097(2) clearly provides that "an action may

5

not be commenced more than. . . 1 year after the plaintiff discovers. . .the injury. . .for [ijnjury or
6

wrongful death of a person. . .based upon alleged professional negligence of the provider of
7

health care." NRS 41 A.097(2)(a) (emphasis added).8
I

9 NRS 11.190(4)(e) provides a statute of limitations for wrongful death, generally, but

10 NRS 41A.097 explicitly provides the statute of limitations for wrongful death due to professional
I

11
negligence, specifically. The canons of construction dictate that a specific statute controls over a

12
"Sg
'3 <n r-

CO ON

a

general one. Plaintiffs have provided no authority to suggest anything that the statute of ;
13

Flimitations for wrongful death due to professional negligence, which is what is alleged here, is
14

if
gig a" anything other than the one-year period after discovery set forth in NRS 41 A.097.

15 I

Wo 3
t
1IV. Plaintiffs have not responded to these moving Defendants' argument with respect to16 1

a9 J

o^
I
I17 the NIED claim and it should therefore be deemed unopposed pursuant to>"5
'i

r

I18
EDCR2.20.

I
fe19
IDefendants made two different arguments as to why the NIED claims fail. The first was

20
1based on the statute of limitations, which Defendants maintain is meritorious. However, more 1

21

t

5
!

importantly, Plaintiffs claims for NIED fail for an additional reason shown in Defendants'
22

motion which is not even addressed by Plaintiffs and therefore merits dismissal pursuant to23

EDCR2.20.24 1

25 In order for a claim ofNegligent Infliction ofEmotional Distress to survive, Plaintiffs
I

26
must allege that they were physically present at the time of the conduct that forms the basis for

6

27
the claims. While Plaintiffs have utterly failed to allege such here, their Complaint and affidavit

28 . 1=
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actually directly undermine any inference that they were physically present.1
I

12 As has already been stated, Plaintiffs are only entitled to reasonable inferences and they I

I3 .
are only entitled to inferences based on facts actually plead in the Complaint or set forth in the i

I4

Iaffidavit in support of the Complaint. Plaintiffs have not alleged any facts which could support

5 i
lan inference that they were physically present at the time of the decedent's death and they have

6

alleged no other actions which could possibly form the basis of an NIED claim. Even giving
7

Plaintiffs the benefit of every reasonable inference it is clear that this claim must fail as a matter8

I
9 of law.

10 V. Conclusion
I

I11
Despite the great deference given to Plaintiffs allegations of fact under Nevada law at this

© 12
•sg
'3 <N V

® ^ I
early stage, Plaintiffs have failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. The

13 I
IComplaint must be dismissed with respect to Dr. Concio, Dr. Shah, and Dr. Juliano.

*' z
a c3 .

14
ir

i Dated this 17th day of September 2019.
15

Wo c§ JOHN H. COTTON & ASSOCIATES, LTD.
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This reply is made and based upon the papers and pleadings on file herein, the points and 

authorities attached hereto, and any argument of counsel which may be adduced at the time of 

the hearing on this matter.   

DATED this 18th day of September, 2019. 

HALL PRANGLE & SCHOONVELD, LLC 

    By: /s/: Zachary Thompson, Esq
MICHAEL E. PRANGLE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 8619 
ZACHARY J. THOMPSON, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 11001 
1160 North Town Center Drive, Ste. 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89144 
Attorneys for Defendant 
Valley Health System, LLC, dba  
Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center 
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. 

INTRODUCTION 

Centennial Hills Hospital moved to dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint because Plaintiffs 

failed to timely file it within the one-year statute of limitations period as required by NRS 

41A.097(2).  See Defendant Centennial Hills Hospital’s Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint 

(“Motion to Dismiss”).  Centennial Hills Hospital showed that, under the facts pled, the statute 

of limitations began to run on May 11, 2017, yet Plaintiffs failed to file their Complaint until 

February 4, 2019.  In response, Plaintiffs have not demonstrated that NRS 41A.097(2)’s one-

year statute of limitations is inapplicable and have not shown that the statute did not begin to run 

on May 11, 2017.  See Opposition at pp. 1-9.  Therefore, Centennial Hills Hospital respectfully 

requests that this Court dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint in its entirety. 

II. 

ARGUMENT 

A. Plaintiffs’ Wrongful Death and Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress Claims 
Are Subject to NRS 41A.097’s One-Year Statute of Limitations. 

In the Motion to Dismiss, Centennial Hills Hospital showed that Plaintiffs’ claims for 

wrongful death and negligent infliction of emotional distress are subject to NRS 41A.097(2)’s 

one-year statute of limitations because they are claims against a provider of health care which 

sound in professional negligence or which arise out of alleged errors or omissions in practice by 

a provider of health care.  See Motion to Dismiss at pp. 5-8.   Those claims sound in professional 

negligence because they involve medical judgment, diagnosis, and/or treatment of Ms. Powell.   

Since they sound in professional negligence or otherwise arise out of alleged errors or omissions 
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in practice by a provider of health care, NRS 41A.097(2)’s one-year statute of limitations 

applies under its express terms.    

In response, Plaintiffs do not dispute that their wrongful death or negligent infliction of 

emotional distress claims are brought against providers of health care.  Plaintiffs also do not 

dispute that those claims sound in professional negligence, nor could they since those claims 

arise out of the same alleged failures to provide medical services, which involved medical 

judgment, diagnoses, and/or treatment, and are based on the same affidavit of merit that 

Plaintiffs used to support their professional negligence claim.  See Complaint at ¶¶ 34-40, 41-48, 

49-56; see also Complaint, Ex. A (Dr. Hashim’s Affidavit).  Additionally, Plaintiffs have not 

cited to any case law or authority to support their contention that those claims should not be 

subject to NRS 41A.097(2)’s one-year statute of limitations when, as here, they involve the 

medical judgment, diagnosis, or treatment by the hospital and the co-defendant physicians.  

In light of the foregoing and in accordance with the case law and authority discussed in 

its Motion to Dismiss, Centennial Hills Hospital respectfully requests that this Court find that 

Plaintiffs’ wrongful death and negligent infliction of emotional distress causes of action sound in 

professional negligence and are subject to NRS 41A.097(2)’s one-year statute of limitations.   

The application of NRS 41A.097(2) under these circumstances is necessary to preclude 

Plaintiffs’ from evading through artful pleading the statutory protections afforded to providers of 

health care. 

A. Plaintiffs’ Complaint Should be Dismissed Because it was Filed After the One-Year 
Statute of Limitations Expired. 

In the Motion to Dismiss, Centennial Hills Hospital established that the one-year statute 

of limitations because to run on May 11, 2017, because knew, or should have known, of facts 

that would put a reasonably person on inquiry notice at that time.  As discussed in the Motion to 
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Dismiss, Nevada law is clear that the one-year statute of limitations begins to run when a 

plaintiff discovers, or through the exercise of reasonable diligence, should have discovered the 

injury.  See NRS 41A.097(2); see also Eamon v. Martin, No. 67815, 2016 WL 917795, at *1 

(Nev. App. Mar. 4, 2016).  A plaintiff “discovers” his injury, for purposes of that statute, when 

he knows or, through the use of reasonable diligence, should have known of facts that would put 

a reasonable person on “inquiry notice” of his cause of action.  See Eamon, 2016 WL 917795, at 

*1.  A plaintiff is placed on such “inquiry notice” when he should have known of facts that 

would lead an ordinarily prudent person to investigate the matter further into whether the injury 

may have been caused by someone’s negligence.  Id.; see also Winn v. Sunrise Hosp. & Med. 

Ctr., 128 Nev. 246, 252, 277 P.3d 458, 462 (2012).  In order to be placed on “inquiry notice,” 

the plaintiff does not have to discover the precise facts pertaining to his or her legal theory; 

rather, he only has to have had facts before him that would have led an ordinarily prudent person 

to investigate further into whether the injury was caused by someone’s negligence.  See id. 

In response, Plaintiffs appear to argue that Plaintiffs did not have or could not have 

obtained sufficient facts that would lead an ordinarily prudent person to investigate the matter 

further because they purportedly received incomplete medical records.  See Opposition at p. 7.  

In support, Plaintiffs’ rely upon Dr. Hashim’s affidavit from January 23, 2019, wherein Dr. 

Hashim asserts that all records were requested, but not all records were received.1 See

Opposition at p. 7 (citing Complaint, Ex. A, ¶ 6).   Significantly, Dr. Hashim did not describe 

what records were requested, which records were received, when they were received, or what, if 

any, additional medical records were or would have been needed to initiate further investigation.  

1  Defendant obviously disputes this assertion, but the Court is not required to resolve this in relation to the Motion 
to Dismiss because Plaintiffs’ own allegations and affidavit make it clear that they had sufficient information to 
place them on inquiry notice. 
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See Complaint, Ex. A, ¶ 6.   Despite the lack of specifics, Plaintiffs argue from Dr. Hashim’s 

statement that they did not or could not have sufficient facts to place them on inquiry notice.  

See generally Opposition at p. 7.   

However, Dr. Hashim’s affidavit actually demonstrates that Plaintiffs had been placed on 

inquiry notice because it confirms that Plaintiffs received medical records and that he was able 

to offer opinions of alleged deviations based upon the same.  Under Nevada law, when a patient 

receives medical records that are later relied upon by the expert for his affidavit of merit, the 

plaintiff has been placed on inquiry notice.  See, e.g,, Dignity Health v. Eighth Judicial Dist. 

Court of State, ex rel. Cty. of Clark, No. 66084, 2014 WL 4804275, at *2 (Nev. Sept. 24, 2014) 

(concluding that the one-year statute of limitations began to run when the plaintiff received 

medical records that were used to support standard of care violations).   Here, Plaintiffs’ expert, 

Dr. Hashim, confirmed that Plaintiffs received medical records, and he offered opinions of 

alleged deviations from the standard of care based upon the same.   Of course, Dr. Hashim also 

received additional information from the Death Certificate and from the investigation from the 

Department of Health and Human Services, but the information “reinforced” the opinions he 

formed based upon the medical records and supported others.  See Complaint, Ex. A, ¶ 6B and ¶ 

8.  Thus, it cannot be disputed that Dr. Hashim had information before him from the Centennial 

Hills Hospital medical records from which he could opine as to alleged deviations from the 

standard of care.  As a result, Dr. Hashim’s affidavit shows that Plaintiffs had information 

before them from the medical records that would lead an ordinarily prudent person to investigate 
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5

further whether the injury was caused by someone’s negligence.   Consequently, Plaintiffs had 

clearly been placed on inquiry notice.2

B. Plaintiffs’ Have Not Demonstrated that NRS 41A.097’s One-Year Statute of 
Limitations Should be Tolled. 

Plaintiff mistakenly argues that purported inconsistencies with the Death Certificate and 

an investigative report from the Department of Health and Human Services support an inference 

of concealment, which warrant tolling of the statute of limitations.   See Opposition at p. 7.   In 

order to establish that the one-year discovery period should be tolled, Plaintiffs are required to 

show the following (1) that defendant intentionally withheld information, and (2) that this 

withholding would have hindered a reasonably diligent plaintiff from procuring an expert 

affidavit.   See Libby v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., 130 Nev. 359, 367, 325 P.3d 1276, 1281 (2014)

(“We have previously determined that NRS 41A.097(3)’s tolling provision applies only when 

there has been an intentional act that objectively hindered a reasonably diligent plaintiff from 

timely filing suit.”) (citing Winn v. Sunrise Hosp. & Med. Ctr., 128 Nev. 246, 255, 277 P.3d 

458, 464 (2012)).  However, Plaintiffs have not alleged, let alone established, that Centennial 

Hills Hospital intentionally withheld information, and, just as significantly, Plaintiffs have not 

alleged or shown that any information withheld would have hindered a reasonably diligent 

plaintiff from procuring an expert affidavit.     

Instead, Plaintiffs argue that the Death Certificate somehow supports an inference of 

concealment because Dr. Hashim believes that the finding was incorrect.   See Opposition at p. 

7.  Specifically, Plaintiffs contend that the Death Certificate incorrectly found the cause of death 

to be “Complications of Cymbalta Intoxication,” which Dr. Hashim asserts could not have been 

2  Plaintiffs have not argued or alleged that they received the medical records outside of the one-year statute of 
limitations period.  The court does not have to resolve when the records were sent/received because Plaintiffs have 
not alleged that the records were received outside of the one-year period following Ms. Powell’s death. 
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5

accurate because of Cymbalta’s half-life and the amount of time that lapsed before the patient 

expired.   If Dr. Hashim’s assertions are true, they do not support an inference of concealment by 

Centennial Hills Hospital because the findings on the Death Certificate would have been made 

by the Coroner, not the hospital or the co-defendant physicians.  Additionally, the Death 

Certificate would not have hindered a reasonably diligent plaintiff from procuring an expert 

affidavit; rather, it would have allowed an expert to opine regarding its allegedly incorrect cause 

of death as Dr. Hashim did here.   Moreover, if Dr. Hashim’s opinions regarding the cause of 

death are correct, this would only demonstrate that Plaintiffs had access to more information that 

would have led an ordinarily prudent person to investigate the findings further.  Thus, not only 

does the Death Certificate does not support tolling, it actually supports finding that Plaintiffs 

were placed on inquiry notice before the expiration of the statute of limitations.   

Next, Plaintiffs appear to argue that the statute of limitations should have been tolled 

until they received the investigative report from the Department of Health and Human Services 

because they did not have a “full picture” without the report.  See Opposition at p. 8.  This 

argument is not persuasive for at least two reasons.  First, this is not the standard.  Plaintiffs are 

not required to have the “full picture” to trigger inquiry notice.  Rather, Plaintiffs are placed on 

such inquiry notice when they knew or should have known of facts that would lead an ordinarily 

prudent person to investigate the matter further, and, to be placed on inquiry notice, the plaintiff 

does not have to discover the precise facts pertaining to his or her legal theory.   Thus, there is 

no obligation for Plaintiffs to discover the precise facts or obtain a full picture before they are on 

inquiry notice.  Consequently, it was not necessary for Plaintiffs to receive the investigative 

report to be placed on inquiry notice.  Second, Dr. Hashim did not require the investigative 

report to form opinions regarding alleged violations of the standard of care.   As discussed 
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5

above, Dr. Hashim stated that the investigative report “reinforced” his findings, which shows 

that he had enough information from the medical records to form opinions regarding deviations 

from the standard of care without the investigative report.  See Complaint, Ex. A, ¶ 6B and ¶ 8.   

Thus, it is clear the investigative report was not necessary to place Plaintiffs on inquiry notice, 

and the investigative report does not serve as a basis to toll NRS 41A.097(2)’s one-year statute 

of limitations.   

III.

CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing and upon the arguments set forth in Centennial Hills Hospital 

Motion to Dismiss, Centennial Hills Hospital respectfully requests that this Court dismiss 

Plaintiffs’ Complaint with prejudice. 

DATED this 18th day of September, 2019. 

HALL PRANGLE & SCHOONVELD, LLC  

    By: /s/: Zachary Thompson, Esq
MICHAEL E. PRANGLE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 8619 
ZACHARY J. THOMPSON, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 11001 
1160 N. Town Center Dr., Ste. 100 
Las Vegas, NV  89144 
Attorneys for Defendant 
Valley Health System, LLC, dba  
Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that I am an employee of HALL PRANGLE & SCHOONVELD, 

LLC; that on the 18th day of September, 2019, I served a true and correct copy of the foregoing 

DEFENDANT CENTENNIAL HILLS HOSPITAL’S REPLY IN SUPPORT OF ITS 

MOTION TO DISMISS PLAINTIFFS’ COMPLAINT as follows:

   X    the E-Service Master List for the above referenced matter in the Eighth Judicial District 

Court e-filing System in accordance with the electronic service requirements of Administrative 

Order 14-2 and the Nevada Electronic Filing and Conversion Rules;

_____ U.S. Mail, first class postage pre-paid to the following parties at their last known address; 

_____ Receipt of Copy at their last known address: 

Paul Padda, Esq. 
Joshua Y, Ang, Esq. 
PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC 
4560 South Decatur Blvd., Suite 300 
Las Vegas, NV 89103 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

John H. Cotton, Esq. 
Brad Shipley, Esq. 
JOHN H. COTTON & ASSOCIATES, LTD. 
7900 West Sahara Avenue, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, NV 89117 
Attorneys for Defendants Dionice S. Juliano, 
M.D., Conrado Concio, M.D. and Vishal S. 
Shah, M.D.

/s/ Reina Claus 
An employee of HALL PRANGLE & SCHOONVELD, LLC 
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MTD 
MICHAEL E. PRANGLE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 8619 
ZACHARY J. THOMPSON, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 11001 
HALL PRANGLE & SCHOONVELD, LLC 
1160 North Town Center Drive, Ste. 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89144 
Phone: 702-889-6400 
Facsimile: 702-384-6025 
efile@hpslaw.com
Attorneys for Defendant 
Valley Health System, LLC, dba  
Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center 
and Universal Health Services, Inc. 

DISTRICT COURT  

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL, through 
BRIAN POWELL, as Special Administrator; 
DARCI CREECY, individually and as an Heir; 
TARYN CREECY, individually and as an Heir; 
ISAIAH KHOSROF, individually and as an Heir; 
LLOYD CREECY, individually; 

Plaintiffs, 
vs. 

VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC (doing 
business as “Centennial Hills Hospital Medical 
Center”), a foreign limited liability company; 
UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC., a 
foreign corporation; DR. DIONICE S. JULIANO, 
M.D., an individual; DR. CONRADO C.D. 
CONCIO, M.D., an individual; DR. VISHAL S. 
SHAH, M.D., an individual; DOES 1-10; and 
ROES A-Z; 

Defendants. 

CASE NO. A-19-788787-C

DEPT NO.   XIV 

DEFENDANT UNIVERSAL 
HEALTH SERVICES, INC.’S  
MOTION TO DISMISS OR, 
ALTERNATIVELY, MOTION FOR 
SUMMARY JUDGMENT FOR 
LACK OF JURISDICTION 

HEARING REQUESTED  

COMES NOW, Defendant UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC. (hereinafter 

referred to as “UHS”) by and through its attorneys HALL PRANGLE & SCHOONVELD, LLC, 

and hereby submits its Motion to Dismiss or, Alternatively, Motion for Summary Judgment for 

Lack of Jurisdiction.  

Case Number: A-19-788787-C

Electronically Filed
9/23/2019 12:12 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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This motion is made and based upon the papers and pleadings on file herein, the points 

and authorities attached hereto, and any argument of counsel which may be allowed at the time 

of the hearing on this matter.   

DATED this 23rd day of September, 2019. 

HALL PRANGLE & SCHOONVELD, LLC 

    By: /s/: Zachary Thompson, Esq
MICHAEL E. PRANGLE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 8619 
ZACHARY J. THOMPSON, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 11001 
1160 North Town Center Drive, Ste. 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89144 
Attorneys for Defendant 
Valley Health System, LLC, dba  
Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center 
and Universal Health Services, Inc.  

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

I. 

INTRODUCTION 

This matter arises out of the death of Rebecca Powell at Centennial Hills Hospital on 

May 11, 2017.   On February 4, 2019, Plaintiffs filed an untimely Complaint against Centennial 

Hills Hospital, Dionice Juliano, MD, Conrado Concio, MD, Vishal Shah, MD, and Universal 

Health Services, Inc. (collectively “Defendants”).1  In the Complaint, Plaintiffs allege that the 

hospital and physicians breached the standard of care by failing to properly treat or monitor Ms. 

Powell, which they contend led to Ms. Powell’s death.  See Complaint at ¶¶ 28-29.   In addition 

1  The failure to timely file the Complaint is addressed in co-defendants separate motions to dismiss, which will be 
joined in a separate pleading by Universal Health Services, Inc. 
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5

to asserting claims against the co-defendant hospital and physicians, Plaintiffs also named 

Universal Health Services, Inc. (“UHS”), which was not involved in Ms. Powell’s care and 

treatment, solely on the grounds that the entity was a parent corporation of Valley Health 

System, LLC, which does business as Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center.  See, e.g.,

Complaint at ¶¶ 11 and 17.   

Plaintiffs’ claims against UHS cannot be maintained in this Court because Plaintiff did 

not plead sufficient facts from which the Court could find personal jurisdiction over UHS, and 

Plaintiffs cannot meet its burden to present competent evidence of essential facts which would 

support jurisdiction.  Accordingly, UHS respectfully requests that this Court dismiss it pursuant 

to Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(2).  Alternatively, UHS respectfully requests that this 

Court consider the Affidavit of Michelle Carson, Esq., attached hereto as Exhibit A, which 

confirms the UHS entity’s lack of involvement with the subject care, and enter summary 

judgment in UHS’s favor for lack of jurisdiction. 

II. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center is an acute care medical facility located in Las 

Vegas, Nevada.  See Carson Aff., ¶ 3.  Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center is a fictitious 

name for Valley Health System, LLC.  See Carson Aff., ¶ 4. Valley Health System, LLC, is an 

indirect subsidiary of Universal Health Services, Inc. (“UHS”).  See Carson Aff., ¶ 4.  UHS is 

simply a holding company.  See Carson Aff., ¶ 5. UHS is located at in King of Prussia, 

Pennsylvania.  See Carson Aff., ¶ 1.  UHS performs no separate day-to-day operations.  See

Carson Aff., ¶ 5.  UHS does not provide healthcare services, and it does not provide operational 

management services to its subsidiary facilities, including Centennial Hills Hospital.  See Carson 
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Aff., ¶ 7.  UHS did not provide any of the healthcare services or patient care at issue in this 

litigation.  See Carson Aff., ¶ 8. 

III. 

ARGUMENT 

Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(2) provides for dismissal of a complaint due to 

“lack of jurisdiction over the person.”  If a party moves to dismiss the complaint for lack of 

jurisdiction over the person, the plaintiff bears the burden to make a prima facie showing with 

competent evidence of essential facts which, if true, would support jurisdiction.  See Viega 

GmbH v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., 130 Nev. 368, 328 P.3d 1152, 1156 (2014) (“To avoid dismissal 

of the German Viega companies at this stage of the proceedings below, the [plaintiff] was 

required to make a prima facie showing with ‘competent evidence of essential facts’ that, if true, 

would support jurisdiction.”) (quoting Trump v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 109 Nev. 687, 692, 

857 P.2d 740, 743 (1993) (“‘When a challenge to personal jurisdiction is made, the plaintiff has 

the burden of introducing competent evidence of essential facts which establish a prima facie 

showing that personal jurisdiction exists.’”) (quoting Abbott-Interfast v. District Court, 107 Nev. 

871, 873, 821 P.2d 1043, 1044 (1991))).   

In order to meet this burden, the plaintiff cannot rely upon the allegations in the 

complaint; rather, the plaintiff must produce evidence in support of all facts necessary for a 

finding of personal jurisdiction.  See Trump, 109 Nev. at 692-93, 857 P.2d at 744 (“[T]he burden 

of proof never shifts to the party challenging jurisdiction.”).  If the plaintiff fails to meet the 

burden to produce evidence in support of all facts necessary to find personal jurisdiction, the 

complaint should be dismissed.  See Viega GmbH, 130 Nev. at 328 P.3d at 1156; see also Nev. 

R. Civ. Pro. 12(b)(2).   
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In order to avoid dismissal, the plaintiff would have to show that jurisdiction is proper 

over the parties challenging jurisdiction.  “Jurisdiction over a nonresident defendant is proper 

only if the plaintiff shows that the exercise of jurisdiction satisfies the requirements of Nevada's 

long-arm statute and does not offend principles of due process.”  Viega GmbH, 130 Nev. 368, 

328 P.3d at 1156 (citing Arbella Mut. Ins. Co. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 122 Nev. 509, 512, 

134 P.3d 710, 712 (2006); Consipio Holding, BV v. Carlberg, 128 Nev. 454, 458, 282 P.3d 751, 

754 (2012) (“Nevada's long-arm statute permits personal jurisdiction over a nonresident 

defendant unless the exercise of jurisdiction would violate due process.”)).   “Nevada's long-arm 

statute, NRS 14.065, reaches the constitutional limits of due process under the Fourteenth 

Amendment, which requires that the defendant have such minimum contacts with the state that 

the defendant could reasonably anticipate being haled into court here, thereby complying with 

‘traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice.’” Id. (quoting Arbella, 122 Nev. at 512, 

134 P.3d at 712 (internal quotation marks omitted) (citing Int'l Shoe Co. v. Washington, 326 

U.S. 310, 316, 66 S.Ct. 154, 90 L.Ed. 95 (1945))).   

Accordingly, the Court must analyze and determine whether the exercise of jurisdiction 

over the parties challenging personal jurisdiction satisfies due process.  See id.  In order to 

satisfy due process, the plaintiff must show that the non-resident defendants’ contacts are 

sufficient to obtain either general jurisdiction or specific personal jurisdiction, and the plaintiff 

must show that it is reasonable to subject the non-resident defendants to suit in the forum state. 

Id. (citing Arbella, 122 Nev. at 512, 516, 134 P.3d at 712, 714).   

To obtain general jurisdiction, the foreign company’s contacts with the forum state must 

be so continuous and systematic as to render it essentially at home in the forum state.   See id. at 

368, 328 P.3d 1152, 1156–57 (“A court may exercise general jurisdiction over a foreign 
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5

company when its contacts with the forum state are so continuous and systematic’ as to render 

[it] essentially at home in the forum State.”); see also Arbella, 122 Nev. at 513, 134 P.3d at 712 

(“[G]eneral personal jurisdiction exists when the defendant's forum state activities are so 

substantial or continuous and systematic that it is considered present in that forum and thus 

subject to suit there, even though the suit's claims are unrelated to that forum.”) (internal 

quotation marks omitted)).   Typically, a corporation is “at home” only where it is incorporated 

or has its principle place of business.  See id. at 368, 328 P.3d at 1158.  If the corporation was 

not incorporated in the forum state, the foreign corporation will not be subject to broad, general 

jurisdiction in the forum state even if its subsidiary conducts substantial business there.  See id.  

Thus, a plaintiff cannot meet its burden to show general jurisdiction by simply showing that a 

foreign corporation’s subsidiary conducts business in the forum state.   

Alternatively, to obtain specific personal jurisdiction, the foreign company must 

purposefully avail itself of the forum’s market or establish contacts in the forum and 

affirmatively direct conduct there, and the claims must arise from that purposeful contact or 

conduct targeting the forum.  See id. at 368, 328 P.3d 1152, 1156–57; see also Arbella, 122 Nev. 

at 513, 134 P.3d at 712–13) (“[a] state may exercise specific personal jurisdiction only where: 

(1) the defendant purposefully avails himself of the privilege of serving the market in the forum 

or of enjoying the protection of the laws of the forum, or where the defendant purposefully 

establishes contacts with the forum state and affirmatively directs conduct toward the forum 

state, and (2) the cause of action arises from that purposeful contact with the forum or conduct 

targeting the forum.”).   In order to show the applicability of specific personal jurisdiction, the 

plaintiff must show more than ownership or control of a subsidiary in the forum state.  See id. at 

368, 328 P.3d 1152, 1158–59 (“Corporate entities are presumed separate, and thus, indicia of 
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mere ownership are not alone sufficient to subject a parent company to jurisdiction based on its 

subsidiary's contacts.”). 

In determining whether a parent corporation is subject to either general or specific 

personal jurisdiction, the mere existence of a relationship between a parent company and its 

subsidiaries is not sufficient to establish personal jurisdiction over the parent on the basis of the 

subsidiaries minimum contacts with the forum.  See id. at 368, 328 P.3d at 1157.   In Viega, the 

Nevada Supreme Court explained this rule as follows: 

But corporate entities are presumed separate, and thus, the mere “existence of a 
relationship between a parent company and its subsidiaries is not sufficient to 
establish personal jurisdiction over the parent on the basis of the subsidiaries' 
minimum contacts with the forum.” Doe v. Unocal Corp., 248 F.3d 915, 925 (9th 
Cir.2001); see also McCulloch Corp. v. O'Donnell, 83 Nev. 396, 399, 433 P.2d 
839, 840–41 (1967) (holding that “[t]he mere fact of stock ownership by one 
corporation in another does not authorize jurisdiction over the stockholder 
corporation”). Subsidiaries' contacts have been imputed to parent companies only 
under narrow exceptions to this general rule, including “alter ego” theory and, at 
least in cases of specific jurisdiction, the “agency” theory. Unocal Corp., 248 
F.3d at 926. The alter ego theory allows plaintiffs to pierce the corporate veil to 
impute a subsidiary's contacts to the parent company by showing that the 
subsidiary and the parent are one and the same. See, e.g., Goodyear, 564 U.S. at –
–––, 131 S.Ct. at 2857 (implying, but not deciding, that an alter ego theory would 
be appropriate in such a situation); see also Platten v. HG Bermuda Exempted, 
Ltd., 437 F.3d 118, 139 (1st Cir.2006); Patin v. Thoroughbred Power Boats, Inc., 
294 F.3d 640, 653 (5th Cir.2002). The rationale behind this theory is that the alter 
ego subsidiary is the same entity as its parent, and thus, the jurisdictional contacts 
of the subsidiary are also jurisdictional contacts of the parent. Patin, 294 F.3d at 
653. Unlike with the alter ego theory, the corporate identity of the parent 
company is preserved under the agency theory; the parent nevertheless “is held 
for the acts of the [subsidiary] agent” because the subsidiary was acting on the 
parent's behalf. F. Hoffman–La Roche, Ltd. v. Superior Court, 130 Cal.App.4th 
782, 30 Cal.Rptr.3d 407, 418 (2005) (internal quotation marks omitted); Wesley-
Jessen Corp. v. Pilkington Visioncare, Inc., 863 F.Supp. 186, 188–89 
(D.Del.1993) (“This [agency] theory does not treat the parent and subsidiary as 
one entity, but rather attributes specific acts to the parent because of the parent's 
authorization of those acts.”). 

Id. (emphasis added). 

. . . 
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In this case, Plaintiffs cannot meet their burden to make a prima facie showing through 

competent evidence that UHS is subject to the jurisdiction of this Court.   Plaintiffs cannot 

establish that UHS is subject to general jurisdiction because UHS is a foreign corporation with 

its principle places of business in King of Prussia, Pennsylvania.  See Carson Aff., ¶ 1.  Given 

this, UHS’s contact with the forum state is not so continuous and systematic so as to render it at 

home in the forum state, and Plaintiffs cannot meet their burden to establish otherwise.   

Plaintiffs also cannot meet their burden to show that UHS is subject to specific personal 

jurisdiction.  UHS is a separate and distinct corporation, which maintains separate corporate 

existence from Centennial Hills Hospital.  See Carson Aff., ¶¶ 3-9.  UHS does not operate or 

manage services at Centennial Hills Hospital.  See Carson Aff., ¶ 8 (UHS does not provide 

operational management services to its subsidiary facilities).  UHS is simply a holding company 

with no employees in the State of Nevada.  See Carson Aff., ¶¶ 5-6.  Additionally, UHS did not 

provide any services or patient care at issue.  See Carson Aff., ¶ 10.  As a result, Plaintiffs 

cannot show that UHS purposefully availed itself of the forum’s market or established contacts 

in the forum and affirmatively directed conduct there.  Further, Plaintiffs cannot establish that 

their claims arise from that any alleged purposeful contact or conduct targeting the forum.  

Therefore, Plaintiffs cannot meet their burden to show that the UHS entity is subject to specific 

personal jurisdiction.   

In light of the foregoing, Plaintiffs cannot meet their burden to establish general 

jurisdiction, specific personal jurisdiction, and/or that it is reasonable to subject them to suit in 

Nevada.  As a result, exercising jurisdiction over UHS would not satisfy due process under the 

Fourteenth Amendment. Since it would not satisfy due process under the Fourteenth 

Amendment, Nevada’s long-arm statute, NRS 14.065, does not permit personal jurisdiction over 
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these foreign entities.  Therefore, jurisdiction over UHS is not permitted and is not proper in this 

case.   

Since jurisdiction is not proper over these entities, Plaintiffs cannot avoid dismissal of 

UHS pursuant to Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(2).  As a result, UHS respectfully 

requests that this Court dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint with prejudice due to lack of jurisdiction 

pursuant to Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(2).  Alternatively, UHS respectfully requests 

that this Court consider the Affidavit of Michelle Carson, Esq., and enter summary judgment in 

UHS’s favor for lack of jurisdiction. 

IV.

CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing, UHS respectfully requests that this Court dismiss Plaintiffs’ 

Complaint against it with prejudice pursuant to Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(2).  

Alternatively, UHS respectfully requests that this Court consider the Affidavit of Michelle 

Carson, Esq., which confirms the UHS entity’s lack of involvement with the subject care, and 

enter summary judgment in UHS’s favor for lack of jurisdiction. 

DATED this 23rd day of September, 2019. 

HALL PRANGLE & SCHOONVELD, LLC 

    By: /s/: Zachary Thompson, Esq
MICHAEL E. PRANGLE, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 8619 
ZACHARY J. THOMPSON, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 11001 
1160 North Town Center Drive, Ste. 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89144 
Attorneys for Defendant 
Valley Health System, LLC, dba  
Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center 
and Universal Health Services, Inc.  
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that I am an employee of HALL PRANGLE & SCHOONVELD, 

LLC; that on the 23rd day of September, 2019, I served a true and correct copy of the foregoing 

DEFENDANT UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC.’S MOTION TO DISMISS 

PLAINTIFFS’ COMPLAINT as follows:

   X    the E-Service Master List for the above referenced matter in the Eighth Judicial District 

Court e-filing System in accordance with the electronic service requirements of Administrative 

Order 14-2 and the Nevada Electronic Filing and Conversion Rules;

_____ U.S. Mail, first class postage pre-paid to the following parties at their last known address; 

_____ Receipt of Copy at their last known address: 

Paul Padda, Esq. 
Joshua Y, Ang, Esq. 
PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC 
4560 South Decatur Blvd., Suite 300 
Las Vegas, NV 89103 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

John H. Cotton, Esq. 
Brad Shipley, Esq. 
JOHN H. COTTON & ASSOCIATES, LTD. 
7900 West Sahara Avenue, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, NV 89117 
Attorneys for Defendants Dionice S. Juliano, 
M.D., Conrado Concio, M.D. and Vishal S. 
Shah, M.D.

/s/ Reina Claus 
An employee of HALL PRANGLE & SCHOONVELD, LLC 
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AFFIDAVIT OF MICHELLE CARSON
l

2

COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA )
3

) SSI

4 COUNTY OF MONTGOMERY )

5 MICHELLE CARSON, being first duly sworn and upon her oath, deposes and says:

6
I am Associate General Counsel - Litigation for UHS of Delaware, Inc., the1.

7

management company for Universal Health Services, Inc. ("UHS"), located at 367 South Gulph
8

9 Road, King of Prussia, PA 19406.

The facts contained herein are true and correct to the best of my knowledge,2.10
jq

J
3 1 1 information and belief.

-J " £ 12

> I ? 3
© a 1 1 13 , _
O g g w at 6900 N. Durango Drive, Las Vegas, NV 89149.

14
CO |j£g

« Mil 15
3=82
yj 16 System LLC.

21 '
fr. ~

J

Q

3. Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center is an acute care medical facility located

Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center is a fictitious name for Valley Health4.

17u 4. Valley Health System LLC is an indirect subsidiary ofUHS.
mi

X
J 18u<

UHS is and has been a holding company that operates through its subsidiary5.X H
19

2Q facilities. UHS performs no separate day-to-day operations.

6. UHS does not have any employees.

7. UHS is not registered to do business in the state ofNevada.

21

22

23
8. UHS is not licensed as a healthcare provider, does not provide healthcare services,

24

and does not provide operational management services to its subsidiary facilities, including

26 Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center.

9. Each subsidiary facility, including Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center, is

28 licensed to provide healthcare services in its respective state.

25

27

Page 1 of2 123



10. UHS did not provide any of the healthcare services or patient care at issue in this
l

2 litigation.

3 1 1. Everything stated within this affidavit is true and correct to the best of affiant's

4 ...
knowledge, information and belief.

DATED this 1 3^day of August, 2019.
6

7
ichelle K. Carson

Subscribed and sworn to before me this

/#"-day of August, 2019.

s

9

NOTARY PUBLIC in and fc^aid

1 1 County and State
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A-19-788787-C 

PRINT DATE: 11/01/2019 Page 1 of 1 Minutes Date: September 25, 2019 

 

DISTRICT COURT 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 

 

Malpractice - Medical/Dental COURT MINUTES September 25, 2019 

 

A-19-788787-C Estate of Rebecca Powell, Plaintiff(s) 
vs. 
Valley Health System, LLC, Defendant(s) 

 
September 25, 2019 9:00 AM All Pending Motions  
 
HEARD BY: Wiese, Jerry A.  COURTROOM: RJC Courtroom 14A 
 
COURT CLERK: Nylasia Packer 
 
RECORDER: Vanessa Medina 
 
PARTIES  
PRESENT: 

 
Nelson, Suneel J, ESQ Attorney 
Padda, Paul S. Attorney 
Shipley, Brad J Attorney 
Thompson, Zachary J. Attorney 

 

 
JOURNAL ENTRIES 

 
- DEFENDANT CENTENNIAL HILLS HOSPITAL'S JOINDER TO DEFENDANTS CONRADO 
CONCIO, MD AND DIONICE JULIANO, MD'S MOTION TO DISMISS...DEFENDANT CONRADO 
CONCIO, MD, AND DIONICE JULIANO, MD'S MOTION TO DISMISS... DEFENDANT VISHAL 
SHAH, M.D. JOINDER TO DEFENDANT'S CONCIO AND JULIANO'S MOTION TO 
DISMISS...DEFENDANT CENTENNIAL HILLS HOSPITAL'S MOTION TO DISMISS PLAINTIFFS' 
COMPLAINT...DEFENDANT UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC.'S JOINDER TO 
DEFENDANT CENTENNIAL HILLS HOSPITAL'S MOTION TO DISMISS PLAINTIFFS' 
COMPLAINT AND JOINDER TO DEFENDANTS  CONRADO CONCIO, MD, AND DIONICE 
JULIANO, MD'S MOTION TO DISMISS...DEFENDANT UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC.'S 
JOINDER TO DEFENDANT CENTENNIAL HILLS HOSPITAL'S MOTION TO DISMISS 
PLAINTIFFS' COMPLAINT AND JOINDER TO DEFENDANTS  CONRADO CONCIO, MD, AND 
DIONICE JULIANO, MD'S MOTION TO DISMISS... 
 
Court Stated its findings and ORDERED, motions DENIED. Counsel to prepare orders. 
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Case Number: A-19-788787-C

Electronically Filed
12/5/2019 10:31 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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1 ANS

ROBERT C. McBRIDE, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No.: 7082

CHELSEA R. HUETH, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No.: 10904

McBRIDE HALL

8329 W. Sunset Road, Suite 260
Las Vegas, Nevada 89113
Telephone No. (702) 792-5855
Facsimile No. (702) 796-5855
E-mail: rcmcbride@mcbridehall.com
E-mail: crhueth@mcbridehall.com

Attorneys for Defendants,
Valley Health System, LLC, dba
Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center
and Universal Health Services, Inc.

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

DISTRICT COURT
13

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL, through CASE NO. A-19-788787-C
BRIAN POWELL, as Special Administrator;
DARCI CREECY, individually and as an Heir; DEPT NO. XIV
TARYN CREECY, individually and as an Heir;
ISAIAH KHOSROF, individually and as an Heir;
LLOYD CREECY, individually;

14

15

16

17

Plaintiffs,18

DEFENDANT VALLEY HEALTH

SYSTEM, LLC, dba CENTENNIAL
HILLS HOSPITAL MEDICAL

CENTER’S

PLAINTIFFS’ COMPLAINT

ANSWER TO

vs.

19

VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC (doing
business as “Centennial Hills Hospital Medical
Center”), a foreign limited liability company;
UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC., a
foreign corporation; DR. DIONICE S. JULIANO,
M.D., an individual; DR. CONRADO C.D.
CONCIO, M.D., an individual; DR. VISHAL S.
SHAH, M.D., an individual; DOES 1-10; and
ROES A-Z;

20

21

22

23

24

Defendants.

25

26

COMES NOW, Defendant, Valley Health System, LLC, dba Centennial Hills Hospital
27

Medical Center, by and through its attorneys of the law firm of McBRIDE HALL and hereby
28

1

Case Number: A-19-788787-C

Electronically Filed
4/15/2020 2:50 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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1 provides its answer to Plaintiffs’ Complaint as follows:

2
I.

3
ARBITRATION EXEMPTION

4

In answering paragraphs 1 and 2 of Plaintiffs’ Complaint, this answering1.

5

Defendant states that the allegations call for legal conclusion, as such no response is required. To
6

the extent a response is required, this answering Defendant states it is without sufficient7

information to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in said paragraphs and8

9 therefore denies the same.

10
II.

11
JURISDICTION. VENUE AND LEGAL BASIS FOR THIS ACTION

12

In answering paragraph 3 of Plaintiffs’ Complaint, this answering Defendant2.
13

states that the allegations call for legal conclusion, as such no response is required. To the extent14

a response is required, this answering Defendant states it is without sufficient information to15

form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in said paragraphs and therefore denies16

17 the same.

III.

19

THE PARTIES

20

In answering paragraphs 4, 5, 6, 7, 8 and 9 of Plaintiffs’ Complaint, this3.
21

answering Defendant states it is without sufficient information to form a belief as to the truth of22

the allegations contained in said paragraphs and therefore denies the same.23

24 In answering paragraph 10 of Plaintiffs’ Complaint, this answering Defendant4.

25
admits only the Valley Health System, LLC, doing business as Centennial Hills Hospital

26
Medical Center, is a foreign limited liability company licensed to practice healthcare services in

27

the State of Nevada. As to the remaining allegations, this answering Defendant states it is
28
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1 without sufficient information to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in said

2
paragraphs and therefore denies the same.

3
5. In answering paragraph 11 of Plaintiffs’ Complaint, this answering Defendant

4

admits only the Valley Health System, LLC, is an indirect subsidiary of Universal Health
5

Services, Inc. a foreign corporation. As to the remaining allegations, this answering Defendant
6

denies each and every allegations contained in said paragraphs.7

In answering paragraphs 12, 13 and 14 of Plaintiffs’ Complaint, this answering6.

9 Defendant states it is without sufficient infomration to form a belief as to the truth of the

10
allegations contained in said paragraphs and therefore denies the same.

11

In answering paragraph 15 and 16 of Plaintiffs’ Complaint, this answering7.

12

Defendant states that the allegations call for legal conclusion, as such no response is required. To
13

the extent a response is required, this answering Defendant states it is without sufficient
14

information to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in said paragraphs and15

16 therefore denies the same.

17 IV.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

19

In answering paragraph 17 of Plaintiffs’ Complaint, this answering Defendant
20

denies that Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center is operated by UHS. As to the remaining
21

allegations, this answering Defendant states it is without sufficient information to form a belief

as to the truth of the allegations contained in said paragraphs and therefore denies the same.

22

23

24 In answering paragraph 18 of Plaintiffs’ Complaint, this answering Defendant9.

25 states it is without sufficient information to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations

26
contained in said paragraph and therefore denies the same.

27

In answering paragraph 19 of Plaintiffs’ Complaint, this answering Defendant10.

28

denies that Centennial Hills Hospital breached the standard of care and that any alleged breach of

Page 3 of 11

136



the standard of care cause Plaintiffs death. As to the remaining allegations, this answering

2
Defendant states that the allegations therein call for an expert opinion and, as such, do not

3

require a response. To the extent a response is required, the answering Defendant states it is
4

without sufficient information to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in said
5

paragraph and therefore denies the same.
6

In answering paragraph 20 of Plaintiffs’ Complaint, this answering Defendant11.
7

denies that Centennial Hills Hospital breached the standard of care. As to the remaining

9 allegations, this answering Defendant states it is without sufficient information to form a belief

10
as to the truth of the allegations contained in said paragraphs and therefore denies the same.

11

In answering paragraph 21 of Plaintiffs’ Complaint, this answering Defendant12.

12

states it is without sufficient information to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations
13

contained in said paragraph and therefore denies the same.14

In answering paragraph 22 of Plaintiffs’ Complaint, this answering Defendant13.15

denies that Defendant Centennial Hills Hospital breached the standard of care. As to the16

17
remaining allegations, this answering Defendant states that the allegations therein call for an

expert opinion and, as such, do not require a response. To the extent a response is required, the
19

answering Defendant states it is without sufficient information to form a belief as to the truth of
20

the allegations contained in said paragraph and therefore denies the same.
21

In answering paragraph 23 and 24 of Plaintiffs’ Complaint, this answering14.
22

Defendant states that the allegations therein call for an expert opinion and, as such, do not23

24 require a response. To the extent a response is required, the answering Defendant states it is

25 without sufficient information to form a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in said

26

paragraph and therefore denies the same.

In answering paragraph 25 of Plaintiffs’ Complaint, this answering Defendant15.

27

28

denies that Defendant Centennial Hills Hospital breached the standard of care.

Page 4 of 11
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1 remaining allegations, this answering Defendant states that the allegations therein call for an

2
expert opinion and, as such, do not require a response. To the extent a response is required, the

3
answering Defendant states it is without sufficient information to form a belief as to the truth of

4

the allegations contained in said paragraph and therefore denies the same.
5

V.
6

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

[On Behalf Of The Estate Of Rebecca Powell (Through Special Administrator Brien),
Darci, Taryn and Isaiah Against All Defendants]

Negligence / Medical Malpractice

7

8

9 In answering paragraph 26 of Plaintiffs’ Complaint, this answering Defendant16.

10
repeats and repleads its answers to paragraphs 1 through 25 of Plaintiffs’ Complaint.

11

In answering paragraph 27 of Plaintiffs’ Complaint, this answering Defendant17.

12

states that the allegations call for legal conclusion, as such no response is required.
13

In answering paragraph 28, 29, 30, 31, 32 and 33 of Plaintiffs’ Complaint, this18.
14

answering Defendant denies each and every allegation.15

16 VI.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
17

[On Behalf Of The Estate Of Rebecca Powell (Through Special Administrator Brien),
Darci, Taryn and Isaiah Against All Defendants]

Wrongful Death Pursuant to NRS 41.085
18

19

In answering paragraph 34 of Plaintiffs’ Complaint, this answering Defendant19.

20

repeats and repleads its answers to paragraphs 1 through 33 of Plaintiffs’ Complaint.
21

In answering paragraphs 35 and 36 of Plaintiffs’ Complaint, this answering20.
22

Defendant states that the allegations call for legal conclusion, as such no response is required.23

24 In answering paragraphs 37, 38, 39 and 40 of Plaintiffs’ Complaint, this21.

25
answering Defendant denies each and every allegation.

26
VII.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION27

[On Behalf Of Darci, Taryn and Isaiah Against All Defendants]
Negligent Infliction Of Emotional Distress28
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1 22. In answering paragraph 41 of Plaintiffs’ Complaint, this answering Defendant

2
repeats and repleads its answers to paragraphs 1 through 40 of Plaintiffs’ Complaint.

3
23. In answering paragraph 42 of Plaintiffs’ Complaint, this answering Defendant

4

states that the allegations call for legal conclusion, as such no response is required. To the extent
5

a response is required, the answering Defendant states it is without sufficient information to form
6

a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in said paragraph and therefore denies the7

8 same.

9 In answering paragraph 43 of Plaintiffs’ Complaint, this answering Defendant24.

10
denies that Centennial Hills Hospital breached the standard of care. As to the remaining

11

allegations, this answering Defendant states it is without sufficient information to form a belief
12

as to the truth of the allegations contained in said paragraph and therefore denies the same.
13

In answering paragraphs 44, 45, 46, 47 and 48 of Plaintiffs’ Complaint, this25.
14

answering Defendant denies each and every allegation.15

16 VIII.

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION

[On Behalf Of Lloyd Creecy Against All Defendants]
Negligent Inflietion Of Emotional Distress

17

18

In answering paragraph 49 of Plaintiffs’ Complaint, this answering Defendant26.19

20 repeats and repleads its answers to paragraphs 1 through 48 of Plaintiffs’ Complaint.

21
In answering paragraph 50 of Plaintiffs’ Complaint, this answering Defendant27.

22
states that the allegations call for legal conclusion, as such no response is required. To the extent

23

a response is required, the answering Defendant states it is without sufficient information to form
24

a belief as to the truth of the allegations contained in said paragraph and therefore denies the
25

same.
26

In answering paragraphs 51, 52, 53, 54, 55 and 56 of Plaintiffs’ Complaint, this28.27

28 answering Defendant denies each and every allegation.
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1 PRAYER FOR RELIEF

2
This answering Defendant denies that Piaintiffs are entitied to any of the requested reiief

3

as contained within Piaintiffs’ Compiaint.
4

GENERAL DENIAL
5

This answering Defendant denies each and every aiiegation contained in Piaintifih’
6

Compiaint that is not specificaiiy admitted to be true.7

FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE8

9 Defendant aiieges that Piaintiffs’ Compiaint on fiie herein faiis to state ciaims upon

iO
which reiief can be granted.

11
SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

12

Defendant alleges that the damages, if any, were caused in whole or in part, or were
13

contributed to by reason of the negligence or wrongful conduct of Plaintiffs.14

THIRD AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE15

All risks and dangers involved in the factual situation described in the Complaint were16

17
open, obvious, and known to Plaintiff and said Plaintiff voluntarily assumed said risks and

dangers.
19

FOURTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

20

Plaintiffs’ damages, if any, were caused by and due to an unavoidable condition or
21

occurrence.
22

FIFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE23

24 Defendant alleges that the occurrence referred to in the Complaint, and all injuries and

25
damages, if any, resulting therefrom were caused by the acts or omissions of a third party over

26
whom Defendant had no control.

27

///

28
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1 SIXTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

2
Defendant has fully performed and discharged all obligations owed to Plaintiffe,

i

including meeting the requisite standard of care to which Plaintiffs were entitled.

4

SEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
5

Defendant alleges that at all times mentioned in Plaintiffs’ Complaint, Plaintiff was
6

suffering from a medical condition(s) which Defendants did not cause, nor was Defendant7

responsible for said medical condition(s).

9 EIGHTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

10
If Plaintiffs have sustained any injuries or damages, such were the result of intervening

11

and/or superseding events, factors, occurrences, or conditions, which were in no way caused by
12

Defendant, and for which Defendant is not liable.
13

NINTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
14

Defendant alleges that it is not guilty of fraud, oppression or malice, express or implied.15

in connection with the care rendered to Plaintiff at any of the times or places alleged in the16

17
Complaint.

TENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

19

Defendant alleges that pursuant to Nevada law, it would not be Jointly liable and that if
20

liability is imposed, such liability would be several for that portion of Plaintiffs’ damages, if any,
21

that represents the percentage attributable to Defendant.22

ELEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE23

24 The risks and consequences, if any, attendant to the recommendations and treatment

25
proposed by this Defendant were fully explained to Plaintiff who freely consented to such

26
treatment and thereby assumed risks involved in such matter.

27

///
28
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1 TWELFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

2
Plaintiffs’ Complaint is void ab initio as it does not include an affidavit which meets with

3

requirements of N.R.S. 41A.
4

THIRTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
5

To the extent Plaintiffs have been reimbursed from any source for any special damages
6

claimed to have been sustained as a result of the incidents alleged in Plaintiffs’ Complaint,7

Defendant may elect to offer those amounts into evidence and, if Defendant so elects, Plaintiffs’8

9 special damages shall be reduced by those amounts pursuant to NRS 42.021.

10
FOURTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

11

Defendant alleges that at all relevant times this Defendant was acting in good faith and
12

not with recklessness, oppression, fraud or malice.
13

FIFTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE
14

Plaintiffs have failed to allege any facts sufficient to satisfy Plaintiffs’ burden of proof by15

16 clear and convincing evidence that this Answering Defendant engaged in any conduct that would

17
support an award of punitive damages.

SIXTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE

19

No award of punitive damages can be awarded against this Answering Defendant under
20

the facts and circumstances alleged in Plaintiffs’ Complaint.
21

SEVENTEENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEEENSE
22

Defendant hereby incorporates by reference those affirmative defenses enumerated in23

24 Rule 8 of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure as if fully set forth herein. In the event further

25
investigation or discovery reveals the applicability of any such defenses, Defendant reserves the

26
right to seek leave of Court to amend its Answer to specifically assert the same. Such defenses

27

are herein incorporated by reference for the specific purpose of not waiving the same.
28
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WHEREFORE, Defendant prays for relief as follows;

2
That Plaintiffs take nothing by way of the Complaint on file herein.

3
2. For reasonable attorney’s fees and costs incurred in defending this litigation.

4

For such other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper in the3.
5

premises.
6

7

DATED this 15*'’ day of April, 2020.8

9

ROBERT\C. McBRlD

Nevada B^ No.: 708^
chelsea\r. hueth, esq.
Nevada BarW.: 10904
8329 W. Sunset Road, Suite 260

Las Vegas, Nevada 89113
Attorneys for Defendants,
Valley Health System, LLC, dba
Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center

BQ.
10

11

12

j

14

15

16

17

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Page 10 of 1 1

143



1 CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that on the 15^'^ day of April 2020, I served a true and correct copy

of the foregoing DEFENDANT VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, EEC, dba CENTENNIAL

HILLS HOSPITAL MEDICAL CENTER’S ANSWER TO PLAINTIFF’S COMPLAINT

addressed to the following counsel of record at the following address(es):

2

4

5

6

VIA ELECTRONIC SERVICE: By mandatory electronic service (e-service), proof of
e-service attached to any copy filed with the Court; or

7

8
□ VIA U.S. MAIL: By placing a true copy thereof enclosed in a sealed envelope with

postage thereon fully prepaid, addressed as indicated on the service list below in the
United States mail at Las Vegas, Nevada

9

10
□ VIA FACSIMILE: By causing a true copy thereof to be telecopied to the number

indicated on the service list below.11

12

13
Paul S. Padda, Esq.
Brandon C. Verde, Esq.
PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC
4560 South Decatur Boulevard, Suite 300
Las Vegas, Nevada 89103
Attorneys for Plaintiffs

John H. Cotton, Esq.
Brad Shipley, Esq.
JOHN H. COTTON & ASSOCIATES, LTD.
7900 West Sahara Avenue, Suite 200
Las Vegas, NV 89117
Attorneys for Defendants,
Dionice S. Juliano, M.D., Conrado Condo,
M. D. and Vishal S. Shah, M. D.

14

15

16

17

18

19

20 /s/Stephanie Lazo
An Employee of McBRlDE HALL

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28
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150



151



152



153



154



155



EXHIBIT ‘B’

156



157



EXHIBIT ‘C’
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EXHIBIT ‘D’

160



161



EXHIBIT ‘N’

 

162



 
163



164



 
165



DOCUMENT 2 

DOCUMENT 2 
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Case Number: A-19-788787-C

Electronically Filed
9/3/2020 1:27 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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